
CORPORATION OF THE 

TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 

 

AGENDA 

December 20th, 2021 7:30 p.m.           Electronic Meeting  

  

 

1. OPEN 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA         

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST        

 

4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES  

 

5. DELEGATIONS             

         

6. COMMITTEE REPORTS  

a) Climate Action Committee 

Report – Nov 24, 2021 

b) Lake Kagawong Resource 

Committee Report – Nov 25, 

2021      

7. OLD BUSINESS 

 

8. NEW BUSINESS  

a) 2021-59 Employee Salary Grid 

b) Fire Hall Scoping Plan Review 

9.  CORRESPONDENCE 

 

10. INFORMATION 

a) Building Broadband Faster in 

Ontario 

b) H&M COFI Broadband Project 

Update 

c) Municipal Financial Profile 

d) Bus Stop Dead End Roads – 

Resolution from the Township of 

Scugog 

11. ACCOUNTS FOR PAYMENT 

 

12. CLOSED SESSION 

 

13. CONFIRMING BY-LAW 

 

14. ADJOURNMENT     



 

 

Memorandum 
To:   Mayor, Council  

cc:    Staff, Public 

From:  Staff 

Date:   December 15, 2021 
 

RE:   December 20, 2021 Council Meeting 

4. Minutes 

 

a) December 7th, 2021 Regular Council Minutes 

 

Please review the minutes for approval. 

 

5. Delegations 

 

 None. 

 

6. Committee Reports 

 

 None.  

 

7. Old Business 

 

 None. 

 

8. New Business 

 

a) 2021-59 Employee Salary Grid 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council accept By-Law 2021-59, being a By-Law to Update Employee Salary Ranges, as 

presented. 

 

The new Employee Salary Grid, Schedule A, includes the cost-of-living increase and would come in 

effect January 1, 2022 as stated in the By-Law. 

 

b) Fire Hall Scoping Plan Review 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council discuss the options presented by Tulloch Engineering, in the Fire Hall Scoping Report, 

and Staff, as detailed in the memo, and schedule a dedicated meeting in early 2022. 

 

Earlier this fall, Council contracted Tulloch Engineering to prepare a “Fire Hall Renovation vs New 

Build Report” to examine the cost-benefit and implications of the two approaches. Tiana Mills, Deputy 

Clerk and Martin Connell, Fire Chief met with Tulloch Engineering on October 27th 2021. During the 

conversation, the Fire Chief suggested that it would be nice to have a fire hall similar to the one 

recently constructed in Mindemoya for The Municipality of Central Manitoulin.  

 

The following are the estimated costs that were determined by Tulloch Engineering (all costs 

exclusive of HST): 

 

 



 

 

Renovate existing hall (2100 sq ft.) + mezzanine $556,250.00 

Demo existing hall and replace same size on site $845,000.00 

Construct new pre-engineered bldg. (4830 sq. ft.) $1,753,875.00 

 

CONSIDERATIONS: 

This is not an exhaustive list, but some points to consider include the following: 

 

• At this time, we have not been able to source any funding for either a renovation project or a 

rebuild or new construction. The township does not currently have the financial ability to support 

a loan in this range. 

• A complete renovation to the building is estimated to cost around $560,000, while a completely 

new building with the same footprint will cost $845,000, which is a 285,000 difference.  

• Regardless of approach, construction would have to be undertaken during late spring to early fall, 

because the fire trucks cannot be left outside in freeing conditions. Trucks and equipment would 

need to be relocated to a location safely accessible for the firefighters, during construction. These 

considerations would be part of the project planning/management process.  

• IF Council considers a larger building the fire hall will need to be relocated – the current location 

does not have adequate space for a larger building.  The only location that I can think of would be 

where the current dog park is. 

• IF Council determines there is a need for a larger fire hall, then Council should be considering a 

new Public Works garage and the possibility of converting the Public Works garage into a fire hall. 

Township facilities, particularly these two, cannot be considered in isolation 

 

The Current Public Works Situation: 

 

• We now have three plow trucks on the road, as well as a backhoe that needs to be ready to use at 

all times, two road patrol trucks etc. The backhoe is usually stored in the sand/salt dome when it 

is not filled with sand/salt. 

• The current PW garage can accommodate 2 plow trucks and one other smaller vehicle, which is 

usually a patrol vehicle.   

• There is very little room to work on one snowplow if the other is also in the garage. This leaves 

one plow truck exposed to the elements (sand freezes in the spreader when snowed on).  

• Ideally, in the Public Works situation, an additional two bays would be appropriate, but we could 

probably make some small changes to the proposed larger fire hall (for example) to fit the PW 

vehicles, with not much additional square footage required. 

 

• IF Council is considering a new larger building – either a fire hall or a public works building - then 

Council needs also to consider space/facility usage beyond just vehicle storage. Public Works’ 

use of space tends to be much more intense/regular than the Fire Departments. Approximately 4-

6 hours per month. This is not a reflection on the importance of having adequate space for the 

fire department’s need – both departments need adequate storage, work and meeting space to 

perform their functions properly. 

• IF Council considers a new building for the Public Works Department the old PW garage would 

need to be renovated to accommodate the fire department and the current fire hall would 

eventually need to be demolished. (Estimated cost of $100,000). 

• The only location with space that comes to mind with space to build a new building, regardless of 

whether it is ultimately a fire hall or public works building, is the current dog park. 

 

OTHER IMPORTANT CONSIDERATIONS: 

 

Eventually Council will need to return to at the larger township-owned buildings and facilities 

picture.  Currently we have no additional room in the municipal office, with a new Climate person 

starting 2-3 days a week in Billings in January/February.  As already indicated, the PW garage is too 



 

 

small, the gym is too small and I believe that the library would like a larger building.  The township 

has outgrown the facilities that we have, with no plans to adjust the facilities to accommodate the 

level of services that need to be provided to the taxpayers of Billings Township.  

In September 2018 the previous Council obtained a Proposal for Municipal Building Master Planning 

Services, in order to determine options for repair, modify, consolidate, demolish or potentially add to 

the Municipal building inventory. This proposal was not acted on 

 

9. Correspondence  

 

None. 

 

10. Information 

 

There are a number of items attached for Council’s information. Council may move any of these items to new 

business during the agenda approval for discussion at this meeting, or request that an item(s) be included on 

a future agenda for discussion. 

 

a) Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

b) H&M COFI Broadband Project Update 

c) Municipal Financial Profile 

d) Bus Stop Dead End Roads – Resolution from the Township of Scogog 

 

12. Closed Session 

 None. 

 



                                                                                                                                                                         

The Corporation of the 

Township of Billings 

Regular Meeting 

 

December 7th, 2021 7:30 p.m.             Electronically    

 

Present: Mayor Ian Anderson, Deputy Mayor Bryan Barker, Councillors Sharon Alkenbrack, 

Michael Hunt and Sharon Jackson 

Staff: Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk; Tiana Mills, Deputy Clerk; Arthur Moran, By Law 

Enforcement Officer; Todd Gordon, Economic Development Officer; Cheryl McCulligh, 

Treasurer 

Media: Tom Sasvari 

Members of the General Public 

 

1. OPEN 

2021-397 Barker- Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that this regular meeting of Council be opened with a quorum 

present at 7:30 p.m. with Mayor Anderson presiding. 

       Carried 

  

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

2021-398 Alkenbrack-Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that the agenda for the December 7th, 2021 regular meeting of 

Council be accepted as amended.  

        Carried 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 

 

4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES   

a) November 15th, 2021 

2021-399 Alkenbrack-Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that the minutes for the November 15th, 2021 regular meeting of 

Council be accepted as presented. 

       Carried 

 

b) November 22nd, 2021 

2021-400 Barker-Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that the minutes for the November 22nd, special meeting of 

Council be accepted as presented. 

 

5. DELEGATIONS 

 

6. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

a) Economic Development Committee Report Nov 10th, 2021 

Council received report. 

 

b) Parks, Recreation and Wellness Committee Report Nov 29th, 2021 

Council received report. 

 

c) Parks, Recreation and Wellness Committee 2021 Annual Report 



Council received report. 

 

d) Museum Committee Report November 1st, 2021 

Council received report. 

 

NOTE: Correspondence was addressed at this point of the meeting. 

 

7. OLD BUSINESS 

a) 2021-48 Trailer By-Law 

2021-401 Barker-Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council give by-law 2021-48 Trailer By-Law third reading 

and enacted. 

      Carried 

 

8. NEW BUSINESS 

a) International Day for the Elimination of Violence Against Women 

2021-402 Alkenbrack-Jackson 

WHEREAS the Township of Billings does hereby proclaim November 25th as The 

International Day for the Elimination of Violence Against Women 

 

WHEREAS violence continues to be the greatest gender inequality rights issue for 

women, girls and gender-diverse individuals; and 

 

WHEREAS November is Woman Abuse Prevention Month; and 

 

WHEREAS Gender-based violence is a human right issue which our community 

must work together to address, prevent and address through public awareness and 

education; and 

 

WHEREAS 1 in 3 women will experience gender-based violence in their lifetime 

and these numbers increase exponentially for Black, Indigenous and Woman of 

Colour; and 

 

WHEREAS the COVID-19 pandemic has increased barriers to support and services 

for survivors of gender-based violence and their children; and 

 

WHEREAS last year in Ontario, every 13 days a woman or child was killed by a 

man known to them, with the majority being their current or former intimate partner 

 

WHEREAS this month and throughout the 16 Days of Activism Against Gender-

Based Violence, we acknowledge our community’s support of the Wrapped in 

Courage campaign and commitment to ending gender-based violence; and 

 

WHEREAS on November 25th, The International Day for the Elimination of 

Violence Against Women, a Wrapped in Courage 2021 Campaign flag will be raised 

in recognition that the courage of a woman alone is not enough, it takes an entire 

community to end gender-based violence; and 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that I Mayor Ian Anderson proclaim and 

declare that November 25th, 2021 shall be known as “The International Day for the 

Elimination of Violence Against Women” and urge all citizens to recognize this day 



by taking action to support survivors of gender-based violence and becoming part of 

Ontario wide efforts to end gender-based violence.  

        Carried 

b) New Grad Nursing Initiative  

2021-403 Barker-Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council of the Township of Billings supports the 

Manitoulin Health Centre’s request to the Minister of Health for the re-establishment 

of the new grad nursing initiative under the initial terms of the program and that this 

motion be forwarded to FONOM with a request that they address this issue with the 

appropriate Ministers. 

       Carried 

 

c) Economic Development Committee Recommendation 

2021-404 Alkenbrack-Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council accept Chris Dietrich’s application to join the 

Economic Development Committee. 

       Carried 

 

d) Holiday Hours – Office & Landfill 

2021-405 Alkenbrack-Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED That Council advises the CAO to close the Municipal Office 

from December 24, 2021 at noon until Tuesday January 4th, 2021 at 8am and that the 

Municipal Landfill be closed on Sunday December 26, 2021. 

       Carried 

e) 2022 Council Meeting Schedule 

2021-406 Hunt-Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council accepts the 2022 Council Meeting Schedule as 

presented. 

       Carried 

 

f) Lake Kagawong Resource Committee – Advertise for New Member 

2021-407 Barker-Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council advertises for a new member for the Lake 

Kagawong Resource Committee to replace Rob Seifried. 

       Carried 

 

g) Flywheel Artwork Submission Review 

2021-408 Barker-Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council accepts the Flywheel Art Installation submitted by 

Kendra and Morgan Edwards at a cost of $6,212.73 to be completed on or before 

June 15th, 2022. 

       Carried 

 

h) Hydro One Community Fund Application 

2021-409 Jackson-Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council advises staff to apply to the Hydro One Building 

Safe Communities Fund for improvements at the Kagawong Outdoor Rink. 

       Carried 

 

9. CORRESPONDENCE 

a) Trailer By-Law Concern – Roger Chenard 



Council received letter. 

 

b) Trailer By-Law Concern – Robert Ellen 

Council received letter. 

 

c) Newly Licensed Drivers 

2021-410 Barker-Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that the Township of Billings supports the resolution from the 

City of Vaughan requesting the MTO to review measures impacting newly licensed 

drivers. 

       Carried 

 

d) Amendment to By-Law 1980-11 Zoning By-Law Request 

2021-411 Alkenbrack-Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council does not support the request for a zoning by-law 

exemption, under section 7.5 (2), and an exemption from resolution 2011-224 (re: 

location and use of sea containers), that would allow for a modified sea container to 

be placed on a property zoned as Hamlet, Hamlet Residential and Shoreline 

Residential. 

       Carried 

 

10. INFORMATION 

a) Northern Ontario Resource Development Support (NORDS) Fund 

Council received report. 

 

b) Ontario Clean Water Agency 2021 Kagawong Management Review Minutes  

Council received report. 

 

c) District Services Board Third Quarter Activity Report 2021 

Council received report. 

 

d) Integrity Commissioner Release of Names Response 

Council received report. 

 

e) Lake Kagawong Resource Committee Minutes – Nov 25, 2021 

Council received report. 

 

f) Parks, Recreation and Wellness Committee Minutes – Nov 29, 2021 

Council received report. 

 

g) National Childcare Program 

Council received report. 

 

h) COVID-19 Update 

Council received report. 

 

i) Economic Development Committee Minutes – Nov 10, 2021 

Council received report. 

 

11. ACCOUNTS FOR PAYMENT 

2021-412 Alkenbrack-Barker 



BE IT RESOLVED that Council authorizes the following accounts for payment: 

 General Accounts  $287,783.03 

and that cheques numbered 7004 to 7050 be authorized for signing as described in the 

attached register. 

       Carried 

 

12. CLOSED SESSION  

2021-413 Barker-Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that in accordance with Section 239(2)(d) of the Municipal Act, 

2001 S.O. Chapter 25, this Council proceed to a Closed Session at 8:21 p.m. in order to 

discuss an item involving labour relations.  

       Carried 

… 

  

2021-415 Alkenbrack-Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council moves out of the Closed Session at 9:26 p.m. and 

resume their regular, open meeting. 

      Carried 

 

2021- 416 Alkenbrack-Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that Todd Gordon be given the position of Municipal Project 

Manager, salary of $64,000 per year with a cost of living increase effective January 1, 

2022. 

       Carried  

 

13. CONFIRMING BY-LAW 

2021-417 Barker-Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that By-law 2021-57, being a by-law to confirm the proceedings of 

Council be given first, second, third reading and enacted. 

       Carried 

 

14. ADJOURNMENT  

2021-418 Barker-Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that this regular meeting of Council be adjourned at 9:27 p.m.    

       Carried 

   

 

 

 

  _________________________________       _________________________________ 

  Ian Anderson, Mayor             Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



COMMITTEE REPORT  

CLIMATE ACTION COMMITTEE 

24 November 2021 7:00 pm. 

VIRTUAL 

Meeting was called to order by the chair at 7:02 pm. By the chair. 

PRESENT: Bryan Barker (Chair), Bob Clifford, Paul Darlaston, John Hoekstra, Chris Theijsmeijer, 
Todd Gordon (EDO)  

OLD BUSINESS 

i. CEEP – Final Revision 
The final version of the CEEP was presented to the committee members prior to the 
meeting. The final version will be posted on the township website and a few hard copies 
will be available.  Any additions or corrections to the CEEP plan will be made 
electronically. 
 

ii. CCIC – Update 
The advertisement for the new Climate Change Implementation Coordinator has bee 
published in the Expositor. First stage of advertising will take place at a local level.  If 
unsuccessful broader recruitment may be necessary. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 

i. COP 26  
Paul Darlaston gave a presentation on the highlights of COP 26 

i. Terms of Reference 
The new TOR for the CAC were reviewed and adopted.  Most of the TOR are the same as 
the existing TOR however, the major changes were to the context and role of the 
committee. 
 
1. CONTEXT 
 
(1) With sustainability as a strategic priority, the Township of Billings has developed a 
Community Energy 
and Emissions Plan (CEEP) with the assistance of a hired Climate Change Coordinator. 
The plan was 
designed to help reduce greenhouse gas emissions on both a corporate and community 
level. The 
municipality will also be hiring a Climate Change Implementation Coordinator (CCIC), in 
conjunction 



with the Municipality of Central Manitoulin, to assist both municipalities in 
implementing actions under 
the CEEP. 
 
2. ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
(1) The Climate Action Committee (the “Committee”) shall assist Council in 
implementing action items under the CEEP. oversee the development of the CAP and 
assist with implementation, in order to 
ensure that: 
 
i.) the actions included work well for everyone in the community 
ii.) there is widespread participation from community members 
 
(2) The Committee shall advise Council on actions they can take to support the 
objectives of the CEEP, including actions related to both corporate assets/operations 
and support for community emissions 
reductions. 
 
(3) In providing advice to Council, the Committee shall have regard for the Township’s 
relevant plans, including strategic and operational, policies, and procedures. 
 

ii. Climate Action Committee Make-up 
The agenda item was discussed during the review of the TOR.  Emphasis on recruiting a 
high school student as part of the Climate Action Committee in the new year.   

 

RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL 

NEXT MEETING 

12 January 2022, 7:00 pm (virtual) 

MEETING ADJOURNED 

8:20 pm.  

 

Submitted by 

Councillor Bryan Barker (Chair CAC) 



COMMITTEE REPORT  

LAKE KAGAWONG RESOURSES COMMITTEE 

  25 November 2021 7:00 pm. 

VIRTUAL (ZOOM) 

 

Meeting was called to order by the chair at 7:00 pm. with a quorum present. 

PRESENT: Bryan Barker (Chair), Kathy MacDonald (CAO/Clerk), Brian Foreshew, Bob Clifford,  
John Hoekstra, Stan Pierce, Sharon Jackson (Councillor) 

REGRETS: Rob Seifried 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

I. Report on Water Levels – Brian Foreshew reported that water levels were with in the 

allowances of the Rule Curve at 212.74 

II. Report on OEC Website – Stan Pierce reported that the OEC website was up to date and 

showed that the water lake water levels were with in the limits of the Ruel Curve. Web 

site is being kept up to date.   

 

NEW BUSINESS 

I. OEC – Discussion Regarding Extension of OEC Contract 

The committee discussed ideas as to what the township may consider in negotiating a 
lease extension should the Township decide to enter negotiations with OEC. 

• Have the verbiage/language of the lease brought up to date/modernized. 

• The Township seek legal/expert advice regarding the lease wording and content. 

• Suggestion to possibly extend the rule curve date to October 15, instead of 
September 15. 

• Township should be having an inspection completed on a regular basis by 
qualified people. 

• Provision in lease that the lease be reviews every five years. 

• Clear verbiage on how lease can be terminated.  No sale of the lease without 
township approval. 

• Raise the Rule Curve adding 2” at the lower limit. 



• Is the township, as lessees, responsible for any liability? Is there appropriate 
insurance. 

• Is there an opportunity to have the WMP brought up to date? 

 

I. Stewardship Role – Deferred to next meeting due to time. 

NEXT MEETING 

20 January, 7:00 pm (virtual) 

MEETING ADJOURNED 

8:40 pm.  

Submitted by 

Councillor Bryan Barker (Chair LKRC) 



The Corporation of the  
Township Of Billings 

 
By-Law 2021-59 

 
Being a By-Law to Update Employee Salary Ranges  

 
WHEREAS Council of the Corporation of the Township of Billings established a salary grid through By-law 
2021-08; and, 
 
WHEREAS employee positions have been changed since the passing of By-law 2021-08 and Council 
deems it appropriate to update the salary grid accordingly; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Township of Billings hereby enacts as follows: 
 

1. That Schedule “A” forms part of this by-law; 
 

2. That employee remuneration shall be paid in accordance with the salary range grids set out in 
Schedule “A”, as determined by Council;  
 

3. That the salary range grid set out in Schedule “A” shall be increased each year, effective January 
1, by the November Ontario Consumer Price Index – All Items for the previous calendar year;  
 

4. That employees shall progress one step up the salary grid set out in Schedule “A” six months 
after their hire date, and annually each year thereafter, pending a satisfactory performance 
review; 
 

5. That a ‘red circle rate’ be used to provide salary protection for any employee whose new pay 
grid is lower than the current pay grid and that the red circle rate continue until the salary range 
meets or exceeds the employee’s red-circled salary; 
 

6. That any employee that is at the top of their category are eligible to receive a bonus based on 
recommendation by the CAO/Clerk. 
 

7. That the salary grids set out in Schedule “A” shall be reviewed in the second year of each term 
of Council; 

 
8. That By-Law 2021-08 and By-Law 2021-20 are rescinded; and 

 
9. That this by-law shall come into force and take effect on January 1, 2022. 

 
 
READ A FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD TIME AND ENACTED this 20th day of December, 2021. 

 
 
 
 
_____________________________________  ______________________________________ 
Ian Anderson, Mayor                                Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk  



The Corporation of the Township of Billings 

By-Law 2021-59 

Schedule "A" 
         

Employee Salary Grid 
         

Position Range   Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 

CAO/Clerk $65,094 - $86,561 Salary $65,094 $69,682 $74,272 $78,861 $83,449 $86,561 

Treasurer  $55,450 - $70,518 Salary $55,450 $58,464 $61,477 $64,491 $67,504 $70,518 

Deputy Clerk/Finance Assistant   $49,839 - $58,113 Salary $49,839 $51,607 $53,233 $54,860 $56,486 $58,113 

Economic Development Officer   $45,000 - $54,000 Salary $45,000 $46,800 $48,600 $50,400 $52,200 $54,000 

Municipal Project Manager $52,350 - $67,006 Salary $52,350 $55,281 $58,212 $60,143 $62,074 $67,006 

Administrative Assistant $36,377 - $44,244 Salary $36,377 $38,431 $39,884 $41,337 $42,791 $44,244 

Financial Assistant $21.54 - $28.55 Hourly $21.54 $22.95 $24.34 $25.75 $27.14 $28.55 

Public Works Superintendent $56,895- $69,353 Salary $56,895 $59,386 $62,793 $65,285 $67,776 $69,353 

Public Works First Operator $49,918 - $62,728 Salary $49,918 $51,478 $54,040 $56,602 $59,165 $62,728 

Public Works Operator $41,148 - $50,481 Salary $41,148 $43,554 $45,421 $47,287 $49,154 $50,481 

Climate Change Implementation 
Coordinator 

$41,148 - $50,481 Salary $41,148 $43,554 $45,421 $47,287 $49,154 $50,481 

Landfill Attendant $17.81 - $21.09 Hourly $17.81 $18.47 $19.13 $19.78 $20.97 $21.09 

Casual Labour $17.19 - $20.96 Hourly $17.19 $17.95 $18.70 $19.46 $20.20 $20.96 

By-Law Enforcement $18.87 - $23.46 Hourly $18.87 $19.80 $20.71 $21.63 $22.54 $23.46 

Custodian    $15.91 - $18.52 Hourly $15.91 $16.44 $16.95 $17.48 $18.00 $18.52 

Marina Manager $19.86 - $23.46 Hourly $19.86 $20.59 $21.30 $22.03 $22.74 $23.46 

Museum Curator $19.86 - $23.46 Hourly $19.86 $20.59 $21.30 $22.03 $22.74 $23.46 
         

Student Salary Grid        
 

        

Position Hourly Rate        

Lead Marina Attendant Minimum wage + $1.00        

Marina Attendant Minimum wage          

Swim Instructor Minimum wage + $2.00        

Swim Assistant Minimum wage          

Public Works  Minimum wage          
 



           

 

GEOMATICS  CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION  MAPPING  ENVIRONMENTAL  CIVIL   GEOTECHNICAL  

STRUCTURAL  LAND DEVELOPMENT  ENERGY  TRANSPORTATION 

71 Black Road  T. 705 949.1457 
Unit 8  F. 705 949.9606 
Sault Ste. Marie, 
ON 

TF. 866 806.6602

P6B 0A3  saultstemarie@TULLOCH.ca  

 
December 8, 2021 

21‐1780 
 
Township of Billings  
15 Old Mill Rd. Box 34  
Kagawong, ON   
P0P 1J0  
 
 
Attention:           Ms. Kathy McDonald  

CAO/Clerk, Deputy Treasurer  
 
Re:   Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report 
   Township of Billings, ON 
                              
Dear Ms. McDonald: 

As requested, TULLOCH Engineering Inc. has completed a review of potential options for repairs and upgrades to 
the existing fire hall building in the Township of Billings, ON.   

A visual assessment of the existing fire hall was completed on October 27th, 2021, by TULLOCH Engineering’s Dan 
Moody, A.Sc.T., and Meagan Figures, CET. The purpose of the assessment was to collect measurements and photos 
of the existing facility to be used in the preparation of cost estimates for potential renovations. 
 
General details of the existing building construction were noted to be as follows: 
 

 Approximately 2,100 square feet ground floor area + mezzanine. 

 Structure consists of loadbearing concrete masonry block walls on cast in place concrete foundations. 

 Roof structure is 24” deep open web steel joists with 1 ½” metal deck and assumed modified bitumen 
roof. 

 Interior finishes are painted drywall walls, carpet flooring in the mezzanine, exposed concrete floor on 
ground level and suspended acoustical ceiling throughout. 

o A sample of drywall was tested for asbestos.  The drywall joint compound was determined to be 
asbestos containing.  Costs for drywall removal have been calculated based on the requirement 
to properly abate the asbestos. 

 Exposed plumbing was noted to be copper supply piping. 

 Electrical distribution was provided by an older 200‐amp panel. 

 The building was heated with electric baseboards. 

 Interior doors were hollow metal and wood. 

 Exterior personnel doors were hollow metal. 

 Overhead truck doors were insulated, sectional metal. 

 A water service and water meter were present in the truck bay and was used for residents of Billings 
Township to fill containers and/or vehicles with potable water. 

o We recommend that an engineering review of the system be complete immediately to 
determine compliance with the Safe Drinking Water Act. 

 
No original design drawings were made available to TULLOCH in advance of commencing with this assignment. 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             2 
 

 

Project Objectives 
 
The intent of the project was to review options to achieve the following: 

1. Address deficiencies in the masonry block exterior walls. 
2. Improve energy efficiency. 
3. Reduce long term maintenance costs. 
4. Improve occupant comfort. 
5. Review potential costs of a new facility 

 
Based on a review of the existing facility and consideration of the objectives, we have prepared three (3) options 
for consideration by council.  Those options are as follows: 

 
Option 1 – Renovate the existing firehall building. 
 
Details of Option 1, including associated cost estimates are as follows: 
 

 Existing split face block to be strapped and receive 26 ga metal siding, $63,000.00 

 Existing split face block to be strapped and receive 1 1/2' spray foam, $13,500.00 

 Remove existing roof (assumed mod bit roof) and install new 3” insulation and 60mill PVC complete with 
new flashings, $58,800.00 

 Remove all interior drywall, $70,000.00 (asbestos containing joint compound) 

 Remove existing 1.5” EPS insulation, existing strapping to remain, $7,500.00 

 Install new 1.5” XPS insulation, c/w 6mil VB and new 5/8” drywall (mud, tape, and paint) everywhere but 
truck bays, $44,400.00 

 In truck bays install as per above but replace drywall with 26 ga white metal liner panel, $50,900.00 

 Remove existing suspended ceiling and batt insulation (above) and install new suspended ceiling, 
$17,400.00 

 New incoming 200‐amp electrical service and panel, $6,100.00 

 Remove existing and create new main floor washroom (toilet, sink, tiled shower), $23,500.00 

 New radiant tube heater in truck bay area, $16,600.00  

 New CO/NOx gas detection and ventilation, $8,200.00 

 Sand blast clean existing painted concrete floor and install new epoxy paint, $16,500.00 

 Remove existing flooring and install new rubber plank flooring in mezzanine, $6,500.00 

 New kitchenette in mezzanine‐ 8 ft upper and lowers, $4,800.00 

 New double pane PVC frame windows, $5,500.00 

 New insulated exterior Hollow Metal doors, $8,900.00 

 New interior Hollow Metal doors and frames, $5,500.00 

 New electric baseboard heaters in washroom, shop area, storage area and mezzanine, $3,400.00 

 New interior lights (basic surface mount LED), $7,100.00 

 New exterior LED lights, $3,000.00 

 New emergency/exit lighting, $3,900.00 

 Exterior site remains as is 

 Site services remain as is 

 Truck doors remain as is 
 
Sub‐Total $445,000.00 
Regional adjustment factor for work in Billings Township (25%) 
Total including regional adjustment factor $556,250.00 + HST 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             3 
 

 

 
Above costs do not include for design, permitting or HST. 
 

Option 2 – Demolish the existing fire hall and construct new of same size and configuration 
 
Details of Option 2, including associated cost estimates are as follows: 
 

 Temporarily relocate essential fire hall services off site during construction, $25,000.00 

 Demolish the existing firehall including abatement of known designated substances ($100,000.00) 

 Construct new fire hall of same size and configuration 
o Costs for this Option have been presented as $/square foot of construction.  The unit rate for 

construction has been developed based on costs estimated for Option 3 (below) 
o 2,100 square feet @$290/sf = $551,000.00 

 
Sub‐Total $676,000.00 
Regional adjustment factor for work in Billings Township (25%) 
Total including regional adjustment factor $845,000.00 + HST 
 
Above costs do not include for design, permitting or HST. 

 

 
Option 3 – Construct new firehall on an alternate site, suitable for the size of the proposal fire hall 
development. 
 
A general configuration of the proposed new fire hall building has been provided in sketch SK‐3. 
 
Details of Option 3, including associated cost estimates are as follows: 

 
Concrete 
 

 Form and pour 24” wide x 8” concrete footings with 3 15m continuous and 15m @16” c/c. 

 Form and pour 8” thick frost wall x 5’0” tall with one layer of 15m reinforcing at 16” c/c in both 
directions. 

• Place and finish 4” concrete floor slab in office area with one layer of 10m reinforcing at 16” c/c in 
both directions. 

 Place and finish 8” concrete floor slab in truck bay area with one layer of 10m reinforcing at 16” c/c in 
both directions. 

 Concrete to be 30 MPA. 

 Includes for one (1) set of test cylinders for the footings. 

 Frost wall and floor slab. 

 Form place and finish exterior slab c/w tactile indicator. 
 
Finishes 
 

 Frame interior walls of office area with 5/8” drywall on both sides of 2 x 4 wood studs. 

 Frame in mezzanine storage with 5/8” T&G plywood on 2 x 10 wood joist @ 16” c/c. 

 Ceilings of mechanical room, compressor room, washrooms and decontaminate wash station to be 
painted 5/8” drywall. 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             4 
 

 

 Celling of the remainder of the office area to be acoustic grid and tile. 

 Install rubber plank flooring in office, storage (2), meeting room and washroom. 

 Install ceramic tile floor and base in decontamination wash station and barrier free washroom. 

 Construct wall between truck bay and office area with 2 x 4 studs, 5/8” drywall on both sides, ROXUL 
insulation and 26 ga metal liner to 10’0” AFF on the truck bay side (rated wall). 

 Supply and install 6’0” of lower and 8’0” upper cupboards in the training room with a plastic laminate 
top. 

 
Doors 
 

 All interior doors to be painted hollow metal. 

 All exterior doors to be insulated Hollow Metal door and frames c/w hinges, lockset and closer, 
threshold and weatherstripping. 

 Supply three (3) 16’0” x 14’0” steel sectional Over Head doors c/w electric operator. 
 
Pre‐Engineered Building 
 

 Supply and install a 46’0 x 105’0 x 17’0” at low end pre‐ engineered building. 

 Design live and dead loads as per the requirements of the Ontario Building Code 2012. 

 Galvanized columns, wall girts and roof purlins. 

 Supply and install 4” insulated wall panels and 6” standing seam insulated roof panels.  
 

General Condition, $184,500.00  
Allowance, $24,300.00  
Cast‐in‐Place Concrete, $271,400.00  
Misc. Metals, $10,200.00  
Carpentry, $45,500.00  
Millwork, $6,100.00  
OH doors, $40,000.00  
HM doors, $29,600.00  
Drywall And Painting, $122,100.00  
Flooring, $17,600.00  
Structural Insulated Panels, $200,500.00  
Pre‐Engineered Building Supply, $204,600.00  
Pre Eng‐Bldg. Labour, $87,700.00  
Plumbing, $41,000.00  
HVAC, $58,500.00  
Electrical, $59,500.00  
 
Sub‐Total $1,403,100.00 
Regional adjustment factor for work in Billings Township (25%) 
Total including regional adjustment factor $1,753,875.00 + HST 
 
As an alternate building site has not been identified, additional costs for property development and site 
servicing will be required.   
 
Assuming that the proposed site would be of competent ground, cleared of trees and in proximity to all 
required municipal services, estimated site development and site servicing costs for this development would be 
approximately $350,000 + HST. 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             5 
 

 

 
Above costs do not include for design, permitting or HST. 

 
 

 
Figure 1 – East Elevation 

 

 
Figure 2 – South Elevation 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             6 
 

 

 
Figure 3 – West Elevation 

 

 
Figure 4 – North Elevation 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             7 
 

 

 
Figure 5 – Interior Elevation 

 

 
Figure 6 – Mezzanine Stairs 

 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             8 
 

 

 
Figure7 – Tank Fill Room / Workshop 

 

 
Figure 8 ‐ Toilet 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             9 
 

 

 
Figure 9 – Workshop Exit 

 

 
Figure 10 – Main Electrical Panel 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             10 
 

 

 
Figure 11 – Mezzanine 

 

 
Figure 12 – Typical Exterior Masonry Condition 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             11 
 

 

 
Figure 13 – Water Distribution Equipment 

 

 
Figure 14 – Insulated metal panels (pre‐engineered steel building) 

 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             12 
 

 

 
Figure 15 – Interior metal liner panel 

 

 
Figure 16 – Exterior Elevation – Central Manitoulin Fire Hall 

 

 
Figure 17 – Interior Elevation – Central Manitoulin Fire Hall 



Fire Hall Renovation Scoping Report    21‐1780 

Township of Billings, ON    December 8, 2021 

 

                                                                                                             13 
 

 

 
Note – the cost estimates provided should be considered preliminary only (+/‐ 25% accuracy). 
 
We trust you will find the information presented acceptable and we look forward to discussing this report with you. 
If you have any questions, do not hesitate to contact the undersigned at your convenience. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
TULLOCH Engineering Inc. 
 

 
Dan Moody, A.Sc.T.                                                                     
Project Manager      









   
 

   
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Building Broadband Faster in 
Ontario 
Provincial statement of intent and a guideline to support 
accelerated broadband deployment 

 

Release Date: November 30, 2021 
Version 1.23  
 
 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 2 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Contents 

Part 1 Provincial Statement of Intent .................................................. 3 

1.1   Provincial Statement of Intent to support accelerated broadband deployment ...... 4 

Guideline .............................................................................................................................................. 4 

Regulations .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

Proposed Legislative Amendments .................................................................................................. 6 

Related Changes Led by the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services  ......................... 7 

Additional Mechanisms to Accelerate Broadband Deployment ................................................... 7 

Part 2 Building Broadband Faster Act Guideline ................................ 8 

2.1   General and Administrative Provisions.................................................................... 9 

Purpose of the BBFA Guideline ......................................................................................................... 9 

Enhancing the impact of this Guideline ........................................................................................... 9 

Additional Background .................................................................................................................... 10 

To Whom this Guideline Applies .................................................................................................... 10 

Role of Infrastructure Ontario .......................................................................................................... 11 

Role of Parties in Provincially Funded Broadband Programs ...................................................... 11 

Application ......................................................................................................................................... 11 

Applicable Law .................................................................................................................................. 12 

Amendments to the Guideline ........................................................................................................ 12 

Bulletins .............................................................................................................................................. 12 

2.2   Accelerating Access to LDC Poles and Rights-Of-Way ........................................... 12 

Attaching to LDC-Owned Poles ...................................................................................................... 12 

IO Preliminary Review Checklist ...................................................................................................... 17 

One-Touch Make-Ready .................................................................................................................. 17 

Pre-qualified Contractors for OTMR ............................................................................................... 18 

120-day Indemnity Clause ............................................................................................................... 19 

Accessing Buried Routes on Municipal Rights-of-Way ................................................................. 20 

Accessing Provincial Highways ........................................................................................................ 22 

2.3   Technical Assistance Team (TAT) ........................................................................... 23 

Resolving Disputes ............................................................................................................................ 23 

Appendix 1: Application Requirements, Templates and Forms .................................... 24 

Appendix 2: Further Reducing Complex Make-Ready Work ........................................ 82 

Appendix 3: Broadband One Window .......................................................................... 83 

Appendix 4: Ontario One Call - Streamlining locates for Provincially Funded Projects 89 

Glossary ........................................................................................................................ 92 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 3 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 

 
Part 1 Provincial Statement of Intent  

 
  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 4 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

1.1   Provincial Statement of Intent to support accelerated 
broadband deployment  

 
The Government of Ontario has committed almost $4B to connect every region of Ontario to 
reliable, high speed internet by the end of 2025. 
 
In April 2021, the Ontario Legislature passed the Supporting Broadband and Infrastructure 
Expansion Act, 2021. A key outcome of this legislation was that it enacted the Building 
Broadband Faster Act, 2021 (BBFA). The main purpose of the BBFA is to expedite the delivery 
of broadband projects of provincial significance by removing barriers to building broadband 
projects. 
 
Since the introduction of the BBFA, the Province has consistently identified the expectation 
that all partners involved in broadband deployment would work collaboratively to further 
reduce administrative barriers, support timely broadband deployment and contain costs.  
 
To further support broadband deployment, the Province intends to move ahead with a suite 
of measures, including this Guideline (see Part 2 of this document), proposed regulations 
under the BBFA and the Ontario Energy Board Act (OEBA), a process for addressing make-
ready and pole-attachment costs and the introduction of proposed legislative amendments, 
with the goal of taking every measure possible to ensure every household and business in 
Ontario has access to high-speed internet.   
 
The suite of proposed new regulatory and legislative measures would help to make 
provisions outlined in the Guideline binding, with appropriate enforcement mechanisms. 
Together, they would help to achieve the government’s commitment to 100 percent 
connectivity by the end of 2025. 
 

 
Guideline 
 
The Ministry of Infrastructure and Infrastructure Ontario have developed the Guideline to 
reduce barriers, speed up broadband deployment and support the successful 
implementation of the BBFA. Stakeholders and partner ministries provided input into the 
development of the Guideline. The Guideline reflects current legislative and regulatory 
authority under the BBFA and OEBA and will be updated if additional powers/measures are 
put in place. 
 
In summary, the Guideline:  

• Sets out new and best-practice processes and timelines when internet service 
providers (ISPs) work with local distribution companies (LDCs) and other parties to 
deploy internet fibre through third-party hydro pole attachments and accessing rights-
of-way (ROW) to deploy fibre underground.  

• Introduces a new information and data gathering platform - the Broadband One 
Window (BOW). The platform is an electronic system to support timely approvals, 
permitting, and locate decisions related to broadband projects. Parties are being 
asked to also provide relevant infrastructure data through this platform to enhance 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 5 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

information sharing and proactively anticipate and address issues.  
• Establishes the role of a new Technical Assistance Team (TAT) that would provide 

support, informal advice and assistance to municipalities, ISPs and LDCs on the 
implementation of the Guideline and implementation of provincial broadband 
projects. 

 
 

Regulations 
 
To further support rapid deployment of broadband infrastructure, the Province intends to 
bring forward proposals to make a number of regulations under the BBFA and OEBA. These 
include: 
 
1. Two BBFA regulations (effective November 30, 2021)  

 
A. Regulation to designate provincial broadband projects. This regulation would 

define designated broadband projects as those “where funding, in full or in part, 
has been provided through the Ministry of Infrastructure for the purpose of 
deploying broadband and high-speed internet infrastructure in Ontario.” The BBFA 
grants the Minister of Infrastructure the following authorities, with respect to 
designated broadband projects: 

i. Issue notices to municipalities that broadband project proponents require 
municipal service and right of way access to complete necessary work 
related to such projects.   

ii. Make orders requiring the municipal service and right of way access 
necessary to facilitate delivery of a designated project, and the proponent 
and the municipality shall comply with that order.  

iii. Issue notices requiring electricity distributors and transmitters to 
coordinate with broadband project proponents to complete necessary 
work related to such projects where a distributor or transmitter has not met 
a regulated requirement.  (Note: this authority would come into effect if 
proposed OEBA regulations are made – see item 2 below). 

iv. Where a party noted above fails to complete required work, the Minister 
would be authorized to order the completion of work or authorize the 
proponent to undertake the work to facilitate delivery of a designated 
project. (Note: this authority would come into effect if proposed OEBA 
regulations are made – see item 2 below). 

 
B. Minister’s regulation to enable pay-for-delay and pay-for-redesign claims when 

there are cost impacts created by delays or avoidable mistakes by underground 
infrastructure owners. This regulation would enable an internet service provider to 
make a claim for damages to the Ontario Land Tribunal when a member of 
Ontario One Call creates a delay in the construction process and/or need for 
redesign due to inaccurate locates or delays in the locate process beyond a 10 
business-day period set out in the BBFA specific to broadband projects.  
 
 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 6 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

2. Regulations under the OEBA  
 
The Ministry of Energy will develop proposed regulations under the OEBA, which will 
include: 
 

A. Setting the wireline pole attachment charge methodology and requiring local 
distribution companies (LDCs) to consult with internet and telecom service 
providers as part of their long-term capital planning processes. This regulation is, 
subject to required approvals, expected to take effect on January 1, 2022 in order 
to reduce costs for ISPs.  
 

B. Requirements for LDCs to comply with Guideline provisions including (but not 
limited to): performance timeline standards and processes related to pole 
attachments and make-ready work, including when those standards may be 
temporarily suspended, situations when internet service providers may employ 
contractors to complete such make-ready work, and data sharing requirements in 
order to enable the Broadband One Window platform. These regulation(s) are, 
subject to required approvals, anticipated to be in place February 2022. 
 

C. If required, establishing a process governing payments to LDCs related to make 
ready costs. 

 
 
3. BBFA regulation on administrative penalties:  In alignment with Ministry of Energy 

regulations, MOI proposes that a regulation would be made prescribing penalties 
associated with non-compliance with Minister’s Orders under the BBFA.  

 
 

Proposed Legislative Amendments 
 
In order to enhance enabling authority and compliance mechanisms to accelerate 
broadband infrastructure deployment, the Province proposes to introduce legislative 
amendments in winter 2022. If passed by the Legislature, the suite of proposed provincial 
authorities and mechanisms would:  
 
1. Require municipalities to comply with a service standard: 

• Key focus is to direct turn around time for rights of way permits 
 

2. Require infrastructure data sharing by municipalities and other parties: 

• Comprehensive data to be provided proactively for all designated projects  
 

3. Require the use of One Window by municipalities:  

• One Window as the single, digitized platform required for permit application 
through implementation  

 
4. Ontario One Call:  

• Under the BBFA, require electronic asset data sharing by members of Ontario One 
Call with IO using the One Window platform   



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 7 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Related Changes Led by the Ministry of Government and Consumer 
Services (MGCS)  
 
MGCS is developing a legislative proposal under the Ontario Underground Infrastructure 
Notification System Act, 2012 (the One Call Act) to address issues with late locates and 
enhance locate delivery across the province. These changes will apply to and benefit 
broadband projects as well.  
 
The Province proposes to introduce targeted legislative amendments in winter-spring 2022 
to address immediate pressure points in the locate delivery system, enhance governance and 
oversight, and improve compliance tools. Proposed changes are under development and 
subject to consultation. If passed by the Legislature, these amendments would include: 
 
1. Mandating the use of a dedicated locator model where a single locator is pre-identified to 

better provide the excavator/project owner with control over timing of locates. 
 

2. Standardizing and extend locate validity periods to 90 days, eliminating the frequency of 
relocates and improving the remarking process to be more efficient.  

 
 

Additional Mechanisms to Accelerate Broadband Deployment  
 

Broadband Coordinator 

Subject to direction from the Minister of Infrastructure, Infrastructure Ontario will act as a 
“Broadband Coordinator” to operate the One Window platform and help mediate 
disputes, including payments to LDCs related to make ready costs if such a process is not 
established through commercial arrangements.   

 

Technical Assistance Team 

A technical assistance team will be established to support LDCs and municipalities with 
high-speed internet projects with implementation and compliance supports. 

 

Dispute Resolution 

Both the Broadband Coordinator and the Technical Assistance Team would support 
informal dispute resolution to prevent escalation to formal dispute resolution bodies to 
the extent possible. 

 

Provincial Interministerial Committee 

MOI will establish an oversight committee that will focus on streamlining deployment and 
resolving matters across ministries that arise and could impact on projects. 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 8 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 
 
Part 2 Building Broadband Faster Act Guideline  
 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 9 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

2.1   General and Administrative Provisions 
 

Purpose of the BBFA Guideline 
 
This Guideline serves as a companion guide to the Building Broadband Faster Act, 2021 (BBFA). It is a 
key tool in enabling the Government’s Accelerated High-Speed Internet Program (AHSIP) that was 
announced in March 2021 which together with provincially funded broadband projects aim to provide 
access to high-speed internet to 100 percent of Ontario households by the end of 2025. The Guideline 
has been designed to enhance the co-ordination and engagement among project stakeholders 
related to the deployment of high-speed internet infrastructure, including streamlining processes 
associated with attaching high-speed internet wirelines to Local Distribution Company (LDC)-owned 
electric utility poles and providing timely access to municipal and provincial rights-of-way (ROWs). It is 
recognized that Internet Service Providers (ISP), also known as Telecommunications Service Providers 
(TSPs), need timely access to LDC poles and ROWs. Efficiencies in the process and recommended by 
this Guideline can have a  a positive  impact on project-level costs, complexity and timelines related to 
the efficient deployment of broadband networks.  
 
The Guideline is a tool that can be used by, but is not limited to use by, LDCs, ISPs/TSPs, Ontario One 
Call and  their respective third parties in coordinating installation and service provision as well as 
Infrastructure Ontario (IO), the Ontario Ministry of Transportation (MTO), municipalities, Indigenous 
communities and government partners such as the Electrical Safety Authority (ESA) and the Ontario 
Energy Board (OEB).   
 
This Guideline provides recommended guidance in order for participants to:  

• Encourage early and good faith communication and collaboration among participants; 

• Expedite the safe and cost-effective delivery of designated broadband projects;  

• Meet the Ontario government’s goal to connect every region in Ontario to essential, reliable, 

high-speed internet by the end of 2025; and,  

• Facilitate municipalities and LDCs providing timely access to their infrastructure on reasonable 

terms, including municipal rights-of-way and LDC owned poles to support high-speed internet 

projects.  

 
Enhancing the impact of this Guideline 
 
The Ontario government has committed to ensuring that every community has access to high-speed 
internet by the end of 2025. This Guideline, if followed correctly, will be a vital tool in helping to 
achieve this ambitious goal. 
  
MOI and its AHSIP delivery partner, IO, recognize that parties and stakeholders that play a role in 
broadband deployment must all be equally compelled to comply with the provisions, processes and 
timelines outlined in the Guideline in order  to provide a positive impact to faster broadband 
deployment as part of high-speed interent projects in the province.  
 
Under the Statement of Intent (section 1.1), the Government of Ontario is planning for a suite of 
regulatory and legislative measures to be put in place in order to make mandatory the provisions in 
this Guideline.  It is the expectation of the government that as these structures are put in place, all 
parties must do their utmost to comply with the provisions contained in this Guideline.   
 
ISPs in Ontario are federally regulated and to support their performance under the Guideline, MOI will 
look to make these provisions mandatory for ISPs involved in designated broadband projects as part 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 10 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

of project contracting.  
 
Once these measures, approved and proposed, are fully in place, MOI will update the Guideline to 
reflect these requirements.  
 
Additional Background  
 
While the Government of Ontario has been working to expand access to high-speed internet 
throughout the Province for several years, the COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the essential role of 
reliable high-speed internet for participating fully in today’s economy, including through the 
workplace, educational institutions, telemedicine and online commerce. As of September 2021, an 
estimated 700,000 premises, representing about 1.4 million people in Ontario, lack access to basic 
broadband connectivity, defined by the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications 
Commission (CRTC) as  speed levels of 50 Mbps download/10 Mbps upload. 
 
To address this, in March 2021,  Ontario announced a commitment of nearly $4 billion to connect 
every region to high-speed internet by the end of 2025 as part of theAHSIP. This is the largest single 
investment in high-speed internet, in any province, by any government in Canadian history.   
 
As part of its plan, Ontario also announced a new innovative procurement process to help connect 
underserved and unserved communities. This procurement launched in September 2021 and is being 
led by Infrastructure Ontario.  Combined with existing application-based programs underway, the 
procurement process, with a reverse auction, will help ensure that every home and business in Ontario 
has access to high-speed internet by the end of 2025. 
 
In March 2021, Ontario also introduced the Supporting Broadband and Infrastructure Expansion Act, 
2021 (SBIEA). The legislation received Royal Assent in April 2021 and enacted the BBFA and made 
amendments to the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 (OEBA).  
 
The purpose of the BBFA is to expedite the delivery of designated broadband projects, prescribed 
under regulation, by streamlining processes and removing barriers that may result in additional costs 
and delays in reaching these unserved and underserved communities across Ontario. This legislation 
builds on the Government’s 2019 Up to Speed: Ontario’s Broadband and Cellular Action Plan (The 
Action Plan), which outlined a plan to expand broadband and cellular access into unserved and 
underserved communities.  
 

Link to the SBIEA, which includes an explanatory note: Supporting Broadband and Infrastructure 
Expansion Act, 2021, S.O. 2021, c. 2 - Bill 257 (ontario.ca).  
 
Link to the BBFA: Building Broadband Faster Act, 2021, S.O. 2021, c. 2, Sched. 1 (ontario.ca). 
 

To Whom this Guideline Applies   
 
This Guideline is intended to apply to:  

• A Successful Proponent, who is legally bound by the Project Agreement entered into with the 

Government of Ontario for a designated broadband projects which are being funded by Ontario  

• LDCs whose service territories include coverage of the geographic areas where there are 

designaged broadband projects or LDCs who otherwise anticipate performing or supporting 

high-speed internet projects and wish to adopt practices within it . 

• Ontario municipalities whose municipal boundaries include the geographic areas where there 

are  designated broadband projects. 

https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/s21002
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/s21002
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/21b02


 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 11 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

• Members of Ontario One Call in facilitating timely locates of underground infrastructure.   

• Any other person with infrastructure within a right-of-way for a desginated broadband project 

and any other person whose cooperation is required to carry out a designated broadband 

project.  

 

These parties are hereto defined as ‘provincially funded project stakeholders’.  

 
This Guideline would also be of benefit for other relevant parties, including locate service providers 

(LSP), construction contractors, engineering providers, geography information systems providers, and 

surveyors. 

 
Role of Infrastructure Ontario  
 
IO, in supporting the program management of AHSIP activities on behalf of MOI, may carry out the 
following tasks related to designated broadband projects : 
 

• Working collaboratively with broadband stakeholders and parties to help support the 

implementation of this Guideline, including but not limited to working proactively with 

Municipalities and LDCs to ensure timely co-ordination with ISPs 

• Developing, administering, maintaining and supervising the Broadband One Window (BOW) 

platform, including development of an application guide 

• Developing a uniform contract that could be used between ISPs and LDCs 

• Undertaking a mapping exercise to establish eligible project areas 

• Developing resources for applicants and proponents 

• Verifying project milestone completion 

• Assessing and reporting on funding recipients’ progress, performance, and compliance with 

funding conditions 

• Publishing reports, approved by MOI, on broadband funding performance 

 
Role of Parties in Provincially Funded Broadband Projects   
 
This Guideline is meant to provide recommended guidance and best practices to all parties engaging 
in designated broadband projects which are being funded by Ontario.  
 
The provincially funded project stakeholders are expected to engage in good faith, without prejudice, 
in a manner consistent with the spirit of partnership and collaboration. Stakeholders are expected to 
ensure that they conduct their work in such a way that ensures the safe deployment and ongoing 
operation of broadband, municipal, transportation, electrical, and other infrastructure assets. 
 
The legislative authorities outlined in the OEBA and its regulations  and the BBFA and its regulations 
are primarily envisioned in their application as backstops/safeguards in the event that cooperation or 
negotiation between provincially funded projects does not result in an adherence to Performance 
Timelines (PTs) and any other aspect of the Guideline.  

 
Application  
 

This Guideline is intended to apply to any any designated broadband project. The practices articulated 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 12 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

in the Guideline could be adopted for other broadband projects in Ontario.   

 

Applicable Law 
 

Nothing in this Guideline is meant to limit the obligations that any party has to comply with any other 

applicable law, including but not limited to the latest versions of: 

• The BBFA; 

• The OEBA; 

• Ontario Regulation 22/04 (Electrical Distribution Safety) made pursuant to the Electricity Act, 

1998 (“Electrical Distribution Safety Regulation” or “Ont. Reg. 22/04”);  

• Canadian Standards Association C22.3 No.1, the Electrical Distribution Safety regulation notes 

CSA Standard C22.3 No. 1-15 (or latest) for overhead distribution lines and CSA Standard C22.3 

No. 7-15 for underground systems as amended from time to time;  

• Occupational Health and Safety Act (OHSA) and Regulations;  

• Ontario Regulation 164/99 (Electrical Safety Code) made pursuant to the Electricity Act, 1998 

(“Ontario Electrical Safety Code” or “OESC”) and, 

• Ontario Underground Infrastructure Notification System Act, 2012 (One Call Act). 
 

Amendments to the Guideline  
 

Amendments to this Guideline must be approved by the MOI in consultation with the Minister of Energy 

(ENERGY) and posted on the MOI website.   

 

Bulletins 
 
MOI may, at times, publish non-binding bulletins to this Guideline. The purpose of these bulletins is to 

provide specific information on issues, conflicts and/or misunderstanding where there is a need for 

immediate or additional clarification. Bulletins will be posted as supplements to this Guideline and will 

allow provincially funded project stakeholders to subscribe to an RSS feed for posted updates.  

 

 

2.2   Accelerating Access to LDC Poles and Rights-Of-Way 
 

This section sets out processes and timelines that are recommended to be followed by LDCs and 

municipalities and is limited to any designated broadband project in respect of which the Successful 

Proponent has confirmed its intention to use the Broadband One Window (BOW) platform for the 

provincially funded project 
5F  

 

Attaching to LDC-Owned Poles 
 
This section outlines the BOW authorization process for LDC owned pole attachments, including the 
engineered design requirements as well as the applicable standards to which stakeholders are 
expected to adhere.   
 
If there is agreement for parties to use the BOW, the general steps to acquire an LDC-approved 
authorization application to access an LDC owned pole are set out in Table 1 below. 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 13 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 
If parties are not using BOW, a Successful Proponent and an LDC are free to negotiate and agree upon 
any terms and conditions outside what is set out below. 

 
Table 1: Aerial Route on LDC-Owned Poles 

 

 Activity Process Details 

1 Determination of possible 
route  

• The Successful Proponent determines possible route 
using best industry practices including digital maps, 
available information from BOW and existing network 
records 

• The Successful Proponent submits planned route to BOW 
and requests outstanding information from LDCs and 
existing attachers 

• IO circulates notification of planned/possible route to all 
known implicated parties (i.e., municipalities, LDCs, 
Enbridge and other telecoms) 

2 Field inspection/survey • The Successful Proponent and LDC coordinate prior to 
field inspection/survey of the poles applied for and 
determine who will be developing engineered designs as 
the ESA guidelines allow for both owner (i.e., the LDC) 
developed designs and applicant (i.e., the Successful 
Proponent) developed plans or work instructions 

• LDCs and existing attachers provide information 
requested by Successful Proponent 

3 Professional Engineer 
Approved Design 
Drawings 

• Structural analysis  

• Telecom attachment  

• Any power make-

ready  

• The Successful Proponent or LDC (as agreed) conducts 
pole loading structural analysis, prepares P.Eng. approved 
design drawings (certifying that the design meets the 
requirements of CSA 22.3  No.1-15 (or latest) and Ontario 
Reg. (22/04) and determines what telecom and power 
make-ready work, if any, needs to be completed for safe 
attachment.  Ontario Reg. 22/04 notes CSA Standard 
C22.3 No. 1-15 for overhead distribution lines and CSA 
Standard C22.3 No. 7-15 for underground systems. For 
Successful Proponent led-designs, the Successful 
Proponent must provide materials to the LDC to review 
and to inform subsequent steps. 

• Appendix 1: Application Requirements, Templates and 
Forms provides templates of Basic Drawing Requirements 
and Design Requirements that may be used 

4 Determination of 
Sequencing of Make-
Ready Work 

• Triage of power 

make-ready work 

• Determine 

requirements 

needed to 

accommodate 

make-ready work. 

• The Successful Proponent or LDC (as agreed during 
coordination prior to field inspection/survey) determines 
whether any power make-ready work can be completed 
safely in parallel with any attachment (including any 
temporary work) or whether power make-ready work 
needs to be completed prior to attachment (i.e., “triage” of 

power make-ready work) . 
• Appendix 2: Further Reducing Complex Make-Ready 

Work provides guidance on triage of power make-ready 
work 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 14 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 Activity Process Details 

5 Authorization application 
approval  

• Authorization 

application form  

• Professional 

Engineer Approved 

Design Drawings  

• Full Pole Loading 

Structural Analysis 

 

 

• The Successful Proponent submits to BOW an application 
form including Professional Engineer Approved Design 
Drawings and Full Pole Loading Structural Analysis to the 
BOW. To ensure quality submissions, it is recommended 
that this analysis is conducted using industry standard 
software. 

• IO, as administator of the AHSIP, reviews application (see 
Preliminary Authorization Review Checklist below) to 
ensure all required information has been submitted 

• LDC reviews and approves application. Timelines may be 
suspended for any issues or deficiency identified by the 
LDC (including if the LDC has any planned work that may 
impact the provincially funded project that has not been 
previously flagged) if reported to IO via the BOW. 

• LDC engages directly with Successful Proponent to 
address any deficiencies in authorization application 
documents. If there are disputes, parties are encouraged 
to resolve these among themselves in a spirit of 
collaboration.  

• Appendix 1: Application Requirements, Templates and 
Forms provides information to be included on each 
application form including Professional Engineer 
Approved Design Drawings and Full Pole Loading 
Structural Analysis 

6 LDC issues quote for 
Power Make-Ready Work 

• LDC (if completing the make-ready work) provides a 
quote for any make power ready work and the Successful 
Proponent provides Purchase Order or certified cheque as 
determined by the LDC 

7 Advising timing of 
construction (with ROP) 

• Some municipalities may require a Road Occupancy 
Permit and have associated timelines and processes that 
must be adhered to  

8 Advising timing of 
construction (without ROP, 
note that #7 would not 
apply in this instance) 

• Where a Road Occupancy Permit is not required, the 
Successful Proponent notifies the municipality directly 
prior to work commencement within the established PT 

9 Completion of Make-
Ready Work 

• The Successful Proponent and LDC negotiate 
coordination of any power and telecom make-ready work, 
including planning any necessary outages . See the 
Section on One-Touch Make-Ready below. 

• Where an LDC is unable to complete the make-ready work 
within the PTs outlined in Table 2 below, the Successful 
Proponent is expected to use a pre-qualified contractor to 
conduct the power and telecom make-ready work at its 
own cost and risk. 7F The LDC is expected to ensure that 
there are no unintended obstacles to the granting of 
access to its electricity infrastructure.  

10 LDC issues authorization • LDC issues authorization via BOW or through existing 
process 

11 Wireline attachments • The Successful Proponent coordinates with other Telecom 
carriers to conduct any other telecom make-ready work at 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 15 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 Activity Process Details 

this time as the Successful Proponent installs its 
attachment with the same crews  

12 As-built drawings 
submitted to LDC 

• The Successful Proponent installs attachment and submits 
“As Built” drawings to an LDC including an acceptable 
Record of Inspection form. Appendix 1: Application 
Requirements, Templates and Forms provides a template 
Record of Inspection form. 

• The connection of any required bonding of the 
communication strand should be requested at this time 
and the LDC may provide a separate quote and obtain a 
purchase order (PO) for this work as a separate project 
from the application process 

13 LDC conducts post-build 
inspection 

• The LDC conducts any post-build inspection. The LDC 
may recover reasonable costs of post-build inspection 
from the Successful Proponent. 

• As a term of the project agreement, the TSP should 
provide a “120-day indemnity clause” to the LDC stating 
that if the Successful Proponent has done the power 
make-ready work during which time any faults/problems 
are deemed to be the responsibility of the Successful 
Proponent unless it can proven otherwise. The details are 
set out below under the heading “120-day Indemnity 
Clause” 

8F 

14 Authorization closed • LDC invoices Successful Proponent based on actual costs 
once any outstanding issues discovered in the inspections 
are resolved 

 
Table 2: Performance Timelines Aerial Route on LDC-Owned Poles 9F  

 

 Activity1 Performance Timeline (Business Days) 

Up to 30 poles 30-60 poles 
60-200 
poles2 

1 Determination of possible route 3 4 N/A 

2 Field inspection/survey 5 10 20 

3 Professional Engineer approved design 
drawings 

• Structural analysis  

• Telecom attachment  

35 40 60 

 
1 PT provided in the first four activities (determination of possible route; field inspection/survey; P.Eng. approved 
design drawings; and determination of make-ready work) are only intended to apply to LDCs (i.e., in instances 
where they choose to conduct this work for owner-developed designs or if they choose to accompany the 
Successful Proponent for the field inspection/survey). 
2 Applications submitted for more than 200 poles in one submission may be subject to negotiation and discussion 
of timelines to ensure feasibility.   
3 LDCs should note whether they will opt in or out of participating in the field inspection/survey within 5 business 
days. 
4 LDCs should advise within 5 business days whether they will opt in or out of participating in the field survey. 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 16 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 Activity1 Performance Timeline (Business Days) 

Up to 30 poles 30-60 poles 
60-200 
poles2 

• Any power make-ready work 

4 Determination of sequencing of make-
ready work 

• Triage of power make-ready work 

• Determine requirements needed to 
accommodate make-ready works 

5 Authorization application approval  

• Authorization application Form  

• Professional Engineer Approved Design 
Drawings  

• Full Pole Loading Structural Analysis 
 

 15 20 40 

6 LDC issues quote for power make-ready 

In the instances where there is no make-
ready and the permit can be issued at this 
point, a buffer of 5 business days may be 
added to this step to issue the permit (as 
step 9 would no longer apply) 

7 Advising timing of construction (in 
instances where ROP is required) 

5 (in advance of 
start date) 

5 (in 
advance of 
start date) 

5 (in 
advance of 
start date) 

8 Advising timing of construction (where 
ROP is not required)  

5  5  5  

9 Completion of make-ready work5 Simple 25 

Complex 40 

Simple 30 

Complex 60 

Simple 35 

Complex 80 

10 LDC issues authorization 5 5 5 

11 Wireline attachments  

 

Subject to permit validity timelines as 
stipulated by the LDC 

12 As-built drawings submitted to LDC 

13 LDC conducts post-build inspection Within 120 of 
receipt of 

completion 
notification 

Within 120 
of receipt of 
completion 
notification 

Within 120 
of receipt of 
completion 
notification 

14 LDC closes authorization 20 20 20 

 
5 There is an understanding that approximately 10% of the poles in any given run may require complex make-
ready; this timeline is in reference to the make-ready work on those poles.  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 17 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

IO Preliminary Review Checklist  
 
Upon receipt of a new authorization application, IO will perform the following cursory review steps:  

 

• Review the authorization application form and confirm that all information has been filled out 

completely and accurately  

• Confirm that the required design drawings are included with the authorization application form 

and appear to comply with the Drawing Requirements  

• Confirm that the required Pole Loading Structural Analysis files are attached  

 

If the above criteria are included and complete in the application package, the authorization will be 

assigned an application number, which will be communicated to the Successful Proponent and LDC for 

tracking purposes.  It will then be forwarded to the LDC for detailed review. 

 

One-Touch Make-Ready 
 
As part of the AHSIP, this Guideline provides for several mechanisms, processes and tools to expedite 

access to LDC poles while also ensuring that safety standards are met. This Guideline adopts the One-

Touch Make-Ready (OTMR) process as an option whereby Successful Proponents and LDCs should 

coordinate resources and elect that one crew of resources, rather than multiple crews, undertake the 

work to prepare poles for new attachments and subsequently attach to the LDC pole. 

 

This Guideline adopts as a baseline the Electrical Safety Authority (ESA)’s definition of  “make-ready 

work” which is as follows: “make ready work” to consist of the practice of rearranging, installing or 

removing equipment in order to safely accommodate additional infrastructure in or on a supporting 

structure of a distribution line. The following are the different types of make-ready work that may occur:   

 

1. Telecommunications-Related (“Telecom”) Make-Ready 
 

Telecom make-ready is all work performed within the Communications Space dealing with telecom 

attachments. This work primarily involves rearranging or removing existing telecom strand, fibre and 

other equipment (e.g., splice enclosures, power supplies) in order to: 

 

• Make space in the Communications Space for the new telecom attachment 

• Fix inadequate separation between existing telecom attachments (but does not include working 

in the power space of the pole) 

• Fix inadequate ground clearance for existing telecom attachments 

 

TSPs are encouraged to proactively work with their host LDCs to accommodate the timely and 

responsive relocation of telecom assets and infrastructure from poles which the LDC has identified as 

being in need of replacement or upgrade. 

 

2. Simple Power Make-Ready 
 

Simple power make-ready is non-complex work that is performed outside of the Communications 

Space, including the following: 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 18 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 

• Replace missing copper ground wire on pole  

• Rearrange or shorten transformer conductor dips (e.g., drip loops) encroaching in the 

Communications Space 

• Tension and move (i.e., raise) the neutral to create required separation from the telecom 

attachments 

• Relocate solar panels and smart meters that are blocking access to the Communications Space  

 

While not strictly “make-ready work”, after the telecom strand has been installed, ISPs and LDCs should 

continue to consult electrical safety codes, standards and other documents applicable in the 

circumstances.  

 

3. Complex Power Make-Ready  
 

Complex power make-ready is work that is conducted primarily within the Power Space requiring 

specialized crews. Some of it is required to correct deficiencies in the power facilities, including: 

 

• Pole replacement, including transferring existing power attachments to the new pole 

• Reframe top of pole 

• Replace insulators  

• Relocate transformers (that are too low)  

 
See Appendix 2: Further Reducing Complex Make-Ready Work for innovative approaches to make ready work. 

 
Pre-qualified Contractors for OTMR 
 
The PTs for an LDC conducting power make-ready work with its own internal or sub-contracted 
resources are set out in Table 2 above. Where an LDC indicates to a Successful Proponent that it is 
unable to meet its PTs, the Successful Proponent may, employ pre-qualified contractors to conduct any 
power make-ready work in addition to its own telecom make-ready work. Other telecom parties within 
the communication space are encouraged to authorize the Successful Proponent to conduct any 
Telecom make-ready work on its infrastructure.  
 
A Successful Proponent availing itself of the OTMR process should sign a 120-day indemnity clause 
agreement (see below). 
 
LDCs are encouraged to maintain a list of contractors that are pre-qualified to: 

• Operate within the power space; and 

• Operate within both the power space and the communications space. 

 
Where LDCs fail to maintain such a list, a Successful Proponent may propose a qualified contractor for 
an LDC’s approval.  LDCs are expected to act reasonably in approving or denying a contractor 
proposed by the Successful Proponent 
  
Deploying resources that are qualified to operate in both the power and communications spaces will 
allow a Successful Proponent to conduct any make-ready work and attachments in a safe, efficient and 
timely manner.   
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 19 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

The LDC may mandate reasonable requirements for contractors relating to issues of safety and 
reliability, such as the use of particular hardware or equipment (e.g., LDC-approved bolts, screws or 
other parts) with respect to make-ready work.  

 
120-day Indemnity Clause 
 
For power make-ready work conducted by the Successful Proponent, a 120-day indemnity clause, 
which should be included in each agreement entered into between the LDC and TSP, is expected to 
take effect once the Successful Proponent has submitted “As Built” drawings to an LDC including a 
completed Record of Inspection form. This provides the LDC and any existing ISPs attached to the LDC 
pole time to conduct their own inspections and also provides the TSP with clarity related to the 
timelines associated with telecom equipment deployment.   

LDCs and existing ISPs must notify the Successful Proponent of any damage to their respective 
infrastructure within the 120-day period following the date on which the Successful Proponent 
submitted “As Built” drawings to an LDC including a completed Record of Inspection form. The LDC-
TSP contract is anticipated to include provisions that deem that unless a Successful Proponent can 
demonstrate otherwise, the damage will be assumed to be caused by the Successful Proponent.  
Further provisions of the contract are anticipated to stipulate that within 30 days of receiving a notice 
from an LDC or existing ISP, the Successful Proponent should remedy the identified damage at its own 
expense or attempt to otherwise resolve the matter with the LDC or existing ISP through the dispute 
resolution process provided for in the contract. 

11F

6 

Appendix 1: Application Requirements, Templates and Forms provides a template 120-day Indemnity 
consent agreement. 

The 120-day indemnity clause could include: 

• The Successful Proponent acknowledges that the LDC is relying on the ISP’s own inspection in 

approving the authorization 

• The Successful Proponent understands and accepts all risks with respect to its work 

• The Successful Proponent accepts remediation costs with respect to any temporary installations 

it installs 

• Any damage that occurs to the structure within 120 business days of completion of the 

Successful Proponent’s work will be prima facie assumed to have been caused by the Successful 

Proponent unless it can demonstrate another cause 

• While the OTMR process allows time for the review of Successful Proponent-proposed designs, 

authorizations for the AHSIP process must be stamped by a professional engineer, assuming the 

LDC does not review or challenge engineering but instead conducts an inspection post 

deployment  

o The Successful Proponent may either accept the risk of having to redo work if corrections 

are required or may proactively request pre-deployment or simultaneous inspection by 

the LDC to confirm what is required with respect to its application 

o If the Successful Proponent compromises safety, electrical system reliability or acts in a 

manner that is prohibited by the contract, the Successful Proponent’s ability to avail itself 

of the OTMR process can be revoked by an LDC with written reasons 

 
 

 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 20 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Accessing Buried Routes on Municipal Rights-of-Way 
 

This section outlines the BOW Municipal Consent (and Road Occupancy Permit, where required) 
Application process. The recommended general steps and PTs to acquire an approved Municipal 
Consent and Road Occupancy Permit to access a municipal right-of-way (ROW) are as follows: 
 
Table 3: Buried Route on Municipal Rights of Way  
 

 Activity Process Details 

1 Underground Drawings of 
proposed route 

• The Successful Proponent prepares underground drawings of 
the proposed route using any data that is in the BOW as well 
as any other information sources (e.g., Google maps). 

• Appendix 1: Application Requirements, Templates and Forms 
provides Standard Utility Offsets drawing as well as specific 
drawing requirements that may be used for municipalities 
who do not currently have such drawings available.  

2 Submissions of preliminary 
drawings (“mark-up circulation”)  

• The Successful Proponent submits preliminary drawings to 
infrastructure owners via the BOW.  

• IO circulates preliminary drawings (i.e., conducts a mark-up 
circulation) to all parties that have infrastructure in the ROW 
(i.e., municipalities, LDCs, Enbridge and other telecoms).  

• Respondents review and advise IO of any conflicts between 
the proposed running line and their buried assets within the 
specified time (specified in the PT on Table 4) of receiving the 
mark-up circulation from the BOW. 

• IO provides revised mark-up circulation to the Successful 
Proponent. The Successful Proponent uses mark-ups to 
resolve any conflicts and finalize drawings. 

3 Municipal application submitted to 
municipality via BOW 

• Drawings showing potential route 

• Municipal Consent  

• Road Occupancy Permit if required 
by municipality 

 

 

• A complete application includes: 
o Drawings showing the potential route 

o Application form for Municipal Consent  

o Road Occupancy Permit application if required by 

municipality 

• Appendix 1: Application Requirements, Templates and Forms 
provides a template for Municipal Consent that may be used 
by municipalities who do not currently have such forms 
available. 

• A municipality may require that an ISP obtain a Road 
Occupancy Permit.   

• IO reviews application to ensure all required information has 
been submitted and forward complete application to 
municipality for approval. 

4 Municipality reviews complete 
application and issues Municipal 
Consent (with reasonable 
conditions) and Road Occupancy 
Permit where applicable. 

• Municipality reviews and approves application. The clock will 
stop for any issues or deficiencies (including if the municipality 
has any planned work that may impact the provincially funded 
project that has not been previously flagged). 

• The municipality engages directly with the Successful 
Proponent to address any deficiencies in permit application 
documents  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 21 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 Activity Process Details 

5 Locate request lodged through 
Ontario One Call 

• Successful Proponents are encouraged to use a dedicated 
locator. Appendix 4: Ontario One Call provides more 
information on the Dedicated Locator Model. 

• The Successful Proponent and municipality work to resolve 
any potential conflicts (e.g., redesign running line with 
consent).  

• Locates are to be conducted within the PT set out in the BBFA 
(i.e., and noted in Table 4). This is regardless of whether a 
dedicated locator is used or whether individual infrastructure 
owners use their own locators. 

6 Advising timing of construction  • Some municipalities may require a Road Occupancy Permit 
and have associated timelines and processes that may be 
adhered to.  

• Where a Road Occupancy Permit is not required, the 
Successful Proponent notifies the municipality directly prior to 
work commencement within the established PT. 

7 ISP performs construction followed 
by restoration of the ROW 

• The Successful Proponent and municipality work together to 
resolve any conflicts where existing facilities are not located as 
shown in the mark-up or locates.  

• The Successful Proponent performs the construction and 
restores surfaces, unless the municipality has indicated 
otherwise, within a reasonable time determined by the 
municipality. 

8 Notice of work completion and As-
built drawings submitted to 
municipality via BOW 

• The ISP submits to the BOW a Notice of Work Completion and 
As-Built drawing detailing any amendments from an initial 
plan. 

• The BOW forwards the Notice of Work Completion and As-
Built drawing to the municipality. 

• Appendix 1: Application Requirements, Templates and Forms 
provides a template Notice of Work Completion and As-Built 
drawing that municipalities may use. 

9 Municipality inspection any 
restoration work 

• The municipality may inspect restoration work and follows up 
with the Successful Proponent for any outstanding issues. 
 

 
 

Table 4: Performance Timelines for Buried Route on Municipal Rights of Way 12F 
 

 Activity Performance Timeline (Business Days) 

Up to 30 km of ground 30 km + of ground 

1 Underground Drawings of 
proposed route 

Successful Proponent with timelines set out in Project 
Agreement. 

2 Owners of buried assets review 
and respond to submissions of 
preliminary drawings (“mark-up 
circulation”) in BOW 

20 20 

3 Municipal application submitted 
to municipality via BOW 

Successful Proponent with timelines set out in Project 
Agreement. 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 22 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 Activity Performance Timeline (Business Days) 

Up to 30 km of ground 30 km + of ground 

4 Municipality reviews complete 
application and issues Municipal 
Consent (with reasonable 
conditions) and Road Occupancy 
Permit where applicable 

10 15 

5 Infrastructure owners respond to 
locate request lodged through 
Ontario One Call  

• For both dedicated locator 
model or standard process 
(individual infrastructure owners 
use their own locators) 

10 10 

6 Advising timing of construction7  5 (in advance of start date) 5 (in advance of start date) 

7 ISP performs construction 
followed by restoration of the 
ROW 

Negotiated with municipality. Successful Proponent with 
timelines set out in Project Agreement. 

8 Notice of work completion and 
As-built drawings submitted to 
municipality via BOW 

15 20 

9 Municipality inspection any 
restoration work As negotiated with municipality 

 
 

Accessing Provincial Highways 
 

This section outlines the Ontario Ministry of Transportation’s (MTO) Public Service Commitment (PSC) 

of 35 days. A Successful Proponent will require an Encroachment Permit for any installation or works 

upon, under or within the limits of a Provincial Highway ROW placed by someone other than MTO.   

 

The general steps to acquire an Encroachment Permit to access a Provincial Highway ROW are as 

follows: 

 

1. The Successful Proponent submits a permit application to MTO via the Highway Corridor 

Management System. The Successful Proponent notifies the BOW that it has submitted a permit 

through the Highway Corridor Management System. 

2. The MTO has a general PSC of 35 days between the time the Successful Proponent submits their 

permit application via Highway Corridor Management System to the time the MTO issues its 

encroachment permit. 

3. Successful Proponents are encouraged to raise any concerns with the MTO and the MOI in the 

event that the MTO does not meet its PSC. 

 

 
7 Some municipalities may have shorter timelines for notice of work to issue a Road Occupancy Permit, Successful Proponents 
may adhere to municipality timelines instead of PT. Where a Road Occupancy Permit is not required, the Successful Proponent 
notifies the municipality directly within 5 days prior to work commencement. 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 23 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

2.3   Technical Assistance Team (TAT) 
 

IO may establish a Technical Assistance Team (TAT) to assist with various aspects under this Guideline. 
More specifically, the TAT may: 
 

1. Provide technical assistance, negotiation support and quality assurance to various permit and 

authorization applicants. 

2. Provide extra support for those smaller municipalities and LDCs who may struggle to meet 

the demands of the AHSIP. 

3. Work with Successful Proponents, LDCs, municipalities and other parties involved in the 

deployment of broadband to reduce barriers for provincially funded projects.  

 

The TAT may also:   

 
1. Provide informal mediation support in mitigating and managing conflicts, supporting 

collaborative dialogue between parties. 

2. Serve a quality assurance and application support function to reduce errors and missing 

information in applications for authorizations and permits.  

3. Offer a technical capacity to help interpret standards, for example supporting ISPs looking to 

identify feasible new means and methods to accelerate broadband deployment within the 

regulated safety framework. 

 

Resolving Disputes  
 
The Guideline contemplates and recommends that parties will collaborate to resolve disputes 
amongst themselves in a spirit of cooperation. Where a resolution cannot be reached, informal 
disputes may be referred to IO for assistance in finding a resolution parties can agree upon. Parties 
seeking to make use of IO’s mediation support should adopt the use of BOW to ensure IO has 
sufficient and detailed project information necessary to provide assistance in the dispute. Appropriate 
parties may choose to escalate the dispute to an appropriate resolution body.  
 
 
 
 
  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 24 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Appendix 1: Application Requirements, Templates and 
Forms 
 

Application Requirements and Guidance Documents 
 
This section includes reference guidance for: 
1. As-Built Drawings and Records  
2. Drawing Requirements  
3. P.Eng. Design Drawings Requirements and Structural Analysis 
4. Standard Utility Offsets  
 
Sample Template and Forms 
 
This section includes the following sample templates and forms: 
5. Sample One-Touch Make-Ready Agreement 
6. Sample Application for Aerial Attachment 
7. Sample Materially Insignificant Declaration  
8. Sample Certificate of Deviation 
9. Broadband One Window Record of Municipal Access Agreements  
10. Sample Application for Municipal Consent  
11. Sample Application for Road Occupancy  
12. Sample Notice of Completion  
13. Sample Record of Inspection Form 
 

 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 25 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

As-Built Drawings and Records 

GENERAL 

Municipal, regulatory and other approving authorities often call upon Successful Proponents (and their 

engineering consultants) to provide records of completed works. 

The purpose of this Guideline is to provide guidance for the preparation of record drawings or 

documents, as well as the preparation of as-built drawings or documents. 

The records, documents and as-built drawings should be supplied to the LDC or Municipality within 

the PT stipulated in the Guideline.  

As a minimum, the drawings / documents should include, but are not limited to: 

• Any offset dimensions for above grade installed facilities from the specified locations including 

poles, down guys, pedestals, fibre-optic splice closures , attachment heights; 

• Any offset dimensions for below grade installed facilities from the specified locations, 

including but not limited to trenches, subsurface chambers, subsurface boxes and vaults; 

• All references to pictures taken; 

• Any changes to bonding or grounding; 

• Any new additional items installed that were not on the original design drawings; 

• Any items not installed that were not on the original design drawings; and, 

• Any materials that were substituted from the materials on the original design drawings. 

The Professional Engineers Ontario (PEO) has published a document titled Preparing As-Built and 

Record Documents, which provides the distinction between As-Built and Record information. These 

are summarized below. 

Records 

• Record documents are prepared based on information that was observed by a practitioner or 

by someone under the practitioner’s supervision. After a practitioner has reviewed the record 

documents and is satisfied that they are accurate, the practitioner must seal the documents.  

• For record documents, the original design practitioner’s seal should be removed. Practitioners 

preparing record documents must apply their seal. 

 

As-Built 

• As-built documents are prepared based on information gathered during construction or 

fabrication by someone other than a practitioner or someone under their supervision. Often, 

the information is provided by the contractor in the form of red-line mark-ups of the design 

drawings. If a practitioner then proceeds to revise the design documents to incorporate the 

red-line mark-ups, these documents should be clearly marked as “As-Built Documents” and 

not sealed. 

• As-built documents should not be sealed. The original design engineer’s seal must be 

removed when preparing as-built documents. 

 

Successful Proponents may also want to reference the ESA’s Guideline for Third Party Attachments.  

 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 26 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

AERIAL DRAWINGS  

Once the new plant has been installed or the modifications to an existing attachment have been 

completed (regardless of whether Standard Designs, or an Approved Plan were used), the 

construction should be inspected and approved in accordance with the following references: 

• Ontario Regulation 22/04; 

• ESA – Technical Guidelines for Inspection and Approval of Construction; and 

• ESA – Guideline for Third Party Attachments 

A Professional Engineer or ESA or a Qualified Person identified in the Local Distribution Company’s 

(LDC) Construction Verification Program must prepare a Record of Inspection and a Certificate of 

Construction. 

For telecommunication plant installations, the LDC could complete the construction inspection 

themselves, have the Proponent do it, or both. It is dependent upon the territory and the LDC 

involved. 

Typically, the inspector (note: this is not an ESA inspector) performs a post construction inspection 

since pole line installations are visibly verifiable after construction. The exceptions are the installation 

of anchors and ground rods / plates which are buried and not visibly verifiable after construction. It is 

advisable to observe these before they are buried or the red lines from the construction contractor will 

need to be relied upon.   

The “Record” of this inspection can be in the form of marking compliances and deviations on the 

Issued for Construction drawings, work instructions assembled from Standard Designs, or a separate 

document (for example). Any unacceptable deviations should be noted on the Record of Inspection 

for resolution by the appropriate party. Once the unacceptable deviations have been remedied, the 

Record of Inspection can be finalized, signed and dated by the Professional Engineer or ESA or 

Qualified Person, and a Certificate of Construction can be completed. 

The Certificate of Construction can be a separate document or it can be a stamp or signature 

added to the Record of Inspection and/or construction drawings. It should include 

the following information: 

• name and signature of the inspecting Professional Engineer, ESA representative or qualified 

person; 

• name of the LDC; and, 

• confirmation that the construction meets the plan, work instruction, or Standard Design; and 

date of certification. 

The Record of Inspection and Certificate of Construction are to be sent to the LDC who must retain 

them in the event of an ESA audit. 

UNDERGROUND DRAWINGS 

For buried telecommunications installations, any necessary design modifications and field changes 

made by the Successful Proponent or requested by the road authority or municipality during 

construction are to be included. 

It is important to predetermine the level of post construction deliverable that is required, as this will 

impact the level of inspection that is required. For buried installations, after the construction has been 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 27 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

completed and most items are concealed (except pedestals for example) inspection accuracy will be 

limited. During construction inspection will provide the best scenario for accuracy. 

During construction “field returns” may be Issued for Construction (IFC) drawings marked up by the 

construction contractor, the construction inspector, or both. 

This information is then added to the original IFC drawings and updated to the final version. Refer 

back to the GENERAL section of this document to determine what the final version of drawing is called 

(Record Drawing vs. As-Built Drawing). 

The information changes from the field returns that are placed on the final drawing are more easily 

identified with a cloud around the change, along with a drawing version or issuance number in a 

triangle beside the cloud. 

Both the field returns and the final drawing are to be retained by the Proponent as well as copies sent 

to the approving authorities that permitted the construction. 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 28 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Drawing Requirements 
 
GENERAL 
This section contains guideline information only to assist Successful Proponents / ISPs and 
governing/approving authorities of rights-of-way such as municipalities with the preparation of 
drawings that will assist in the permitting process. These guidelines are not prescriptive or binding, 
rather they provide good practice for drawing preparation.  

This Guideline, along with the other appropriate standards form the basis for complete submissions. 
Successful Proponents should confirm if the minimum drawing requirements are outlined within the 
LDC Occupancy Agreement or within the Municipal Consent agreement. 

In 2002, the ASCE published the ASCE 38-02, “Standard Guideline for the Collection and Depiction of 
Existing Subsurface Utility Data” document, outlining a credible system to classify quality of utility 
location information in design plans. The standard defines SUE requirements and sets out guidance for 
the collection and depiction of subsurface utility information. ASCE 38-02 sets out guidelines for how 
to qualify the accuracy of mapping existing infrastructure and relay information to a drawing. 

All parties submitting drawings of buried infrastructure should follow the requirements outlined in the 
American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) 38-02, ASCE 75 or CSA S250 for all submitted 
informationto the BOW. The ASCE 38-02, ASCE 75 is generally two-dimensional data focused and CSA 
S250 is a more modern quality standard which reflects modern technical developments to specify 
accuracy in three-dimensional data collection. 

BASIC DRAWING REQUIREMENTS 

The basic requirements apply to all drawings.  
a. Title block (name & address of Successful Proponent, date, north point, drawing/project 

number, location of project) 

b. Name & phone number of the Project Manager for the specific application 

c. Language: English/French as appropriate 

d. Scale & Dimensions: Metric 

e. Scale Size: (e.g., 1:1000, 1: 500, 1: 250) 

f. Legend of symbols 

g. Key Map 

h. Certified standards that have been applied 

i. Street names: clearly indicated 

PROJECT SPECIFIC DRAWING ORIENTATION REQUIREMENTS 

The orientation requirements apply to all drawings.  
a. North Point  

b. Key Map  

c. Street names: clearly indicated  

d. Sidewalks, driveways, curbs, trees, buildings, bridges, rivers, railroads, other utilities if they add 

clarity to specific issues  

e. Lot lines and/or buildings, and house numbers  

f. Horizontal offset measurements from proposed facilities to existing infrastructure (ie poles, 

buildings, other utilities, traffic, street lighting, signs, bridges etc.) and above grade elements 

that may be in conflict (e.g., trees, shrubs, pedestals, street lights, bus shelters etc.)  

 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 29 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

PROJECT SPECIFIC DRAWING REQUIREMENTS - AERIAL  

The project specific requirements apply for every segment proposed on the drawings as they apply to 
aerial drawings. These sheets contain the specific construction details required for the approving 
authority (e.g., municipality) to grant permit and for the Successful Proponent (or their contractors) to 
build. The minimum recommended content to be contained in the drawing area are described below. 

North Arrow Sidewalks where applicable 

Legend Mature tree dripline where applicable 

Scale (or NTS if not to scale) Location of above grade structures 

Street Names Location and depth of ditches 

Property Addresses Location and type of all existing facilities 

Building Numbers Location and type of all proposed facilities 

911 Address if applicable Easements as applicable 

Lot number Property lines 

Concession Number Guard Rails 

City, Town or Township Fencing 

Edge of Roadway, pavement and curbs River features 

Horizontal and vertical clearances Bridges 

 
Notes: 

a. Sidewalks, driveways, trees, buildings, bridges, rivers, railroads, other utilities to be included if 

they add clarity to specific issues 

b. Clearly indicated poles and strands and their ownership for aerial designs 

c. Proposed cable and Support Strands clearly indicated with heavier line style 

d. Proposed cable to be over-lashed to existing support strand and indicate owner of that 

support strand 

e. Indicate which side of the pole the wire is to be attached  

f. Slack storage & splice can locations 

g. Electrical bonding locations 

h. Proposed ground rods 

i. Dips and/or risers 

j. Ducts, guards, and/or concrete work on poles for dips and/or risers 

k. Cable dip/riser details 

l. Proposed and existing Successful Proponent anchoring 

m. Make ready work anticipated by the Successful Proponent with the Owner’s poles or third-

party Attachments 

n. Railroad, major highway, & river crossing engineering details & associated profiles 

o. Pole height contact detail (by drawing or table) indicating dimensions above grade for all 

existing telecommunications / CATV contacts by name, streetlight contacts, lowest Hydro 

contacts (neutral, secondary, primary, transformers, unprotected Hydro riser/dips) for both 

new and existing support strands. 

p. Horizontal offset measurements for proposed pole contact close construction to buildings, 

other non-Owner overhead systems (e.g., traffic, street lighting, signs), and/or bridges.   

q. Wiring, wire routing, and Attachment methods to the pole. 

r. Caution notes that impact the safe installation of the facilities 

s. Clear indication of road names 

 

 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 30 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

PROJECT SPECIFIC DRAWING PROVISIONS - UNDERGROUND  

The project specific provisions apply for every segment proposed on the drawings as they apply to 
buried drawings. These sheets contain the specific construction details needed for the approving 
authority (e.g., municipality) to make a determination of granting a permit and for the Successful 
Proponent (or their contractors) to build. The minimum recommended content to be contained in the 
drawing area are described below. 
 

North Arrow Sidewalks where applicable 

Legend Mature tree dripline where applicable 

Scale (or NTS if not to scale) Location of subsurface structures 

Street Names Location and depth of ditches 

Property Addresses Location and type of all existing facilities 

Building Numbers Location and type of all proposed facilities 

911 Address if applicable Details of proposed road crossing profiles 

Lot number Property lines 

Concession Number Easements as applicable 

City, Town or Township Guard Rails 

Edge of Roadway, pavement and curbs Fencing 

Roadway crossings as applicable Horizontal and vertical clearances 

Depth of cover Joint trench profile, as applicable 

Bridges River features 

 
Notes: 

a. Railroad, major highway, & river crossing engineering details & associated profiles should be 

explicit. 

b. Construction notes should detail the size, location and types of conduits, vaults, cables/fibre or 

other facilities. 

c. The method of construction (drilling, boring, ploughing, other) should be provided. 

d. Profile view of the buried facilities that displays the depth of installation relative to grade and 

its position within the trench (trench and road crossing profiles) for all road types. 

e. Caution notes that impact the safe installation of the facilities are to be included. 

f. A plan view showing proposed running lines in relation to the streets, curbs, driveways, 

sidewalks and property lines. 

g. Profiles of the running line at crossing locations or as otherwise dictated by the Approving 

Authority for permit acquisition. 

h. Representation of new (bold) and existing (normal line weight) Successful Proponent cables 

and duct. 

1) Text labeling the size (diameter) of all existing and new distribution cables shown on the 

drawing within the Construction Notes block. 

i. Representation of other utilities’ facilities if required by the Approving Authorities. 

j. A Construction Notes block that identifies on an “arb by arb” basis the scope of work to be 

completed.  This information includes (but is not limited to) where to install cable / conduit, 

vaults, and pits and the proposed method of construction for example. 

k. Numeric “arbing” should be sequential throughout the entire project design drawing. 

a. Arbs at match lines from drawing to drawing should be the same numeric value. 

b. Each page requires beginning and ending arbs to show the construction identified on 

the page. 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 31 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

c. Where possible create match line at a permanent landmark (i.e. utility pole, pedestal, 

lot line). 

l. All risers to aerial drawings should identify associated drawings by their designated drawing 

number. 

m. Construction notes must be specific to the work activity identified in the limits of each 

individual page as noted by the beginning and ending arbs. If there is an ADDITIONAL NOTES 

Block, it must contain at a minimum the following mandatory notes as required by the 

Successful Proponent: 

DRAWINGS ARE NOT TO SCALE. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS 
ON SITE AND REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ORIGINATOR BEFORE COMMENCING 
THE WORK. THE CONTRACTOR MUSTBE FAMILIAR WITH THIS COMPLETE PACKAGE, 
INCLUSIVE OF ALL EXHIBITS PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK. 

n. Details for any equipment to be installed are to be included only on the page where it is 

represented in the plan view. 

o. All pedestals should have an inset on the drawing showing both the dimensions of the vault 

and above grade portions. 

p. When required by the approving authority (e.g., municipality), include tree canopy dimensions 

and tree protection details on the page where it is represented in the plan view. 

q. For underground projects, locations of vaults are to be shown relative to curbs or other fixed 

monuments. 

r. A full Bill of Material should be included if required from the approving authorities (e.g., 

municipalities). 

 

MULTI-SHEET PROVISIONS 

All sheets of multi-sheet drawings should be of the same type within a specific project.  
a. All information sheets (Schedules, Exhibits) to be identified by alphabetical designation in the 

title block as A, B, C and so on.  

b. All drawing sheet numbering should include the drawing number and total number of 

drawings, as “Drawing 1 of 1,” “Drawing 1 of 2,” or “Dwg 1 of 2”, “Dwg 2 of 2” and should be 

uniform for all related sheets. 

c. The drawing area indicating the proposed construction should be oriented such that North 

points to the top of sheet by an industry accepted North Arrow symbol. 

d. Where projects have both aerial and buried requirements, aerial portions and buried portions 

should be on separate design drawings, each following their design requirements. 

e. Continuation notes (where the break occurs to be continued on a different page) should be 

clearly indicated. 

 
TITLE BLOCK PROVISIONS 

The title block should contain the minimum information stated below. 
a. Key map 

b. Legend 

c. Successful Proponent Logo 

d. Revision Information 

e. Design Firm Logo, Address, Phone Number (if a Design Firm is used) 

f. Project Number 

g. Project Data: Project Type, Project Name, Scale, Date, Drawing Number and the sheet number 

of the total number included 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 32 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

COVER SHEET 

The first sheet of a drawing set should be a “Cover Page” and always contain the following information: 
a. Successful Proponent logo and applicable office location 

b. Project Name as provided by Successful Proponent 

c. Project Location, including street and city reference 

d. Project Type (e.g., Buried Fibre Optic Installation) 

e. Successful Proponent Project Number 

f. Design Firm Project Number 

g. Drawing List (use full titles; e.g.., ‘SCHEDULE A – KEY MAP’) 

h. Design firm logo, address, phone number 

i. Drawing date to match the latest revision date; positioned at bottom centre of page under 

Design Firm logo 

j. Map of sheets, outlining the sheet numbers on a map 

k. Initial date of drawing creation 

 
Bottom of Page: 

l. Block with Successful Proponent contact for approving authority (e.g., municipality) 

information 

m. Block with Successful Proponent Planning contact information 

n. Block with approving authority (e.g., municipality) contact information 

o. Number of page designation required (alphabetical or numerical or both) 

p. Revision block showing all changes; identify change and drawing page number and date 

q. Permit Kilometers block showing totals for the project 

 
SPECIALTY PERMITS 

Specialty permits may be required based on the route selected and whether the proposed running 
line for the facilities falls within the jurisdiction of the governing authority (e.g., municipality). The 
Successful Proponent will be required to contact or access published materials in order to determine 
any specific drawing requirements for each type of permit. 

 
SAMPLE DRAWINGS 

Sample drawings are shown below for a typical telecommunications installation. 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 33 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 
 

 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 34 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 

 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 35 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 

 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 36 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 

 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 37 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 

 
 
  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 38 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

P.Eng. Design Drawings, Structural Analysis and Design Provisions 

GENERAL 

This document, relating to the design and construction of telecommunications facilities either in 
proximity to Local Distribution Companies’ (LDC) electrical plant, or in proximity to buried utilities is 
intended to be used in conjunction with the latest issuances of Ontario Reg. 22/04, the Electrical Safety 
Authority (ESA) Bulletins and requirements, CSA Standards 22.3 No.1 (Overhead Systems) and CSA 
Standards 22.3 No. 7 (Underground Systems), and the Occupational Health and Safety Act (OHSA). The 
Successful Proponent is responsible for compliance with all rules and applicable municipal, provincial, 
or federal laws, codes, and regulations. In all situations, it is the responsibility of the Successful 
Proponent to be familiar with and adhere to the OHSA, CSA standards during installation, 
maintenance, and related activities involving their facilities attached to any LDCs facilities.  
 
OVERVIEW 

Aerial 

The Successful Proponent is to be aware that LDC’s poles are part of an overhead electrical 
distribution system, and that all of the power lines attached to the poles should be presumed 
energized at all times. All persons, including the Successful Proponent’s employees and contractors, 
must exercise caution and take all reasonable precautions when working on or near electric utility 
poles and/or near high-voltage lines.  

Where Federal and Provincial regulations directly address construction activity in the vicinity of 
overhead electric lines, and violators are subject to criminal penalties and civil liabilities, these laws 
apply to employers, contractors, owners and any other parties or persons responsible for or engaged 
in construction activities. 

The Distribution Pole includes:  
a) Pole-Top Zone  
b) The Electrical Supply Zone or Supply Space  
c) Neutral Zone or Clearance Zone  
d) Communications Space  

The Pole-Top Zone is the pole space located at the top of the pole above the energized portion of the 
pole.  
 
The electrical supply zone or supply space is reserved for electrical supply facilities. Most supply space 
wiring consists of uninsulated conductors. The supply space may include separate facilities operating 
at different voltages; for safety reasons, typically the highest voltages are located uppermost on the 
pole.  

The neutral zone is the safety zone, or “neutral” space, between the lowest electrical supply conductor 
or equipment and the highest communication cables or equipment.  
 
The communications space is the lower portion of pole containing telecommunications attachments, 
and other communications cables. 
 
Underground 

All proposed buried telecommunications facilities must be designed and installed in compliance with 
local, provincial, and national standards. The running lines for cable must comply with the approved 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 39 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

offsets defined by the ESA (Regulation 22/04) governing road and municipal authority. Additional 
approvals may also be required for access to other rights-of-way including creek or waterway 
crossings, or railway crossings and facilities must be designed and installed in compliance with the 
requirements of the respective governing authority (e.g., municipality). 

DESIGN, ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION PROVISIONS 

Design Considerations - Aerial 

1. The design should be designed to meet CSA 22.3 No. 1. 

2. Telecommunication attachments should be installed as high as permissible within the 

Communication Space on the pole.  

3. Where there are no previous attachments on the pole, the first attachment should typically be 

placed at the highest position that complies with the minimum clearance, separation and spacing 

(clearance) requirements specified by CSA 22.3 No. 1 specifications, as amended from time to 

time,  and the standards of the LDC. In such cases, subsequent attachments should be made at the 

next highest position while maintaining minimum required clearances from the ground, supply 

and other communication facilities.  

4. If a pre-existing violation is identified, new attachments can be installed only if the new 

attachments can meet CSA 22.3 No. 1 specifications, CSA C22.3 No. 5.1, clearance requirements, 

or the existing attachments are adjusted to provide adequate clearance.  

5. For attachments proposed on LDC poles located on private property, prior permission must be 

obtained from the property owners. An LDC assumes no responsibility for securing any permission 

that may be required, and the Successful Proponents should not assume that permission exists 

based solely on the presence of an LDC’s facilities.  

6. An LDC will not obtain or negotiate rights-of-way for the benefit of a Successful Proponent and no 

guarantee is given by an LDC of permission, from property owners, municipalities or others. 

Successful Proponents should in all cases be solely responsible for obtaining consent, where 

necessary, from landowners and governmental entities involved.  

 

Construction Considerations - Aerial 

1. Communications cables are typically designed for installation on the same side of poles (typically 

the street side) as LDC’s neutral and secondary conductors and any existing communications 

cables. In the absence of any existing installations on LDC’s poles, communications cables should 

be installed on the street side of poles.  

2. Communications cables should be designed for installation within the communication space as 

high off the ground as possible and to conform to CSA 22.3 No. 1 specifications and/or LDC’s 

Standards.  

3. The Successful Proponent must ground and bond its messenger in accordance with requirements 

of the CSA 22.3 No. 1 specifications and the OHSA, as amended from time-to-time. Only LDC and 

its approved contractors are authorized to bond the telecom bonding wire to the LDC neutral 

conductor. The Successful Proponent should leave on the pole a coil of bonding wire of sufficient 

length to allow LDC or its contractor to uncoil the wire and make the final bonding connection to 

the LDC neutral conductor.  

4. Communication cables should be identified by tagging every cable at every pole. Existing 

untagged cables should be identified at every pole during normal maintenance. Untagged cables 

may be treated as unauthorized attachments.  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 40 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

5. The Successful Proponent is responsible for coordinating adjustments of existing attachments with 

appropriate third parties; prior permission to adjust existing cable facilities between any new 

Successful Proponent and any existing attacher should occur before any adjustments are made.  

6. Horizontal or vertical extension arms should not be used by the Successful Proponent to achieve 

required vertical clearances and/or horizontal separation.  

7. The Successful Proponent should avoid 3rd party cable risers on three-phase primary cable riser 

poles, or poles with pole-top switches.  

8. Only one U-Guard is allowed per pole.  

9. Overlashing should be permitted only on cable attachments and telecommunications attachments. 

The owner of the cable supporting the overlashed installation is responsible for maintaining both 

the supporting cable and the overlashed cable in compliance with CSA 22.3 No.1.  

10. Overlashing to a Successful Proponent’s existing cable can be accommodated under the same 

design criteria as other communication installations, including post-installation inspection and pole 

loading. The Successful Proponent may apply for a materially insignificant attachment if the results 

support the submission of a declaration. 

11. Make-Ready work should be performed before any proposed overlashing will be performed.  

12. The communications grounding system should be on the opposite side of the pole from LDC 

ground wire with the grounds connected together at the base of the pole.  

13. All guying should be considered as part of the structure, with a design/installation consisting of 

proper tension to support the attachment(s). Guying locations are typically installed at Successful 

Proponent’s dead-ended facilities, line deflections and/or when a LDC guy is present. Guying adds 

stability to a pole structure, with one end of the cable secured to the pole structure, and the other 

anchored to the ground at a distance from the pole structure's base.  

14. Each company should independently guy and anchor its respective facilities. Guying is required for 

third-party attachments in all cases where such facilities add an unbalanced tension load to the 

pole.  

15. Guy anchors are part of an LDC’s post-Installation Inspection review. Communication cables must 

be properly guyed and anchored before tensioning. Successful Proponent must install separate 

guying and anchoring devices to secure their cables. The Successful Proponent is responsible for 

ensuring that communication cables are independently guyed and anchored.  

16. Attachment to LDC’s anchors are not permitted. 

17. The Successful Proponent should coordinate with the LDC for all vegetation trimming necessary 

on or around its attachments, both during and after installation. The LDC may or may not provide 

any vegetation trimming services for communication facilities. 

 
Design Considerations – Underground 

The design should be designed to meet CSA 22.3 No. 1. The telecommunication plant should adhere 
to (but not limited to) the following to satisfy client, Right of Way authority and applicable 
specifications requirements; 

• minimum depths of cover; 

• minimum separation from other infrastructure or objects; 

• grounding and bonding; and, 

• joint trenching design where applicable. 

 
Construction Considerations – Underground 

The Successful Proponent should ensure that a Road Occupancy Permit (ROP) and/or Municipal 
Consent (MC) is obtained prior to commencing any activities in the ROW. All conditions of the ROP 
and any conditions required by the Municipal Access Agreement (MAA) should be adhered to. 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 41 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Before commencing the work, the Successful Proponent’s contractor should obtain locates to inform 
themselves of the location of all existing services and infrastructure that may be impacted by their 
installation activities. 

AERIAL DRAWINGS  

For submissions based on approved standard designs developed the Successful Proponent, the 
Successful Proponent will need to supply information to the LDC to ascertain that the proposed 
attachment is in accordance with the approved standard designs. After review and approval by the 
owner the permission is granted to proceed with construction. These submissions need only to be 
prepared by a competent person, as defined by the LDC. 

For submission based on the Successful Proponent providing the work plans and wok instructions 
assembled by a P.Eng, the LDC will grant permission to proceed after a review of the design.  

The P.Eng stamped drawings are to be prepared using industry applicable software that has been 
approved for use by the LDC. The outputs of the software should include, for each affected pole, the 
relevant information for each of the items below: 

• Location Analysis Summary  

• Design Properties 

• Load Case Properties 

• Loading 

• Pole Strength 

• Pole Static Analysis 

• Wire End Points and Wires 

• Downguys and Anchors 

• Cross Arms 

• Insulators and other Equipment (e.g., Transformers, Streetlight Arms etc.) 

• Strength Case Appendix 

• Load Case Appendix 

 

All drawings should conform to the drawing provisions noted above. A pole profile is required for 
each affected pole indicating existing and proposed attachments. See Figure 1. 

The ESA Guideline for Third Party Attachments can be referred to for additional information. 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 42 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 

 
Figure 1: Sample Pole Profile 

 
The drawings should include the seal of the responsible P.Eng, as well as a signed Certificate of 
Approval (COA). See Figure 2. 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 43 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 
Figure 2: P.Eng Stamp Example 

 
 
The drawings should also include: 

• Key Map 

• Constructor installation requirements 

• Constructor documentation requirements 

• Aerial construction information 

• Summary of buried and aerial permit kilometers 

• Distribution of pole ownership quantities 

• A Make-Ready summary, by attachment owner 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 44 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

• Aerial typical details 

• Design data summary tables indicating: 

o Vertical separations at each pole 

o Ground clearance at each span 

o In-span clearances between supply and communications cables 

o Estimated ruling span sag and tension 

o Hydro and communication guy & anchor data used 

o Loading results 

• Proposed down guy and anchor summary 

• Bill of Materials 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 45 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Standard Utility Offsets 

GENERAL 

This document contains guideline information only to assist ISPs and Governing Authorities with the 
preparation of drawings that will assist in the permitting process. These guidelines are not prescriptive 
or binding, rather provide good practice for drawing preparation.  
 
This Guideline, along with the other appropriate standards form the basis for complete submissions. 
Successful Proponents should confirm if the minimum drawing requirements are outlined within the 
LDC Occupancy Agreement or within the Municipal Consent agreement. 
 

STANDARD UTILITY OFFSET DRAWINGS 

The basic requirements that are stated in Basic Drawing Requirements section above should apply to 
any utility offset drawings prepared. 
 

SAMPLE DRAWING 

A sample drawing is shown below for a typical installation. 

 
 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 46 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Sample One-Touch Make-Ready Sample Agreement  

The sample agreement provided below is intended to serve as a sample only, users should consult 
legal counsel to ensure the agreement is adapted to their specific needs and circumstance.  

This Agreement is made as of ___________ ___, _____: 

BETWEEN: 

[Local Distribution Company], a _______________ licensed by the Ontario Energy Board under Part V 
of the Ontario Energy Board Act 

(the “LDC”) 

AND: 

[Successful Proponent], a _______________ incorporated under the laws of _______________  

(the “Successful Proponent”) 

WHEREAS: 

A. The Successful Proponent is carrying out the construction of broadband network infrastructure 
(the “Project”) under the Province of Ontario’s Ontario Connects: Accelerated High Speed 
Internet Program. 

B. The Project is a Designated Broadband Project under [The Building Broadband Faster Act 
Guideline] (the “Guideline”). 

C. On the date hereof, the LDC has granted the Successful Proponent a permit (the “Permit”) to 
attach broadband network infrastructure to the LDCs support structure(s), as described in further 
detail in the Permit (the “Attachment”). 

D. Pursuant to the one-touch make-ready process set out in Section [2] of the Guideline, the LDC 
has advised the Successful Proponent that the LDC is unable to undertake and complete the 
power and telecom make-ready work on the LDC’s support structure(s) required in connection 
with the Attachment (the “Make-Ready Work”) in accordance with the applicable performance 
timelines set out in the Guideline. 

E. In order to expedite completion of the Attachment, the Successful Proponent desires to 
undertake and complete the Make-Ready Work at its own cost and risk. 

F. Pursuant to Section 2 of the Guideline, as a condition to undertaking and completing the Make-
Ready Work at its own cost and risk, the Successful Proponent must enter into this Agreement 
with the LDC. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements of the parties hereinafter 
contained and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. The Successful Proponent acknowledges and hereby agrees that the LDC has, in the context of 
issuing the Permit, reviewed whether sufficient spare capacity is available on the structure(s) to 
accommodate the Attachment but the LDC will not conduct a pre-work inspection for 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 47 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

compliance of the structure(s) with construction standards and/or health and safety risks for 
workers or the public. 

2. The Successful Proponent further acknowledges and agrees that the LDC is relying on the 
information and assessment provided by the Successful Proponent with respect to any structural 
or other issues with the structure(s) which are inconsistent with applicable construction 
standards. 

3. The LDC hereby authorizes the Successful Proponent to undertake and complete the Make-
Ready Work in accordance with this Agreement and the applicable requirements of the 
Guideline and the Permit.  

4. If, as of the date hereof, the LDC has provided the Successful Proponent in writing a list of 
contractors pre-qualified by the LDC to carry out the Make-Ready Work, the Successful 
Proponent must select a contractor from such list to carry out the Make-Ready Work. Otherwise 
the Successful Proponent may propose a qualified contractor for the LDC’s approval, and such 
approval by the LDC should not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.     

5. The Successful Proponent may proceed with its Attachment prior to the completion of the Make-
Ready Work if: 

a. the Successful Proponent has reviewed any structural or other issues with the structure(s) 
which are inconsistent with applicable construction standards and a professional  
engineer (“P. Eng.”) of or for the Successful Proponent has certified that the Attachment 
can nevertheless proceed in a safe manner, in compliance with applicable law; 

b. a P. Eng. of or for the Successful Proponent has provided to the LDC a signed request 
and declaration in the form attached as Sample Materially Insignificant Declaration to 
the Guideline (Appendix 1) stating that the Attachment is “materially insignificant” 
(within the meaning given to such term in the Electrical Safety Authority guidelines), and 
the LDC has confirmed to the Successful Proponent in writing that the LDC deems the 
Attachment to be “materially insignificant”. 

The LDC must review and respond to the request and declaration described in Section 5.b 
above within the performance time period specified in the Guideline. 

6. The Successful Proponent acknowledges that the structure(s) will be deemed to be under its 
control during the performance of the Make-Ready Work for the purposes of compliance with 
Electrical Safety Authority requirements and guidelines and health and safety obligations arising 
from the Canada Labour Code and its regulations. 

7. In the event that the Attachment cannot be safely performed until Make-Ready Work can be 
permanently completed, the Successful Proponent may apply to the LDC for a temporary facility, 
for Successful Proponent’s exclusive use, to bypass a structure requiring Make-Ready Work (a 
“Temporary Facility”). The Successful Proponent acknowledges that any request for the 
installation or use of a Temporary Facility which comes in contact with a structure of the LDC or 
which may increase the maintenance or replacement costs of a structure of the LDC should be 
submitted in advance to the LDC, in the standard form requested by the LDC (if any), 
accompanied by detailed, signed and sealed (P.Eng.) plans of the proposed Temporary Facility 
and other documents that may be required by the LDC.   

8. Each application for a Temporary Facility should be made in a separate application by the 
Successful Proponent. In addition, any modification, addition or removal that the Successful 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 48 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Proponent wishes to make to its Temporary Facilities requires the filing of a new application. The 
Successful Proponent acknowledges that such application may be submitted to a technical 
committee comprised of technical experts from the LDC and other owners of support structures 
and that the Successful Proponent may be invited to present its request to the committee. The 
LDC reserves the right to accept the request as submitted, to propose an alternative at the 
Successful Proponent’s expense, to return the request to the Successful Proponent if it is 
incomplete, or to reject the request within [30] days. If the Successful Proponent believes that a 
type of Temporary Facility could be performed without P.Eng. stamped plans or otherwise 
deviating from the Temporary Facilities process set out herein, the Successful Proponent may 
submit a proposal with a process specific to that type of Temporary Facility to the technical 
committee for evaluation. 

9. The Successful Proponent agrees to clearly identify its Temporary Facilities as being in the 
Successful Proponent’s name with the notation “Temporary Facility” and, upon completion of 
the work on the Temporary Facilities, to perform, at its expense, the work to remediate or make 
the Temporary Facilities permanent within [90] days of the completion of the preparatory work 
including the removal of any Temporary Facilities owned by the Successful Proponent such as 
poles, conduits, pads, overhead conduits, etc., unless another time period is agreed upon by 
the parties, after which time the temporary facility will be considered an unauthorized 
attachment. Any unidentified temporary facility will be considered an unauthorized attachment. 

10. Upon completion of the Attachment and Make-Ready Work, the Successful Proponent should 
deliver to the LDC “As Built” drawings for the Attachment and Make-Ready Work which should 
include a completed record of inspection form in accordance with the Guideline. 

11. The Successful Proponent agrees that any and all damages of any nature whatsoever which may 
reasonably be considered to result or arise directly or indirectly from the Successful Proponent’s 
performance of the Make-Ready Work and/or the installation, use or modification of any 
Temporary Facility, in each case which occurred during or within a period of 120 days following 
delivery by the Successful Proponent of “As Built” drawings for the Attachment and Make-Ready 
Work pursuant to Section 10 above, should be deemed to have been a result of the Successful 
Proponent’s work, except to the extent that the Successful Proponent can demonstrate that 
another reason was the cause of such damages.  

12. During the 120-day period described in Section 11 above, the LDC and any existing internet 
service provider attached to the relevant structure (an “Existing ISP”) should have the 
opportunity to conduct inspections of the Make-Ready Work and any Temporary Facility work 
for the purpose of identifying any damage, and must notify the Successful Proponent of any 
damage to their respective infrastructure prior to the end of such 120-day period.  Except to the 
extent the Successful Proponent can demonstrate that its Make-Ready Work or Temporary 
Facility work did not cause such damages, the Successful Proponent should, at its own cost, 
rectify the damages identified by the LDC and/or the Existing ISP within 30 days of receipt of 
written notice of such damages by the Successful Proponent, unless a longer period of time is 
agreed between the parties, acting reasonably.  

13. The Successful Proponent should notify the LDC’s representative as soon as possible of any 
incident, non-conformity or other situation affecting safety or the integrity of one or more 
structures arising from or following the execution of the Make-Ready Work and/or the 
installation, use or modification of a Temporary Facility in order to allow the LDC to carry out any 
necessary verification and work required to rectify the situation.  

14. The Successful Proponent should inform the LDC upon completion of its work and certify that 
the Make-Ready Work and/or the installation, use or modification of a Temporary Facility, as 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 49 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

applicable, was conducted safely in compliance with the work conditions required by the 
Successful Proponent’s engineer in consideration of the work to be done.  

15. The Successful Proponent acknowledges that the Make-Ready Work and any Temporary Facility 
work is subject to the conditions set forth herein and in the Permit and that the Successful 
Proponent’s rights to perform the Make-Ready Work and any Temporary Facility work hereunder 
may be revoked at any time by the LDC if, in the LDC’s reasonable opinion, the Successful 
Proponent is conducting the work in a manner inconsistent with industry standard, including, 
without limitation, in the event of a breach or failure to respect the conditions set out herein or 
in the Permit, a failure by the Successful Proponent, its personnel or contractors, to comply with 
applicable health and safety standards or if the LDC becomes aware of any incidents relating to 
unsafe practices likely to endanger a person’s health or safety.  The LDC should provide written 
notice to the Successful Proponent which should include the LDC’s reasons for its decision. 

16. The Successful Proponent acknowledges and agrees that it should exercise its rights and 
perform its obligations under this Agreement at its own cost and risk without recourse to the 
LDC. 

17. This Agreement will be interpreted in accordance with the laws and regulations of the Province 
of Ontario and the laws and regulations of Canada applicable therein, without regard to conflict 
of laws principles. Any dispute between the parties hereunder should be resolved pursuant to 
the dispute resolution procedures in Section [3] of the Guideline. 

18. No amendment to this Agreement should be effective unless it is made in writing and signed by 
the parties hereto. Neither party may transfer or assign this Agreement or any part thereof, or its 
rights, duties or obligations under this Agreement, without the prior written consent of the other 
party. 

19. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts and such counterparts may be delivered by 
facsimile or by other acceptable electronic transmission, each of which when executed and 
delivered should constitute an original document; these counterparts taken together should 
constitute one and the same Agreement. 

20. This Agreement has been executed on behalf of the LDC  and Successful Proponent as of the 
date first written above: 

[INSERT LEGAL NAME OF LDC]  [INSERT LEGAL NAME OF SUCCESSFUL 
PROPONENT] 

By:   By:  

 Name:  
Title:  

  Name:  
Title:  

By:   By:  

 Name:  
Title:  

  Name:  
Title:  

I/We have the authority to bind the 
corporation. 

 I/We have the authority to bind the 
corporation. 

 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 50 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Sample Application for Aerial Attachment  
 
PART 1: REQUEST INFORMATION FROM LDCs 

GENERAL 

Date Requested: ______________________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Name: ___________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Phone: ___________________________________________________ 

 
CONTACT INFORMATION 

Provide the contact information for the party requesting the Aerial Attachment on behalf of the 
Successful Proponent. 

(Individual) Prime Contact Name: ______________________________________________ 

Title: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Office Phone:  ________________________________________________________________ 

Cell Phone:  __________________________________________________________________ 

Email: _______________________________________________________________________ 

 
POLE DATA 

Pole Information (note: the information needs to be verified in the field). 

Number: ___________  

Height: _____________ 

Class: _______________ 

Installed Date: ________ 

 

Primary Conductor: 

Size: ______________________ 

Tension: ___________________ 

Type: ______________________ 

 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 51 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Neutral 

Size: ______________________ 

Tension: ___________________ 

Type: ______________________ 

 

Secondary conductor 

Size: _________________ 

Tension: ______________ 

 Type: ________________ 

 

Plans: 

Are there any LDC plans to replace or upgrade the pole within the next 5 years, and if yes, when? 
_____________________________________________ 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 52 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

PROJECT LOCATION 
Provide details that describe the submission geographically. 

Project Location Information 

Lot Numbers or 
Address 

Nearest 
Intersection 

Township, Village, Town or 
City 

Region, County or 
District 

        

 
 
Provide a sketch of the location of the proposed attachments, including streets and the locations of the 
affected poles.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PART 2: SUBMIT PERMIT APPLICATION 

Any specific technical requirements, dependent on the LDC, can either be provided on forms or 
included within the drawings. All application fees are to be provided at this time. 

 
GENERAL 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 53 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Date Submitted: ______________________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Name: ____________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Phone: ____________________________________________________ 

Location (nearest major intersection):  ____________________________________________ 

Date of Signed Occupancy Agreement: ___________________________________________ 

 

CONTACT INFORMATION 

Provide the contact information for the party requesting the Aerial Attachment on behalf of the 
Successful Proponent. 

(Individual) Prime Contact Name: ________________________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________________________________________________ 

Office Phone:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Cell Phone:  ___________________________________________________________________ 

Email: ________________________________________________________________________ 

 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Enter Yes or No for each of the items below for the proposed work within the Right Of Way. 

New Installation _____ 

Replace Existing Facilities _____ 

Upgrade Existing Facilities _____ 

Alter Existing Facilities _____ 

Underground Work _____ 

Aerial Work _____ 

Excavation Required ____ 

Expected Date of the work to commence _____ 

Expected Date of the completion of the work _____ 

Existing LDC Support Strand to be used _____ 

Existing ISP Support Strand to be used? ______ 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 54 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Has permission been granted to use the support strand? _____ 

Design Standards to be applied – Owner developed? _____ 

Design Standards to be applied - Successful Proponent developed? _____ 

Design Standards to be applied – USF? _____      

Design Standards to be applied – Other? _____     Standards by? ____________________ 

 
PROJECT LOCATION 

Provide details that describe the submission geographically. 

Project Location Information 

Lot Numbers or 
Address 

Nearest 
Intersection 

Township, Village, Town or 
City 

Region, County or 
District 

        

 

Drawing 
Number 

Street From Location To Location Comments 

     

     

     

     

 
  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 55 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Provide a sketch of the location of the proposed attachments, including streets and the locations of the 
affected poles.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Provide a Description of the Proposed Work 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________ 
 
 

 

 

 

 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 56 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

FULLY ENGINEERED PROCESS 

If the Successful Proponent is providing the detailed engineering, then the detailed information on all 
attachments (strand and messenger) including quantity, size (diameter in mm), line tension (kN), and 
type (fiber, size of fibre count, copper, etc.) are to be provided (either in the form of the table below, or 
with the contents of the table below included on the drawings). 

Pole # Street Name 
Type 
(new, 

overlash) 

Max 
Cable 

Diameter 

Existing 
Permit 

Tension 
Change 

Deadend 
Deflection 

Pole 
Approval 

(Y/N) 

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

                  

         

         

 
 
 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 57 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

DEVIATIONS FOR NON-STANDARD MATERIALS AND DESIGNS 

Where the designs or materials used do not conform to the required standards, the Successful 
Proponent is to complete the information to request approval. A sample template for a P.Eng to fill out 
to approve a deviation is below. 

Name of P.Eng. requesting deviation(s)    __________________________ 

Title of P.Eng.  __________________________________________________ 

Company Name of P.Eng.  _______________________________________ 

Email of P.Eng. _________________________________________________ 

 

TYPE OF DEVIATION (Material - barcode or stock 
code) or (Design type - engineering or operations) 

DESCRIPTION OF DEVIATION   

    

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

PERMISSION TO OVERLASH ON POLES 

If permission to overlash on an existing strand is required, the information below is to be supplied. 

Date:  

Applicant (Company):  

Applicant Contact Name & Number:  

FAX:  

Applicant E-mail address:  

Municipality:  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 58 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Street:  (Where work is being requested)  

Pole Owner:  

Applicant's Project No:  

Number of Poles Applicant is overlashing to existing Strand   

Existing Support Strand Owner  

Existing Support Strand Owner Permission Granted By: (Contact) Name & 
Number 

 

Additional Comments  

 
SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 

A complete Aerial Attachment Permit Application requires submission of: 
o the required Application Fee; 

o the Drawings completed in accordance with the requirements stated; and 

o The appropriate sections completed application on this form. 

 
RETURNED BY THE LDC 

Once the LDC has received and reviewed the Application, the information below should be completed 
by the LDC or its agent. 
 
Permit Number _________________________________ 

Approved by ___________________________________ 

Title __________________________________________ 

Date of Approval ________________________________ 

Comments _____________________________________ 

Deposit Amount $________________________________ 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 59 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Sample Materially Insignificant Declaration  
 
BACKGROUND 

ESA Bulletin DB-07-15v2, Distributor Information Bulletin, contains direction on how an LDC may 
demonstrate compliance with Regulation 22/04, with respect to “materially insignificant” alterations to 
electrical equipment. ESA views “materially insignificant” (MI) alterations to consist of any work that 
does not materially change the existing electrical equipment, typically relating to forces on poles & 
strength of poles. ESA recognizes that some forms of overlashing, , including but not limited to flags, 
traffic signs and flower baskets may be deemed “materially insignificant”. The following are key points 
from the bulletin.  
 
Where the Successful Proponent is undertaking the P.Eng. Design Drawings and they indicate that the 
proposed work is “materially insignificant”, the Permit Application should include a request and a 
declaration signed by a P.Eng. that the attachment be considered “materially insignificant”.   
  
 As per ESA’s direction, the LDC may exempt “materially insignificant” work from the audit 
requirements of Sections 7 and/or 8 of Regulation 22/04 and that work will be deemed in compliance 
with Regulation 22/04. 
 
 
GENERAL 

Date Submitted: ______________________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Name: ____________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Phone: ____________________________________________________ 

Location (nearest major intersection):  ____________________________________________ 

Date of Signed Occupancy Agreement: ____________________________________________ 

 

CONTACT INFORMATION 

Provide the contact information for the party requesting the Materially Insignificant Alteration on behalf 

of the Successful Proponent. 

(Individual) Prime Contact Name: ___________________________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________________________________________________ 

Office Phone:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Cell Phone:  ___________________________________________________________________ 

Email: ________________________________________________________________________ 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Enter Yes or No for each of the items below for the proposed work within the Right Of Way. 

New Installation _____ 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 60 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Replace Existing Facilities _____ 

Upgrade Existing Facilities _____ 

Alter Existing Facilities _____ 

Expected Date of the work to commence _____ 

Expected Date of the completion of the work _____ 

Existing LDC Support Strand to be used _____ 

Existing ISP Support Strand to be used? ______ 

Has permission been granted to use the support strand? _____ 

 

PROJECT LOCATION 

Provide details that describe the submission geographically. 

Project Location Information 

Lot Numbers or 
Address 

Nearest 
Intersection 

Township, Village, Town or 
City 

Region, County or 
District 

        

 

Drawing 
Number 

Street From Location To Location Comments 

     

     

     

     

 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 61 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Provide a sketch of the location of the proposed attachments, including streets and the locations of the 

affected poles.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Provide a Description of the Proposed Work 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 

MATERIALLY INSIGNIFICANT ALTERATION DECLARATION 

The Materially Insignificant Alteration Declaration (MIAD) provides the basic information regarding 

incremental pole loading resulting for service cable over-lash to an existing permitted attachment.  

The MIAD provides the data along with proposed parameters and conditions that confirm that the 

proposed attachments will not cause any material structural or loading change. 

The declaration, dependent on the project, standards, span lengths and location, can be submitted: 

• Either as a single form for the entire project; 

• As a form for each pole affected; 

• As a form for a grouping of poles. 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 62 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 Consideration is still required for: 

• The Successful Proponent to perform a survey to confirm the existing facilities and to prepare 

drawings for submission. 

• Defects that directly affect the structural capacity of the pole (i.e. physical damage such as 

vehicle damage to a pole or anchor) should be communicated to the pole owner. 

• The existing separations and clearances have already been approved by the prior design and 

or audit. If not, calculations by the Successful Proponent will be required. 

• That any additional strands added do not affect the existing already approved clearances. 

• An existing installation, where the grounding or bonding have already been approved on the 

basis of the prior design or audit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ENGINEERED DRAWINGS 

 

Materially Insignificant Alteration Declaration 
 
The installation work covered by this document meets the safety requirements of Regulation 22/04 
as the work does not change the existing electrical equipment or materially change the forces on 
poles and strength of poles. 
 
 
 
 
________________________     ______________________________ 
Name        Date 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Signature and Professional Designation 
 
 
 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 63 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Where required by the LDC, the Successful Proponent should submit engineered drawings to facilitate 

installation and to provide complete records.  

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 64 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Sample Certificate of Deviation  

CERTIFICATE OF DEVIATION APPROVAL 

ESA bulletin DB11-12-v2, Distributor Information Bulletin, 2 contains direction on when a Certificate of 
Deviation may be applied and the conditions where Approval for the deviation is permitted. More 
information, including examples, can be found in the Distributor bulletins section of www.esasafe.com. 
 
Accepting deviations can be done through the use of a “Certificate of Deviation Approval”. All 
deviations are to be listed on the Certificate of Deviation Approval.A Certificate of Deviation Approval 
must be signed by a P.Eng. (either the ISP or LDC’s P.Eng depending on the party developing the 
engineered designs)   
 

A sample is seen below. 

Certificate of Deviation Approval 
 

The installation work covered by this document meets the safety requirements of Section 4 of 
Regulation 22/04 with the following deviations: 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
________________________     ______________________________ 
Name        Date 
 
________________________________________ 
Signature and Professional Designation 
 
 

 

CERTIFICATE OF DEVIATION – CERTIFIED LISTS 

ESA Distributor Bulletin DB-02-16-v1, provides guidance on when a Certificate of Deviation for 

Certified lists can be applied. It provides direction on how an LDC may demonstrate compliance with 

Regulation 22/04, with respect to deviations from required standards. ESA accepts that a certified list 

of deviations from section 5 “When safety standards met” of Regulation 22/04, approved by a P.Eng., is 

acceptable to meet the requirements of Regulation 22/04.  More information, including examples, can 

be found in the Distributor bulletins section of esasafe.com. 

A sample is seen below. 

 

 

http://www.esasafe.com/


 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 65 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 
LDC COMPANY NAME & LOGO 

 

 
Certificate of Deviation Approval for Non-Standard Items. This certifies that the below list of 
deviations from CSA standards will not materially affect the safety of any person or property, if not 
resolved immediately. These items can be resolved over time through maintenance, pole line 
rebuild and street light replacement programs. 
 
The items covered by this Certificate are deemed to not be an imminent safety hazard for workers 
that are “qualified” to work in the communications space on poles, based on their knowledge, 
training and experience levels required. This Certificate is not intended to be applied to new pole 
lines or any situation where a pole is being replaced anyways. In those cases, it is expected that the 
entire pole be brought up to 100% CSA standards compliancy. 
 
The workers are “qualified” in their ability to recognize electrical hazards and other potential safety 
concerns, which may cause them to implement specific safety measures or work procedures to 
avoid the item. They are required to take a training module called “Health and Safety Guidelines for 
Contractors - Working at Heights Module”, among other requirements before they are deemed 
qualified. 
 
This Certificate can only be applied to Third Party Company projects, at their discretion, by inclusion 
of this Certificate into their attachment application. On a per attachment application basis, the exact 
poles and pole spans where this Certificate of Deviation Approval is being applied will be clearly 
identified on a separate form, completed by a competent person. A suitable form is attached to this 
Certificate, but similar forms are also acceptable. Third Party Company and the LDC may agree to 
identify some of these items through existing Joint Use Processes, or other agreed methods, rather 
than this form. 

 

              

Prepared by:        Date:   

     
 

   
Name of P.Eng.   Signature:  

 
   

              

 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 66 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Deviations for Non-Standard Items 
       

Project Name:   Municipality:         

Permit #:   Date:          

       

Street Bar code/ Pole # Description of Deviation 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

              

Prepared by:        Date:   

     
 

   

Position:        
 

   

              

 

 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 67 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Broadband One Window Record of Municipal Access Sample Agreements 
 
A Municipal Access Agreement (MAA) is a legal agreement that provides telecommunication 

companies the ability to construct, maintain, relocate and operate their equipment within rights-of-

ways that are under the jurisdiction of a municipality. It states the roles, responsibilities and 

requirements for both the signatory and the municipality and deals primarily with issues such as 

municipal consent, hazardous substances and materials, road occupancy permits, rights-of-way, costs 

to be carried by municipalities, third party and sub-contractor agreements, service level agreements, 

maintenance and repair responsibilities as well as equipment use and invoicing. 

The One Window system can be used to maintain a database confirming all applied for MAAs, 

confirming all executed MAAs, maintain a map of which municipalities require an MAA and provide an 

interface for submission. 

 

MAA FORM 

Successful Proponent: ______________________________________  

Individual Applicant’s Name: ________________________________  

Application date: __________________________________________  

Applicant’s email: __________________________________________ 

Applicant’s Phone: _________________________________________ 

Applicant’s Consultant Name: _______________________________ 

Consultant’s email: _________________________________________ 

Consultant’s Phone: ________________________________________ 

Municipality Name: ________________________________________ 

Existing MAA in Place (Y/N): ________________________________ 

Date of Application: _______________________________________ 

Date of Executed Agreement: ______________________________ 

Expiry date of MAA: _______________________________________ 

 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 68 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

SAMPLE MAA CONTENTS 

 

  

Use of ROWs

Permits to Conduct Work

Manner of Work

Remedial Work

Permits to Conduct Work

Relocation of Plant

Permits to Conduct Work

Term and Termination

Insurance

Liability and Indemnification

Environmental Liability

Force Majeure

Dispute Resolution

Notices

General



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 69 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Sample Application for Municipal Consent  

 
GENERAL 

Date Submitted: ______________________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Name: ____________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Phone: ____________________________________________________ 

Location (nearest major intersection):  ____________________________________________ 

 

CONTACT INFORMATION 

Provide the contact information for the party requesting Municipal Consent on behalf of the Successful 

Proponent. 

(Individual) Prime Contact Name: ___________________________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________________________________________________ 

Office Phone:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Cell Phone:  ___________________________________________________________________ 

Email: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Fax: __________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Enter Yes or No for each of the items below for the proposed work within the Right Of Way. 

New Installation _____ 

Replace Existing Facilities _____ 

Upgrade Existing Facilities _____ 

Alter Existing Facilities _____ 

Underground Work _____ 

Aerial Work _____ 

Excavation Required ____ 

Directional drilling or boring required _____ 

Expected Date of the work to commence _____ 

Expected Date of the completion of the work _____ 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 70 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Provide a Description of the Proposed Work 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

SUBMISSION PROVISIONS 

In some jurisdictions, the Successful Proponent will be required to obtain approvals from all other 

regulatory authorities prior to submitting the MC application, showing all owners’ facility locations and 

confirming no conflicts exist.  

The Successful Proponent should also have considered if a joint-build venture with any other facility 

owner was considered, agreed to or declined.  

Where required under the guidelines established by the Professional Engineers of Ontario, the 

application drawings should be signed and sealed by a Professional Engineer. 

All minimum horizontal and vertical clearances to existing facilities should be maintained in 

accordance with published specifications. Stated clearances may be reduced with the written 

permission of the affected facilities owner(s). 

The Successful Proponent may choose to 'bundle' several drawings together as a single application for 

projects which involve continuous installation over large distances. These should be summarized and 

listed in the table below. 

For pole line installations, all existing poles, poles to be removed and proposed poles are to be 

shown. This includes all guying and anchoring. 

Drawing 
Number 

Street From Location To Location Comments 

     

     

     

     

SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 

A complete Municipal Consent Application requires submission of: 

o the required Application Fee; 

o the Drawings completed in accordance with the requirements stated; 

o This completed application form; and 

o Confirmation of all other required approvals from other agencies. 

 

RETURNED BY THE MUNICIPALITY  

Once the Municipality has received and reviewed the Application, the information below should be 

completed by the Approver. 

Municipal Consent Number ________________________ 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 71 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Approved by ____________________________________ 

Date of Approval ________________________________ 

Comments _____________________________________ 

Deposit Amount $________________________________ 

Additional Comments _____________________________ 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 72 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Sample Application for Road Occupancy 
 
This permit expires 6 months from the date of issue 

GENERAL 

Date Submitted: ______________________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Name: ____________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Phone: ____________________________________________________ 

Work Location (nearest major intersection):  ____________________________________________ 

 

CONTACT INFORMATION 

Provide the contact information for the party requesting Road Occupancy Permit on behalf of the 

Successful Proponent. 

(Individual) Prime Contact Name: ___________________________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________________________________________________ 

Office Phone:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Cell Phone:  ___________________________________________________________________ 

Email: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Fax: __________________________________________________________________________ 

 

TYPE OF WORK 

Enter Yes or No for each of the items below for the proposed work within the Right of Way. 

New Installation _____ 

Replace Existing Facilities _____ 

Upgrade Existing Facilities _____ 

Alter Existing Facilities _____ 

Underground Work _____ 

Aerial Work _____ 

Excavation Required ____     Length (m) __________     Width (m) ___________ 

Directional drilling or boring required _____         Length (m) _______________ 

Expected Date of the work to commence __________________ 

Expected Date of the completion of the work _______________ 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 73 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Provide a Description of the Proposed Work 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

AFFECTED ASSETS 

Indicate which assets may be affected by the work 

Roadway Sewers 

Signs Curbs 

Gutters Drains 

Sidewalk Boulevard (grass) 

Trees Storm sewers 

Pedestals Traffic Lights 

Street Lights Fire Hydrants 

Bus Shelters Interlocking Brick 

Multi-Use Trails Bollards 

 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 74 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

WORK LOCATION 

Provide a sketch of the location of the work, including lots, streets, the locations of buildings and the 

location of the construction/work zone. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 75 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

MUNICIPAL CONSENT NUMBER 

Provide the approved consent number. 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

RESTORATION DETAILS 

Provide the anticipated restoration requirements and timing. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 

A complete Road Occupancy Permit Application requires submission of: 

o The required Application Fees (application fee plus encroachment deposit); 

o This completed application form;  

o Completed submission of Insurance related requirements; 

o The work location sketch; and 

o Written confirmation has been provided to all other affected infrastructure owners. 

 

PERMIT DETAILS 

1. The Successful Proponent must have a valid Municipal Access Agreement (MAA) if applicable and 

must follow the requirements of the MAA or any and all By-laws governing work on public lands 

imposed by the City/Town/Region. 

2. Permits are to be issued by the Utility Coordinator. Up to seven business days are required for 

processing. 

3. The Deposit and Administration and Inspection fees should be paid by the Successful Proponent. 

4. The Successful Proponent should notify all affected property owners in writing before work 

commences. The notification will include utility name, expected duration, contact name and phone 

number. Short term emergency repair work is excluded from this clause. 

5. The Successful Proponent must submit the amount and agree to the terms for Liability Insurance as 

stated by the City/Town/Region. 

6. The Successful Proponent agrees to indemnify and save harmless the City/Town/Region, its 

officers, employees, servants and agents from and against all liability, claims, demands, suits, 

arising out of or in any way connected with the granting of this Permit and/or said construction or 

excavation. 

7. The Successful Proponent waives as against the City/Town/Region, its officers, employees, servants 

and agents any claims that it may have arisen out of or in any way connected with the granting of 

this Permit and/or the said construction or excavation. 

8. The Successful Proponent will provide any cash deposit required by the City/Town/Region with the 

permit application. The balance of the deposit should be returned twelve (12) months after the 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 76 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

work has been completed if all conditions of the MC are met. Any costs in excess of the deposit 

amount will be billed to the Successful Proponent. 

9. Prior to issuing a permit, the Successful Proponent must have proof of all required approvals and 

permits. 

10. Prior approval must be obtained from the City/Town/Region for closing or restricting any road at 

any time except under emergency circumstances. The hours of work for closing or restricting any 

road at any time should be at the discretion of the Municipal Engineer. 

11. The Successful Proponent will be charged for the erection and maintenance of detour signs along 

the detour route at a rate in effect at that time. 

12. In case of emergency work, notice should be given and an application for permit made as soon as 

possible after commencement of the work, namely on the same day, or, if too late in the day, then 

within one hour of the opening of the Municipal/Regional Office on the following work day. 

13. The Successful Proponent should prior to the commencement of any work, obtain stakeouts from 

all Owners of underground plant and should comply with any instructions from the plant Owners 

when working in proximity to their plant. All existing plant must be protected, supported, 

backfilled and compacted to the satisfaction of the plant owner. 

14. The Successful Proponent should adhere to all required backfill and restoration requirements. 

15. The City/Town/Region reserves the right to do any remedial or restoration work that in the opinion 

of the City/Town/Region has not been adequately performed by the Successful Proponent. The 

City/Town/Region will invoice the Successful Proponent for the cost of such remedial or restoration 

work. 

16. The Successful Proponent guarantees and warrants that with ordinary wear and tear the said work 

should for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date of completion, remain in such 

condition and will meet with the approval of the City/Town/Region and that they will, upon being 

required by the Municipal Engineer, make good in a manner satisfactory to the Municipal Engineer 

any imperfections therein due to materials used in the construction thereof or workmanship. 

17. No open cutting of the roadway will be allowed between November 1 to April 15 unless agreed to 

prior by the City/Town/Region. 

18. Door Hanger Notification letters, in accordance with City/Town/Region requirements, must be 

provided to all residences affected by the work. This includes trenchless technologies installing 

utility assets.  

19. The Successful Proponent should file a "Notice of Project" with the Ontario Ministry of Labour prior 

to commencing any work on the road allowance for works exceeding $50,000. A copy of the 

notice should be submitted to the City/Town/Region. 

20. All works should be carried out in compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act times 

and should adhere to the rules and regulations as set out in the Ontario Traffic Manual Book 7. The 

applicant should supply all signs, flashers and barricades required to close lanes and detour traffic 

around the immediate working area. 

21. All trees in the working area should be protected in accordance with the stated requirements of 

the City/Town/Region. 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 77 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

22. A copy of this Road Occupancy Permit, the Conditions of approval and stakeout information 

should be on site at all times. 

23. All work must be in compliance with the Approved Municipal Consent drawings. 

24. The permit holder is encouraged to take pre-construction photos of the entire area within the 

project limits. These must be made available upon request by the City/Town/Region in the event 

that disputes arise regarding responsibility for damages. 

25. All excess material must be removed off-site at the expense of the permit holder. 

 

 

RETURNED BY THE MUNICIPALITY  

Once the Municipality has received and reviewed the Application, the information below should be 

sent back by the Approver. 

 

ROP Permit Number _____________________________ 

Approved by ___________________________________ 

Date of Approval ________________________________ 

Comments _____________________________________ 

Fees Owing $___________________________________ 

Additional Comments ____________________________ 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 78 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Sample Notice of Completion  
 
BACKGROUND 

The Successful Proponent is to submit a Notice of Work Completion followed by As-Built drawings 

detailing any changes from the initial plan 

 

GENERAL 

Date Submitted: ______________________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Name: ____________________________________________________ 

Successful Proponent Phone: ____________________________________________________ 

Work Location (nearest major intersection):  ________________________________________ 

(Individual) Prime Contact Name: ___________________________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________________________________________________ 

Office Phone:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Cell Phone:  ___________________________________________________________________ 

Email: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Fax: __________________________________________________________________________ 

 

TYPE OF WORK COMPLETED 

Indicate each of the items below that have been completed. 

Underground Work _____ 

Aerial Work _____ 

New Installation _____ 

Replace Existing Facilities _____ 

Upgrade Existing Facilities _____ 

Alter Existing Facilities _____ 

Excavation Required ____     Length (m) __________     Width (m) ___________ 

Directional drilling or boring required _____         Length (m) _______________ 

Date of the completion of the work _______________ 

Comments  

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 79 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

PERMIT NUMBERS 

Complete the fields as applicable. 

Municipal Consent Number _______________________ 

LDC Permit Number _____________________________ 

ROP Permit Number _____________________________ 

Approved by ___________________________________ 

Date of Approval ________________________________ 

Comments _____________________________________ 

 

 

RESTORATION DETAILS 

Provide any future required restoration requirements and timing. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 80 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Sample Record of Inspection Form 
 
A “record of inspection” means a record prepared by a professional engineer, ESA, or a qualified 

person identified in the owner’s construction verification program, detailing the inspection of a 

constructed or repaired portion of an electrical distribution system with respect to the safety standards 

set out in section 4 of the Regulation. 

A record of inspection is to include sufficient description to identify the work and equipment 

inspected. A record of inspection can consist of an engineered plan, an as-built drawing, or a set of 

work instructions signed and dated by a professional engineer or ESA or a qualified person. A sample 

Record of Inspection is seen below. 

RECORD OF INSPECTION FOR PLANNED CONSTRUCTION 

Project Name ____________________________________________________________ 

Project Location __________________________________________________________ 

MC Number _____________________________________________________________ 

ROP Number ____________________________________________________________ 

 

INSPECTION TYPE 
COMPLY? COMMENTS or DETAILS OF NON-

COMPLIANCE YES NO 

The approved plan has been followed, and 
construction was completed in accordance 
with the certified design drawings 

   

OR 

Standard designs applied correctly and 
construction completed in accordance with 
certified standard designs 

   

OR 

Like-for-Like or replacement of existing 
construction presents no undue hazard: 

• Metal parts are grounded 

• Live parts are adequately barriered 
or insulated 

• Minimum clearances to buildings, 
signs and grounds are maintained 

• Structure has adequate strength 
(replaced with same or better) 

   

AND 

Approved equipment was used    

 

Name: ____________________________________________ 

Title: _____________________________________________ 

Signature: ________________________________________ 

Date: ____________________________________________ 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 81 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

If a non-compliance is identified, the details should be identified and an action plan stated. 

Additionally, the completion date and verification date should be stated, followed by a Non-

Compliance Correction Inspection. An example is provided below. 

 

Details of Non-Compliance Corrective Action Required 

At Pole P1234, the telecom was installed 0.7m 
lower than shown on the design drawings. 
 

At pole 1234, telecom to be raised to comply 
with the drawings. 
 
Drawing #100-101, Rev 1, Sheet 3 
 
Telecom raised on Sept 22, 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Non-Compliance Correction Inspection 
 
Name: _________________________________________ 
 
Title: __________________________________________ 
 
Signature: ______________________________________ 
 
Date: __________________________________________ 
 
Drawing Number: ______________________________ 
 
 

 

 

All field records from the CVP process should be attached with the Record of Inspection, as well as any 

field records from the Corrective Actions taken. 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 82 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Appendix 2: Further Reducing Complex Make-Ready Work  
 
This Guideline stipulates that unless otherwise agreed to between a Successful Proponent and an LDC, 
designs and construction should be done to CSA standards (or other standards recognized by ESA 
under Regulation 22/04).  Where an LDC requests that designs and construction be done to higher LDC 
specific requirements the LDC may be required to justify its specific requirements to the OEB on the 
grounds that the requirements for attachment are not reasonable.  
 
Examples of these alternative approaches may include: 

22F 

 

Underground Dips 

“Underground Dip” refers to deviating from a contiguous aerial proposed route and “dipping” down a 
pole to transition to a “buried” path for a limited distance until an aerial attachment is again feasible. 
Typically, this “dipping/riser” exercise would take place prior to making a physical attachment to the 
actual pole that requires complex make-ready work. This approach requires the placement of an 
“Anchor & Down Guy” to support the single sided attachment strain being applied to the pole. This 
exercise will need to be repeated at the next pole where a “Riser/Dip” will be placed to transition back 
up the pole and continue the linear aerial proposed route. 
 
 

Temporary Attachments  

• Installation of a horizontal extension arm may allow for the required amount of attachment 
separation (depending on its length – typically 18”). This may, in some instances, temporarily 
create a safe working space until the required amount of space is available.  

• Space crowding entails installing a typical permanent attachment as normal, but at less than the 
required separation. This resolution only works for ISP-related separation (not with power 
separation compliance) and can possibly impact the pole’s structure by having holes through 
the pole less than 12” apart. However, this structural concern may not be an issue if the pole is 
being replaced to resolve a complex make-ready issue. Another concern is if a splice enclosure 
proposed, if so, rubbing can occur and ultimately cause damage to the ISP. 

• Pole boxing allows for the new attachment to be placed on the opposite side of the pole from 
which all other attachments were installed. This is only feasible in the event that the pole needs 
to be replaced and at the time of replacement the new pole is placed in a position where the 
“boxing event” can be remedied without cutting the cable. Typically this approach needs to be 
executed near a road with clear, unobstructed access. 

 
  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 83 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

 

Appendix 3: Broadband One Window  
 
Broadband One Window (BOW) Platform 
 
Broadband projects can be extremely complex undertakings in the absence of efficient coordination 
and collaboration between the many infrastructure parties involved including ISPs.These stakeholders 
are responsible for a myriad of coordination processes designed to ensure matters such as public safety, 
permitting, and approvals. In order to be effective, the coordination processes require cooperation from 
all parties under predictable conditions, with timely and pertinent information sharing. 
 
The Broadband One Window (BOW) platform is a combination of: 
 

• a Geographic Information System (GIS) platform 

• a Utility Coordination Dashboard (UCD) 

• a Utility Infrastructure Repository (UIR) 

• a Corridor Management System (CMS) 

• an Electronic Document Management System (EDMS) 

The BOW was designed to support the design, procurement, construction and management of 
provincially funded projects through enhanced information sharing, process coordination and 
monitoring. 
 
The BOW uses web-based software platforms applying the capabilities of Microsoft Power BI for 
reporting and analysis, Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI) ArcGIS for spatial and mapping 
information and Jira for case (ticket) management.  
 
The UCD component provides a streamlined, integrated approach to project management, 
performance tracking and case management. It also provides scalable and flexible business intelligence, 
enablement and visualization capability for the broadband program.  
 
The UIR component collects infrastructure data required to support the completion of provincially 
funded project, enables proactive decision making, provides a repository for the data and a framework 
for sharing, viewing and accessing the data. In addition, the UIR has the ability to expand to include all  
future broadband projects regardless of the build type. 
 
The CMS is to help local governments and utilities manage public capital assets. 
 
The EDMS supports broadband infrastructure by adding spatially enabled joint-use management 
software to manage telecommunications equipment attachments on LDC poles to assist agencies in 
improving their communications, streamlining workflows, and tracking historical work data. 
 
The BOW platform allows the IO, in consultation with any project stakeholder, to review the impact(s) of 
any application or project activity. Early identification of issues at the planning stage for the project and 
the continuous updating would eliminate some of the issues and delays that are seen today. 
 
In summary, the BOW would be a portal for all infrastructure owners to integrate, standardize and 
streamline project implementation, project management, performance tracking and real-time project 
status with the goal of expediting the installation of additional infrastructure to adequately provide 
broadband services to the Province of Ontario. Ultimately, the BOW would be able to: 
 
• Receive applications to obtain utility infrastructure data 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 84 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

• Standardize the application and processing activities for permits and authorizations 
• Present live key project KPIs 
• Standardize project tracking processes 
 
The BOW would increase certainty and predictability and ultimately provide the capability to support 
smaller municipalities and smaller LDCs to meet their project delivery for the provincially funded 
initiative. BOW access would be available to all stakeholders in provincially funded projects but limited 
to their specific assigned projects and activities. As such, ISPs would only see content and data relevant 
to their projects, municipalities would only see projects within their border and LDCs would only see 
projects within their licensed service area.  
 
Interoperability is possible in two ways: (1) real-time integration with ArcGIS Online or (2) Nightly batch 
updates/extractions. In both cases each organization would cover its respective costs. Organizations 
with existing platforms may seek applicable arrangements through IO who would determine a feasible 
approach as appropriate.  
 

Mapping & Geographic Information Systems (GIS) 
 
Geospatial data, or data with a geographic component, combines locational, attribute and temporal 
information that is collected through geospatial mapping. The technique of geospatial mapping uses 
software to analyze data about geographical or terrestrial databases through the use of a GIS. These are 
programs, or a combination of programs, that work together to help users effectively display geospatial 
data through management, manipulation, customization, analysis and creation of visual displays.  
 
Geospatial data are most useful when they can be discovered, shared and used, which is one capability 
of the BOW process while maintaining the security and confidentiality of sensitive information pertaining 
to critical infrastructure. Geospatial-enabled data provides visual insight into project and program status, 
various subsurface utility engineering (SUE) quality levels, major milestones of each unique project and 
identifies risks and conflicts at a program level. By implementing this functionality through the BOW 
platform, geospatial data enable users to convey information in location-based analytics using intuitive 
and interactive data visualization to make informed decisions, visualize trends, and monitor status in real 
time.  
 
The acquisition, integration and consolidation of geospatial data sources from multiple parties and 
infrastructure sources in one central location on the BOW platform would provide easy access, 
transparency and enhancement of project information. This would result in a streamlined process for 
decision making, route selection and determination on the option to select underground or 
aboveground locations for broadband infrastructure placement, which would assist in expediting the 
installation of additional infrastructure to adequately provide broadband services across the Province of 
Ontario. 
 
All parties submitting drawings of buried infrastructure should follow the requirements outlined in the 
American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) 38-02, ASCE 75 orCSA S250 for all submitted information to 
IO. The ASCE 38-02, ASCE 75 is generally two-dimensional data focused and CSA S250 is a more 
modern quality standard which reflects modern technical developments to specify accuracy in three-
dimensional data collection. 
 

Application Submission Requirements – CSA S250, ASCE 38-02 or ASCE 75 
 
In 2002, the ASCE published the ASCE 38-02, “Standard Guideline for the Collection and Depiction of 
Existing Subsurface Utility Data” document, outlining a credible system to classify quality of utility 
location information in design plans. The standard defines SUE requirements and sets out guidance for 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 85 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

the collection and depiction of subsurface utility information. ASCE 38-02 sets out guidelines for how to 
qualify the accuracy of mapping existing infrastructure and relay information to a drawing. 
 
All submitted existing subsurface utility information on engineered drawings and designs should meet 
or exceed the system requirements outlined in ASCE 38-02 and ASCE 75, to ensure alignment in SUE 
information provided in the BOW Application and to result in better designs, enhance damage 
prevention efforts and develop strategies to reduce risk by improving the reliability of information. 23F 
 
The standard defines four quality levels outlining methods used to determine the location of 
underground assets: Quality Level A, Quality Level B, Quality Level C and Quality Level D. Refer to Figure 
1 and Table 1. 

 

Figure 3: Four SUE Levels 

Table 1: SUE Levels 

Level D: 
 

Utility records are requested, researched by the utility, marked-up and returned to the 
requester. 

Level C: 
 

Using surface surveying techniques, above ground features of subsurface utilities are 
identified and recorded.  

Level B: 
 

Using surface geophysical equipment and techniques, subsurface utilities are 
determined and are associated with the horizontal position on the ground surface. 

Level A: 
 

Where existing records of underground site conditions may be incorrect, incomplete or 
have multiple cables buried over several years, SUE Level A allows the physical discovery 
of buried cables. This is a large contributor to avoiding conflicts. Exposing and recording 
the size and configuration of a subsurface utility, and it's precise vertical and horizontal 
location is crucial. Using subsurface geophysical equipment and techniques, subsurface 
utilities are determined and recorded in three dimensions and are associated with the 
horizontal position on the ground surface. 

 

The basic deliverable for utility information is in Computer Aided Design (CAD) file format or a plan 
sheet that assigns quality levels A, B, C or D to each asset. Quality level A data typically requires a 
supplemental data form for additional information. 
 
In 2011, the Canadian Standard Association (CSA) published “Mapping of Underground Utility 
Infrastructure”, CSA S250. This standard defines SUE and sets guidance for the collection and depiction 
of subsurface utility information. CSA S250 sets out requirements for classifying and specifying the 
accuracy of mapping records for newly installed or exposed infrastructure.   
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 86 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

The CSA S250 requires a finer degree of accuracy for detailing and defining the positional location of 
the infrastructure that correlates to better-defined reliability in accuracy of records. It is a more modern 
quality standard that reflects new, modern technical developments specify accuracy in 3D. The CSA 
S250 serves as an additional standard to complement, rather than replace, ASCE 75. 
 
The standard defines six levels of accuracy for recording the location of underground infrastructure 
when infrastructure has been exposed either by potholing or excavation: Record accuracy level 0, 
Record accuracy level 1, Record accuracy level 2, Record accuracy level 3, Record accuracy level 4, and 
Record accuracy level 5. 
 
All submitted mapping records should meet or exceed the guidelines defined in the CSA S250, to 
streamline data sharing and accurately record the presence and location of utility infrastructure. The 
standard encourages a managed systems approach to mapping and record keeping by establishing: 
 

 Governance for utility infrastructure records management and mapping 
 Procedures to improve mapping accuracy 
 Uniform format for utility feature descriptions 
 Processes for notification of GIS errors and practices when sharing data 

 
Use of the BOW Platform in Provincially Funded Projects 
 
Post commercial close, the IO’s role would focus on using the BOW platform to report on project 
success through the following metrics: 

• Administration and tracking of projects 
This view enables users to have a clear overview of the projects that have been initiated across 
the Province. This can be viewed by area, lot, ISP or other data filters that users require. 

• Monitoring of Contracts 
This view enables users to have a clear overview of the project’s contract status across the 
Province. The display can be selected to include items such as contract start date, terms of 
contract, amount of contract, ISP, length of main lines, the number of premises included in the 
contract or other data that users require. 

• Issuance of Subsidy Payments 
This view enables users to have a clear overview of the project’s subsidies supplied to the ISPs, 
and can be viewed by ISP, area, lot, by value of subsidies or other data filters that users require. 

• Visualization of Ongoing Projects 
This view enables users to have a clear overview of the project’s conflicts across the Province, 
by ISP, with several levels such as: 

27F 
 

o Contract status 
o Main line and segment build locations 
o Area map by ISP 
o Ongoing sue work status or other essential details 
o The completion percentage of construction by area, by ISP, by project or other 

combinations 
o An indication of the number of safety related incidents across all projects (near misses, 

days without incidents, number of incidents, days lost to injuries) 
o An overall indication of the risk status (on track, at risk) for timely completion 

 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 87 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

• Coordination between Stakeholders 
This view enables users to have a clear overview of the project owners, infrastructure owners 
and the status of upcoming projects that require coordination. 

• Dispute Management 
This view enables users to have a clear visual overview of the number of existing unresolved 
disputes across the Province by various filters such as contract, segment, component and LDC.   

• Accomplishment Reporting 
This view enables users to visually determine the accomplishments at various stages of the 
project, including:  

o Number of existing projects across the Province by date started and date completed 
o Number of projects completed ahead of schedule 
o The performance of each LDC involved 
o Variances for cost and schedule 
o The actual expenditure of the project compared to its budget  
o Any other essential indicators 

 

Provincially Funded Project Stakeholders 
 
All ISPs undertaking provincially funded projects are strongly encouraged to use the BOW platform for 
end-to-end project submissions, coordination and completion to limit project delays and conflicts. The 
mechanisms established within this Guideline and the dispute mediation support from IO are available 
to participants who use BOW. 

In addition, BOW would provide insight into the Lots for ISPs and would open that data up to 
municipalities and LDCs after the Successful Proponent is awarded. BOW would notify municipalities 
and LDCs of the awards and the targeted addresses and proposed construction approach to open the 
avenue for early consultations. 

29F 

The BOW Platform would provide approved stakeholders with processes and tools that would spatially: 

• Track markup circulation requests. All users would have the ability to centrally request pre-
engineering markups for all associated utilities through a spatial interface. All stakeholders 
would have the ability to track the progress of all requests. 

• Track municipal consent and road occupancy permits requests. ISPs and utilities would have 
the ability to track the progress of all requests. 

• Track joint use applications to LDCs.  

The BOW Platform would provide users with data in the following two ways: 
 

• Spatially Linked: Metrics captured and aggregated and exported to a non-spatial format which 
can be displayed and interacted with.  

• Spatially Driven: Metrics or KPI’s which are directly driven based on location. These can be 
dynamically driven based on the spatial limits. 

Furthermore, the BOW platform would be a portal to the One-Touch Make-Ready scheme and capture 
LDC, municipal and MTO Public Service Commitments (PSC) as well as stakeholder coordination and 
activities. The BOW Platform would provide users with several key benefits including: 
 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 88 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

• A single source of accuracy for information related to the project (managing security, privacy, 
and storage methods) 

• A common platform for spatial data (managing the collection, conversion and cleansing of 
data sets) 

• Enhanced transparency with respect to reporting 
• Customizable analysis and reporting (using complex methods and analytical capability through 

tools to predict current and future performance of LDC relocations) 
• Enhanced document management 
• Tracking submission and approval management (managing and tracking submissions, actions 

and approvals incidents and linking it back to KPIs and continuous improvement) 
• A single location to obtain project metrics, KPIs, project information, LDC collaboration and 

data 
• Reducing resource constraints by applying technology 
• Program management consolidation that brings the project into a streamlined process 

 

  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 89 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Appendix 4: Ontario One Call - Streamlining locates for 
Provincially Funded Projects 
 
Ontario Underground Infrastructure Notification System (One Call) Act, 2012 
 
In 2012, Ontario passed the Ontario Underground Infrastructure Notification System Act (One Call Act) 
centralizing the utility locate system in Ontario under Ontario One Call. Utility location requests 
(“locate requests”) are requests made by an excavator working on behalf of the company constructing 
in the ROW. Locate requests are submitted by the excavator to Ontario One Call who, in turn, request 
owners or operators of underground infrastructure (e.g., municipal water and wastewater pipes, 
natural gas pipelines, telecom fibre and electricity wires) to identify in the field the location of their 
buried assets so that the excavator can avoid damaging them while working in that area. Under the 
One Call Act, utility owners are required to make all reasonable attempts to respond to a locate 
request with accurate markings in the field in five business days turnaround time, with certain 
exceptions. 
 
To reduce project risk resulting from unforeseen costs and delays posed by the late delivery of locates, 
the SBIEA set a firm delivery timeline of ten business days for provincially funded projects. While the 
SBIEA did not set out a new process or any additional changes for requesting locates, this Guideline 
proposes changes to the utility locate system to mitigate current risks of late and inaccurate locates, an 
issue raised by stakeholders throughout the stakeholder consultation process. This Guideline also 
recommends that ISPs undertaking provincially funded projects use the Dedicated Locator Model 
described below.  
 
Standard Locate Request Process 30F 
 
In response to locate requests, which may only be requested when a permit has been issued, 
infrastructure owners must also provide readily available information regarding the operator’s 
abandoned and out-of-service underground facilities as shown on maps, drawings, diagrams, or other 
records used in the operator’s normal course of business, without cost to the ISP. Prior to the 
excavation start time on the notice, an owner or operator of underground infrastructure should locate 
and mark or otherwise provide the approximate horizontal location of the underground facilities of the 
underground infrastructure. The ISP should determine the location of the underground facility without 
damage using the field locates provided, before excavating within one meter of the marked location of 
the underground facility. 
 
Within 10 business days after receiving a notice for boundary survey from One Call (excluding 
Saturdays, Sundays and holidays, unless otherwise agreed to between the locator and operator), or 
the time specified in the notice (whichever is later), an owner or operator of underground 
infrastructure should locate and mark or otherwise provide the approximate horizontal location of the 
underground facilities of the operator, without cost to the ISP. 
 
For the purposes of this section, the approximate horizontal location of the underground facilities is a 
strip of land 1 meter on either side of the underground facilities. The markers used to designate the 
approximate horizontal location of underground facilities must be using paint or a flag(s) that follow 
the current colour code standard used by One Call. If the operator cannot complete marking of the 
excavation or boundary survey area within the established PT, the operator should promptly contact 
the excavator or land surveyor. 
 
An owner of underground infrastructure who provides information to a person who is not a unit of 
government may indicate any portions of the information which are proprietary and may require the 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 90 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Successful Proponent to provide appropriate confidentiality protection. The information obtained from 
affected owners or operators of underground infrastructure must include records identified in this 
Guideline and in document CI/ASCE 75, entitled “Standard Guidelines for the Collection and 
Depiction of Existing Subsurface Utility Data” and must depict the utility quality level of that 
information. 
 
 
 

Dedicated Locator Model  
 
To enhance the efficiency of the locates process, Successful Proponents are encouraged to use a 
Dedicated Locator. Under a Dedicated Locator Model, a single locator is contracted (in this case by the 
Successful Proponent) to locate underground infrastructure on behalf of all infrastructure owners. Such 
a model provides the Successful Proponent with control over the timing of the locates. In addition, 
under a Dedicated Locator Model, the cost of the locate is borne by the Successful Proponent and not 
the individual infrastructure owners. 
 
The Dedicated Locator Model has been successful on large-scale projects across Ontario and the 
industry at large and had strong support through the Guideline consultations. 
 
Ontario One Call has outlined the following benefits of a Dedicated Locator Model 33F

8:  
 

• Enhanced efficiency 
• Reduced downtime as the locates are completed under the direction of the ISP 
• Promotion of damage prevention and safer excavation practices 
• Increased control: allows ISPs to get locates when, where and as often as their project requires 
• Better flexibility when unanticipated conflicts require project changes 
• Potential to reduce reliance and burden on regular pool of public locate service providers who 

are also expected to complete standard locates requests for homeowners and less complex 
tickets 
 

Setting up a Dedicated Locator 
 
As is currently the case, the cost of the Dedicated Locator will be borne by the ISP; accordingly, in the 
case of a bid in the reverse auction, IO expects that ISPs adopting a dedicated locator model would 
include the anticipated costs within their auction bid. Dedicated Locators must be certified by all 
infrastructure owners (gas, hydro, ISPs, municipalities) with infrastructure in a provincially funded 
project area. To reduce undue certification processes, Successful Proponents are encouraged to select 
from the pre-existing certified pool of dedicated locators in regions with existing available resources. 
In regions that currently do not deploy dedicator locators, ISPs will need work with the underground 
infrastructure owners to certify a Dedicated Locator. Through the stakeholder consultation process, IO 
learned that this is not an onerous undertaking. Once the Dedicated Locator is established, the 
Successful Proponent will set up a profile for the newly certified Dedicated Locator with Ontario One 
Call noting that the Dedicated Locator will conduct locate requests on their behalf for all their 
provincially funded projects. 34 
 
Additional Considerations 
 
The use of the Dedicated Locator model will ensure a number of benefits and promote overall project 
efficiency. However, the following additional considerations should be taken to ensure that locates for 
provincially funded projects are not delayed:  

 
8 Ontario One Call, Dedicated Locator. https://www.ontarioonecall.ca/wp-content/uploads/DedicatedLocator.pdf 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 91 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

• Successful Proponents should ensure that the timing and input of locate requests are for the 
areas necessary for the project phase as opposed to blanket requests covering the span of the 
entire project area. This will reduce the backlog in the locates system and ensure that locates 
do not expire prior to the start of construction in the identified area. Locates for the provincially 
funded projects have a maximum locate ‘block’ of no more than 10 premises or 150m, 
whichever is the greater. 

• Dedicated Locators must be registered with Ontario One Call with an indicator on file noting 
that they will be serving provincially funded projects. 

• IO is working with Ontario One Call to ensure that all locate requests for the provincially 
funded projects be uniquely identified as provincially funded project locates to be prioritized 
by infrastructure owners and One Call (dispatching the requests) where a Dedicated Locator is 
not deployed.  

 

Locates Liability and Penalty Scheme 
 
While it is expected that most Successful Proponents will avail themselves of Dedicated Locators, the 
Guideline provides safeguards for those choosing to proceed with individual infrastructure owner 
locators. Pay for delay and pay for redesign provisions prescribed in regulation under the BBFA. 
provide Successful Proponents with recourse before the OLT for delayed and/or inaccurate locates 
that result in delays to a provincially funded project. 
 
The Ontario Land Tribunal, is an independent, quasi-judicial administrative tribunal with jurisdiction 
that including hearings and deciding appeals in relation to a broad range of planning and 
development issues, municipal governance and other matters.  Under the SBIEA, the OLT may 
adjudicate matters related to the BBFA. The Act sets out who is eligible to make an appeal to the OLT 
and the procedures that must be followed to do so. Information regarding the OLT appeals process is 
available on the Ontario Land Tribunal’s website and may be accessed here: Forms - Tribunals Ontario 
- Environment & Land Division (gov.on.ca). 
 
Pay-for-Delay 
 
Successful Proponents can make a claim for damages should locates be unreasonably delayed beyond 
the ten-day legislated PT. Any such delay also puts a burden on other infrastructure owners that 
provided their locates within the 10-business day PT as the current locates provided expire. In this 
event, the infrastructure owners who responded in a timely fashion must now redeploy their locates 
team to the field at additional costs to complete the second locate. As such, an ISP may bring a claim 
against an infrastructure owner who caused a delay which resulted in a significant impact on their 
provincially funded project’s timelines or cost.  
 
The claims for the pay-for-delay penalty scheme will be adjudicated through the OLT, and must not be 
arbitrated by One Call.  
 
Pay-for-Redesign 
 
Successful Proponents can make a claim for damages should infrastructure owners provide inaccurate 
locates that result in the need for redesign.  It is recognized that there will be instances of error in 
records and separation of what’s built and what is maintained in the asset management registry of 
infrastructure owners. The objective of this penalty scheme is to target asset owners who repeatedly 
fail to update their records and mis-locate their asset despite prior notification and/or repeat 
incidences.  
 
The claims for the pay-for-redesign penalty scheme may be sought at the OLT. However, they must not 
be arbitrated by One Call.  

https://olt.gov.on.ca/appeals-process/forms/
https://olt.gov.on.ca/appeals-process/forms/


 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 92 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Glossary  
 

3G: The term for the 3rd generation wireless telecommunications standards usually with network 
speeds of less than 1 Mbps 

4G: The term for 4th generation wireless telecommunications standards usually with network speeds 
greater than 1 Mbps 

5G: The term for emerging 5th generation wireless telecommunications standards usually associated 
with network speeds of up to 1 Gpbs or more 

Aerial Route: Deployment of broadband infrastructure by means of attachment to above ground 
support structures such as LDC-owned poles 

Anchor: A device that supports and holds in place conductors when they are terminated at a pole or 
structure 

As-built drawings: As-built drawings are prepared based on information gathered during 
construction or fabrication by someone other than a practitioner or someone under their supervision. 
Often, the information is provided by the contractor in the form of red-line mark-ups of the design 
drawings. If a practitioner then proceeds to revise the design documents to incorporate the red-line 
mark-ups, these documents should be clearly marked as “As-Built Documents” and not sealed 

Attacher: An entity that will attach or have attached its cable / fibre to a pole owned / controlled by an 
LDC. Attachers are ISPs who will have third-party attachments. 

Attachment: A single connection of the attacher’s equipment to the support structure that has a direct 
or indirect influence on the performance, appearance, and safety of the support structure or the 
structure owner’s ability to access and maintain it. The attacher may have multiple attachments to a 
support structure (such as an LDC-owned pole).  

Bandwidth: The capability of telecommunications and internet networks to transmit data and signals 

Bilateral Aerial Structure: Pole line on both sides of a roadway 

Broadband: The term broadband commonly refers to high-speed internet access that is always on and 
faster than traditional dial-up access. Broadband includes several high-speed transmission 
technologies, such as fiber, wireless, satellite, digital subscriber line and cable. The CRTC defines 
universal service objective as having access to actual download speeds of at least 50 Mbps and actual 
upload speeds of at least 10 Mbps 

BBFA: Building Broadband Faster Act, 2021; the BBFA creates a suite of new legislative measures that 
will streamline project set-up and delivery as it pertains to planning and installing essential broadband 
infrastructure and services 

Business Day (or Days): Means a day from Monday to Friday, other than a holiday as defined in 
section 87 of the Legislation Act, 2006 

Designated Broadband Project: As prescribed under regulation under the Building Broadband 
Faster Act, 2021, every broadband project where funding, in full or in part, has been provided through 
the Ministry of Infrastructure for the purposes of deploying broadband and high-speed internet 
infrastructure in Ontario is a designated broadband project for the purposes of the Act.  



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 93 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Designated Broadband Project Stakeholders: Proponents, distributors, transmitters, municipalities, 
members of Ontario One Call, any other person with infrastructure within a right-of-way for a 
Designated Broadband Project and any other person whose cooperation is required to carry out a 
Designated Broadband Project. 

Design Load: The actual, expected load or loads that a device or structure will support in service  

Electronic Scoring Reverse Auction (ESRA): The ESRA is an auction structure that allows the Province 
to assign scores to ISPs based on price and other well-defined non-price attributes in their proposals. 
This structure offers the Province the flexibility to highlight specific policy objectives based on the 
weights used for various attributes. 

Encroachment Permit: Required by MTO to perform work within a highway corridor 

Fiber (also referred to as Fiber Strand): A flexible hair-thin glass or plastic strand that is capable of 
transmitting large amounts of data at high transfer rates as pulses or waves of light 

Fixed Wireless Broadband Access: The use of wireless devices/systems in connecting two fixed 
locations, such as offices or homes. The connections occur through the air, rather than through fiber, 
resulting in a less expensive alternative to a fiber connection.  

Fixed Wireline Attachment: A "Fixed Wireline Attachment", for the AHSIP program, is a high-speed 
physical attachment of facilities (fibre optic cable(s) and fibre-optic splice closures) capable of 
delivering internet access services at prescribed minimum speeds. These facilities are attached to a 
pole owned by others and must be installed and maintained in compliance with regulations, standards 
and owner's safety practices such that all parties have access to their facilities and no worker or public 
safety issues exist. 

Ground: An electrical term meaning to connect to the earth 

Ground Fault: An undesired current path between ground and an electrical potential 

Guys/Anchors: Support structures to balance loading on bisect and dead-end poles 

Improving Connectivity for Ontario program (ICON): The ICON program is part of Up to Speed: 
Ontario’s Broadband and Cellular Action Plan, which outlines the strategy to expand access to 
broadband and cellular connectivity in identified areas of need 

Internet Service Provider (ISP): An entity that provides internet connections and services to 
individuals and organizations. Typically, ISPs also provide additional services such as email accounts 
and webhosting. Note the terms ISPs, TSP and WISP refers to the same service providers and can be 
used interchangeably. 

Local Distribution Company (LDC): A local electricity distribution company is a power distribution 
company that is responsible for distributing power from transmission lines to people's homes and 
businesses in an exclusive distribution area and is licensed by the OEB. Also referred to as distributors 
or transmitters. 

Lots: For the purposes of ESRA, the Province is segmented into 49 areas, referred as ‘auction lots’ (or 
lots). This segmentation is done based on census divisions. 

LTE (Long Term Evolution): A 4G wireless broadband technology that provides speeds up to 100 
Mbps download and 30 Mbps upload 



 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 94 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

Make Ready Costs: Costs associated with preparing a LDC pole to receive a new fiber attachment 

Mark-up Circulation: Circulation of preliminary drawings to all parties (e.g., municipalities, LDCs, 
Utilities and other ISPs) that may have infrastructure in the ROW so that they may review and mark any 
conflicts between the proposed running line and their buried assets. 

Materially Insignificant: Any new attachment deemed to immaterially impact structure as outlined in 

ESA’s materially insignificant work – distributor bulletin (: 
https://esasafe.com/assets/files/esasafe/pdf/Utilities/Bulletins/DB-07-15-v2.pdf)  

Minister: Refers to the Minister of Infrastructure or such other members of the Executive Council to 
whom responsibility for the administration of the BBFA is assigned or transferred under the Executive 
Council Act 

Municipal Access Agreement: A Municipal Access Agreement (MAA) is a legal agreement that 
provides companies the ability to construct, maintain, relocate and operate their equipment within 
right-of-ways that are under the jurisdiction of a municipality. It states the roles, responsibilities and 
requirements for both the signatory and the municipality and deals primarily with issues such as 
municipal consent, hazardous substances and materials, road occupancy permits, rights-of-way, costs 
to be carried by municipalities, third party and sub-contractor agreements, service level agreements, 
maintenance and repair responsibilities as well as equipment use and invoicing. 

Municipal Consent (MC): is provided by a municipality for a utility company to occupy a specific 
location within the Municipal rights-of-way. Utility locations and separations have been established for 
various road cross-sections to avoid conflicts in the planning of projects by various utilities occupying 
the rights-of-way and to minimize the impact of proposed work on any adjacent infrastructure. MCs are 
only issued to utility companies, commissions, agencies and private Applicants who have the authority 
to construct, operate and maintain their infrastructure within the right-of-way as established through 
legislation or terms of a Municipal Access Agreement (MAA) where they apply and are approved. An 
MC gives a company permission to install or move facilities and is required when a road needs to be 
excavated. 

Network Infrastructure: The hardware and software components of a network that provide network 
connectivity and allow the network to function 

One Touch: One-touch make-ready policies try to avoid delay and redundancy by having all make-
ready work (such as rearranging several existing attachments) performed at the same time by a single 
crew. 

Ontario Energy Board (OEB): The OEB is Ontario’s independent regulator of the electricity and 
natural gas sectors. Its activities include making rules to protect consumers, setting rates, and licensing 
all participants in the electricity sector including the Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO), 
generators, transmitters, distributors, wholesalers and electricity retailers, as well as natural gas 
marketers who sell to low volume customers. 

Overlashing: Overlashing is the practice of attaching an additional fibre optic cable over an existing 
aerially deployed fibre optic cable attached to a LDC pole 

Performance Timelines: standard timelines allotted to Designated Broadband Project Stakeholders, 
particularly LDCs, municipalities and members of Ontario One Call that must be adhered to in the 
provision of access to  

Positive Deviation: The process of removing an existing cable and replacing with cable of lesser 

https://esasafe.com/assets/files/esasafe/pdf/Utilities/Bulletins/DB-07-15-v2.pdf


 Building Broadband Faster in Ontario 

 Page 95 v.1.23   November 30, 2021 

weight or smaller diameter, thereby positively impacting the load characteristics  

Professional Engineer: a person who holds a licence or temporary licence under the Professional 
Engineers Act (Ontario Regulation 22/04) 

Rights-of-Way (ROW): ROW are legal rights to pass through property owned by another. ROW are 
frequently used to secure access to land for digging trenches, deploying fiber, constructing towers 
and deploying equipment on existing towers and LDC poles. 

Road Occupancy Permit (ROP): A Road Occupancy Permit is required by some municipalities when 
working within the municipal right-of-way. Activities that require a road occupancy permit include 
temporary lane closures or construction related road closures, mobile crane work, temporary 
scaffolding or hoarding, crossing the boulevard for temporary construction site access, disposal bins 
located in the roadway or public laneway, storage of materials and equipment located in the roadway 
or public laneway, workers on the road or the blockage of sidewalks. Some municipalities may not 
require this permit and need only to be notified. 

Service Area: The entire area within which a service provider either offers or intends to offer 
broadband service 

Southwestern Integrated Fibre Technology (SWIFT) Project: A non-profit municipally led 
broadband expansion project created to improve internet connectivity in underserved communities 
and rural areas across Southwestern Ontario. 

Strand: Braided steel wire that supports Bell cable (copper or fibre) 10M (larger) or 6M (smaller) 

Subsurface Utility Engineering (SUE): Subsurface Utility Engineering (SUE) is an engineering 
discipline that involves the investigation of buried utilities and identifies the conflicts they may pose to 
a project design in order to mitigate associated risks. 

Successful Proponent: An ISP that entered into the Project Agreement with the Government of 
Ontario to carry out a provincially funded project in a Service Area.    

Telecommunications Service Providers (Telecom): A entity that has traditionally provided 
telecommunication services. However, for the purposes of this Guideline, Telecom is used 
synonymously and interchangeably with ISP.  

Utility: a utility (or “public utility as defined in the Public Utilities Corporation Act, 1990) means any 
water works, gas works, electric heat, light or power works, telegraph and telephone lines, railways 
however operated, street railways and works for the transmission of gas, oil, water or electrical power 
or energy, or any similar works supplying the general public with necessaries or conveniences. 

 



 
Ministry of Infrastructure 
 
Broadband Strategy Division 
 
 
777 Bay Street, 4th Floor, Suite 425 
Toronto, Ontario  M5G 2E5 
 

 

 
Ministère de l’Infrastructure 
 
Division des stratégies pour l'accès à large 
bande 
 
777, rue Bay, 4 étage, Suite 425 

Toronto (Ontario)  M5G 2E5 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO:  Municipal CAOs 
     
FROM:    Jill Vienneau 
    Assistant Deputy Minister 
    Broadband Strategy Division 
 
DATE:    December 1, 2021 
 
RE:     Building Broadband Faster Act Guideline and Regulations 
 

 
As you may be aware, the Ontario government has committed to ensuring that 
communities across Ontario have access to high-speed internet by 2025 and has 
committed nearly $4 billion funding-based opportunities for unserved and underserved 
communities. 
 
On September 9, 2021, the Government also launched a new innovative and 
competitive process which will enable qualified ISPs to bid for opportunities to provide 
high-speed internet access to remaining underserved and unserved communities 
across the province by the end of 2025. This process is now well underway and is being 
led by Infrastructure Ontario. 

 
In April 2021, the Government of Ontario enacted the Building Broadband Faster Act, 

2021 (BBFA) along with amendments to the Ontario Energy Board Act through the 

passage of the Supporting Broadband and Infrastructure Expansion Act, 2021 (SBIEA). 

The BBFA will help to remove barriers and support a more streamlined approach to the 

timely deployment of reliable, high-speed broadband infrastructure in unserved and 

underserved areas throughout Ontario. 

On November 30, 2021, the Ministry of Infrastructure and Infrastructure Ontario issued 

the Building Broadband Faster Act Guideline (Guideline), and two BBFA 

regulations (“Prescribed Loss or Expense” and “Designated Broadband 

Projects”), effective as of that date.  

The Guideline and regulations support a new, more coordinated process and set out the 

collaboration expected of all partners, including municipalities, to reduce barriers and 

expedite deployment of broadband infrastructure. We will also put in place a Technical 

Assistance Team to provide implementation support to municipalities and other partners 

involved in high-speed internet projects. 



The government has also proposed future legislative and regulatory amendments, as 

explained in the Statement of Intent (included in the Guideline). The Ministry is actively 

consulting on the proposed legislative measures, including with the Association of 

Municipalities of Ontario (AMO), before bringing forward amendments. If passed, these 

additional measures would provide greater certainty, and ensure the successful 

implementation of broadband projects. 

The Ministry will be hosting a webinar in early 2022 on the Statement of Intent and 

Guideline. Further information will be provided in the coming weeks, including an 

invitation to you and/or your representative to participate. 

Thank you for your support and should you have any questions, please do not hesitate 

to contact the Ministry. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

Original signed by 

Jill Vienneau 

 

Attachment: Building Broadband Faster in Ontario Guideline 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 



1

Tiana Mills

To: Kathy McDonald
Subject: RE: H&M COFI Regional Broadband Project Update

From: Georges Bilodeau  
Sent: Monday, December 13, 2021 5:20 PM 
Subject: H&M COFI Regional Broadband Project Update 
 

 
H&M COFI  

HURON SHORE AND MANITOULIN ISLAND COMMUNITY OWNED FIBRE INFRASTRUCTURE  
 
  
Re: Project Update, December 2021:   
  
As you know, on August 6, 2021, our project was announced by the federal Universal Broadband Fund (UBF) 
and the Ontario Internet Connectivity (ICON) program. Shortly after the announcement, the federal election 
was called, and progress was put on hold during this period. Since the election, we have been working on the 
project with both levels of government and are finalizing contract requirements with funding agencies. We 
expect this to close by March 2022.  
  
With construction slated to start in Spring 2022, we would like to clarify a few key details:  

 The project will provide Fibre to the Home (FTTH) high-speed internet to all underserved homes, 
businesses, and institutions in the region. The underserved areas are determined by the government 
agencies overseeing the project.  

 The project will bring economic opportunity to the region through broadband connectivity.  
 Internet services will be provided not by H&M COFI, but through multiple Internet Service Providers 

(ISP), operating on the H&M COFI network, offering competitive rates for all customers.  

  
We would also like to take a moment to clarify that our Community Investment Model is entirely optional. 
Communities and interested individuals can invest in the project, but investing is NOT A REQUIREMENT to 
receiving access to the broadband network. We are working with ROCK Networks, an end-to-end 
communications systems integrator, and Tapestry Community Capital (TCC), a non-profit providing a full-
service solution to unlocking impact investments, to move the project forward. With guidance from TCC, we 
will be discussing the investment opportunities with communities and individuals in the coming months. 
Again, we would like to emphasize that investing is not a requirement to receive access to the network but 
simply an opportunity for communities to hold an equity stake or community bonds in the project if they 
choose.  
  
We are very excited by the transformational benefits that this project will bring to our region and look 
forward to working with all of you to move it forward. For more information, please feel free to visit the H&M 
COFI website at www.hmcofi.ca or contact us at info@hmcofi.com.   



2

  
Regards,  
  
Georges Bilodeau  
H&M COFI Chair   
 



M U N I C I P A L    F I N A N C I A L    P R O F I L E S
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 2020 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2020 Households: 280 Median Household Income (2016) : 
*4

MSO Office: Northeast Last Updated: July 28, 2021 2020 Population: 603 2021 Annual Repayment Limit:

Prepared By: 2021 MFCI Index: *8 6.9 Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:

S T A T I S T I C A L    I N F O R M A T I O N

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

20/19 % 19/18 % 18/17 % 17/16 %

Population 
*3 502                         603                         605                         605                         603                         537                         37,292                    -0.3% 0.0% 0.3% 20.1%

Households 
*3 318                         278                         731                         731                         280                         467                         15,081                    -61.7% 0.0% 162.9% -12.6%

Municipal Expenses *7 2,649,807$              2,935,307$              3,043,837$              3,244,867$              3,109,125$              2,161,439$              117,505,824$           -4.2% 6.6% 3.7% 10.8%

Own Source Revenues 2,146,559$              2,352,207$              2,421,812$              2,564,548$              2,542,249$              1,642,543$              96,080,859$            -0.9% 5.9% 3.0% 9.6%

Own Source Revenue per Household 6,750$                    8,461$                    3,313$                    3,508$                    9,079$                    3,926$                    3,634$                    158.8% 5.9% -60.8% 25.3%

Own Source Revenue as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) 73.0% 71.3% 69.8% 64.5% 48.2% 63.6% 73.2% -25.3% -7.5% -2.2% -2.3%

Total Revenues 2,940,535$              3,296,857$              3,471,899$              3,973,881$              5,272,900$              2,621,944$              141,245,279$           32.7% 14.5% 5.3% 12.1%

Annual Repayment Limit 517,804$                 460,735$                 581,247$                 632,923$                 654,894$                 400,981$                 18,624,098$            3.5% 8.9% 26.2% -11.0%

Own Purpose Taxation 1,532,519$              1,620,707$              1,712,114$              1,774,010$              1,879,388$              1,238,994$              56,846,814$            5.9% 3.6% 5.6% 5.8%

Direct Water Billings as % of Gross Water Expenditures 61.4% 65.3% 68.2% 62.6% 63.6% 23.3% 65.7%

Taxable Res. Assessment as a % of Total Taxable Assessment 97.3% 96.9% 96.6% 96.2% 95.5% 77.6% 78.6%

D I S C O U N T E D    W E I G H T E D    A S S E S S M E N T  
*1 

  (Source: Financial Information Return)

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

Taxable 162,664,538            159,326,112            163,101,058            167,214,448            172,454,250            134,826,494            8,410,518,088         

PIL 959,000                  905,605                  959,000                  995,300                  974,100                  4,663,960                110,534,669            

Total 163,623,538            160,231,717            164,060,058            168,209,748            173,428,350            139,490,454            8,521,052,758         

68,779                     

4,691,191                 

667,920                   

Printed: 11/29/2021

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

1 of 10



M U N I C I P A L    F I N A N C I A L    P R O F I L E S
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 2020 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2020 Households: 280 Median Household Income (2016) : 
*4

MSO Office: Northeast Last Updated: July 28, 2021 2020 Population: 603 2021 Annual Repayment Limit:

Prepared By: 2021 MFCI Index: *8 6.9 Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:

68,779                     

4,691,191                 

667,920                   

R E S I D E N T I A L    T A X E S

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

20/19 % 19/18 % 18/17 % 17/16 %

# of Residential Households 714                         718                         720                         729                         741                         465                         11,595                    1.6% 1.3% 0.3% 0.6%

Avg Municipal Property Taxes Per Avg Residential Household 1,741$                    1,824$                    1,890$                    1,942$                    2,016$                    1,722$                    2,477$                    3.8% 2.7% 3.7% 4.8%

Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Residential Household 2,088$                    2,145$                    2,201$                    2,240$                    2,302$                    1,957$                    2,861$                    2.8% 1.8% 2.6% 2.7%

Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Residential Household

as a % of Median Household Income (Tax Effort) 3.0% 3.1% 3.2% 3.3% 3.3% 3.1% 4.3%

# of Residential Households Excluding Recreational Properties (Excl. RDUs) 324                         327                         327                         336                         347                         269                         11,127                    3.3% 2.8% 0.0% 0.9%

Avg Municipal Property Taxes Per Avg Residential Household (Excl. RDUs) 1,899$                    1,989$                    2,075$                    2,144$                    2,230$                    1,716$                    2,456$                    4.0% 3.3% 4.3% 4.8%

Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Residential Household (Excl. RDUs) 2,278$                    2,340$                    2,416$                    2,473$                    2,545$                    1,946$                    2,833$                    2.9% 2.4% 3.2% 2.7%

Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Residential Household (Excl. RDUs)

as a % of Median Household Income (Tax Effort) 3.3% 3.4% 3.5% 3.6% 3.7% 3.1% 4.3%

R E S I D E N T I A L    T A X     R A T E S 
*2

   (Source: Financial Information Return)

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 20/19 % 19/18 % 18/17 % 17/16 %

Lower / Single-Tier General Rate 0.0094212               0.0101610               0.0103640               0.0104870               0.0108000               3.0% 1.2% 2.0% 7.9%

Upper-Tier General Rate -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Education Rate 0.0018800               0.0017900               0.0017000               0.0016100               0.0015300               -5.0% -5.3% -5.0% -4.8%

T A X E S    R E C E I V A B L E

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

20/19 % 19/18 % 18/17 % 17/16 %

Total Taxes Receivable less Allowance for Uncollectibles 209,356$                 204,023$                 219,360$                 276,761$                 252,157$                 193,906$                 4,867,421$              -8.9% 26.2% 7.5% -2.5%

Total Taxes Rec. less Allowance for Uncollectibles as % of Total Taxes Levied 11.3% 10.6% 10.9% 13.4% 11.6% 14.1% 9.2%

Current Year Taxes Receivable as % of Total Taxes Receivable 58.8% 65.5% 47.7% 52.9% 62.6% 57.5% 56.9%

Working  & Contingency Reserves and Discretionary Reserve Funds as % of Current Yr Taxes Rec. 563.9% 876.8% 986.7% 1252.5% 1220.9% 581.6% 311.7%

Previous and Prior Years Taxes Receivable as % of Total Taxes Receivable 35.0% 28.9% 44.7% 37.7% 29.5% 32.6% 33.1%

Printed: 11/29/2021

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2 of 10



M U N I C I P A L    F I N A N C I A L    P R O F I L E S
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 2020 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2020 Households: 280 Median Household Income (2016) : 
*4

MSO Office: Northeast Last Updated: July 28, 2021 2020 Population: 603 2021 Annual Repayment Limit:

Prepared By: 2021 MFCI Index: *8 6.9 Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:

68,779                     

4,691,191                 

667,920                   

G R A N T S

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

20/19 % 19/18 % 18/17 % 17/16 %

Total Unconditional Grants 438,500$                 438,500$                 468,400$                 494,300$                 563,042$                 428,440$                 6,269,052$              13.9% 5.5% 6.8% 0.0%

Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund 438,500$                 438,500$                 468,400$                 484,300$                 505,300$                 369,198$                 1,177,615$              4.3% 3.4% 6.8% 0.0%

As % of Municipal Expenses 16.5% 14.9% 15.4% 14.9% 16.3% 18.6% 9.8%

Other -$                        -$                        -$                        10,000$                  57,742$                  59,242$                   5,091,437$              477.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Total Ontario Conditional Grants 319,164$                 406,883$                 426,239$                 747,026$                 1,336,577$              289,934$                 22,379,918$            78.9% 75.3% 4.8% 27.5%

As a % of Municipal Expenses 12.0% 13.9% 14.0% 23.0% 43.0% 13.4% 10.4%

Total Ontario Conditional and Unconditional Grants

As a % of Municipal Expenses 28.6% 28.8% 29.4% 38.3% 61.1% 33.2% 24.4%

T O T A L    D E B T    B U R D E N

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

20/19 % 19/18 % 18/17 % 17/16 %

Total Debt Burden 97,680$                  81,400$                  65,120$                  48,840$                  32,560$                  368,600$                 60,872,255$            -33.3% -25.0% -20.0% -16.7%

Per Household 307$                       293$                       89$                         67$                         116$                       914$                       1,357$                    74.0% -25.0% -69.6% -4.7%

Debt Servicing Cost 20,451$                  19,812$                  18,763$                  18,430$                  17,812$                  57,805$                   5,991,673$              -3.4% -1.8% -5.3% -3.1%

Per Household 64$                         71$                         26$                         25$                         64$                         147$                       182$                       152.3% -1.8% -64.0% 10.8%

As a % of Municipal Expenses 0.8% 0.7% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 2.6% 4.0%

As a % of Own Purpose Taxation 1.3% 1.2% 1.1% 1.0% 0.9% 5.0% 7.4%

As a % of Own Source Revenue 1.0% 0.8% 0.8% 0.7% 0.7% 3.6% 4.6%

As a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) 0.7% 0.6% 0.5% 0.5% 0.3% 2.3% 3.4%

Debt Service Coverage Ratio (Target: Ratio >= 2) 34 39 46 63 147 21 47

Printed: 11/29/2021

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3 of 10



M U N I C I P A L    F I N A N C I A L    P R O F I L E S
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 2020 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2020 Households: 280 Median Household Income (2016) : 
*4

MSO Office: Northeast Last Updated: July 28, 2021 2020 Population: 603 2021 Annual Repayment Limit:

Prepared By: 2021 MFCI Index: *8 6.9 Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:

68,779                     

4,691,191                 

667,920                   

L I A B I L I T I E S    (Including Post-Employment Benefits)

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

20/19 % 19/18 % 18/17 % 17/16 %

Temp. Loans for Current Purposes as % of Municipal Expenses 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1%

Post-Employment Benefits -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        16,693$                   23,527,753$            0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Total Reserves and Reserve Funds for Post-Employment Benefits -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        3,420$                    4,326,048$              0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

R E S E R V E S    A N D    R E S E R V E    F U N D S

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

20/19 % 19/18 % 18/17 % 17/16 %

Total Reserves 748,055$                 1,251,768$              1,136,511$              1,963,030$              2,053,348$              1,139,847$              30,403,059$            4.6% 72.7% -9.2% 67.3%

Total Discretionary Reserve Funds 80,102$                  170,102$                 172,102$                 172,102$                 172,102$                 394,800$                 38,887,267$            0.0% 0.0% 1.2% 112.4%

Total Reserves and Discretionary Reserve Funds 828,157$                 1,421,870$              1,308,613$              2,135,132$              2,225,450$              1,534,647$              69,290,326$            4.2% 63.2% -8.0% 71.7%

Per Household 2,604$                    5,115$                    1,790$                    2,921$                    7,948$                    3,477$                    2,964$                    172.1% 63.2% -65.0% 96.4%

As a % of Total Taxes Receivable 395.6% 696.9% 596.6% 771.5% 882.6% 948.9% 1072.8%

As a % of Municipal Expenses 31.3% 48.4% 43.0% 65.8% 71.6% 66.8% 72.8%

As a % of Own Purpose Taxation 54.0% 87.7% 76.4% 120.4% 118.4% 122.7% 125.7%

F I N A N C I A L    A S S E T S

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

Net Financial Assets or Net Debt as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) 58.5% 70.5% 72.1% 83.6% 68.2% 49.1% 40.8%

Net Financial Assets or Net Debt as % of Own Source Revenues 80.2% 98.8% 103.4% 129.5% 141.5% 81.5% 56.2%

Net Working Capital as a % of Municipal Expenses 77.8% 90.9% 95.2% 117.9% 132.9% 75.7% 74.4%

Net Book Value of Capital Assets as a % of Cost of Capital Assets 61.5% 59.0% 58.0% 56.1% 59.6% 48.8% 53.6%

Asset Sustainability Ratio (Target: > 90%) 96.2% 40.0% 154.6% 79.7% 523.7% 129.2% 154.5%

Closing Amortization Balance as a % of Total Cost of Capital Assets (Asset Consumption Ratio) 36.7% 39.2% 40.2% 42.0% 39.0% 52.2% 46.9%

Printed: 11/29/2021

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4 of 10



M U N I C I P A L    F I N A N C I A L    P R O F I L E S
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 2020 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2020 Households: 280 Median Household Income (2016) : 
*4

MSO Office: Northeast Last Updated: July 28, 2021 2020 Population: 603 2021 Annual Repayment Limit:

Prepared By: 2021 MFCI Index: *8 6.9 Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:

68,779                     

4,691,191                 

667,920                   

S U R P L U S  /  D E F I C I T

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

20/19 % 19/18 % 18/17 % 17/16 %

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs) 289,240$                 361,550$                 427,086$                 729,014$                 2,163,775$              425,708$                 18,919,575$            196.8% 70.7% 18.1% 25.0%

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs) Adjusted for Ontario Budget Reg. 284/09) 688,728$                 774,361$                 852,465$                 1,035,886$              2,609,181$              764,399$                 32,156,400$            151.9% 21.5% 10.1% 12.4%

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs) as a % of Own Source Revenues 13.5% 15.4% 17.6% 28.4% 85.1% 26.4% 19.5%

Current Ratio (Target: >= 100%) 929.4% 1415.2% 536.0% 1796.9% 945.5% 996.4% 675.1%

O T H E R    I N D I C A T O R S

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

Rates Coverage Ratio (Target: >=40%) 75.1% 70.8% 72.2% 69.7% 75.4% 64.4% 75.9%

Cash Ratio (Total Cash and Cash Equivalents as a % of Current Liabilities) 8.08:1 12.67:1 4.64:1 15.67:1 5.26:1 6.87:1 5.01:1

Operating Balance as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs)
*5 9.8% 11.0% 12.3% 18.3% 41.0% 10.6% 14.1%

Cumulative Annual Growth Rate 
*6 0.3% -1.9% -8.9% 3.6% 15.0% 2.2% 1.7%

Interest Payments as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.4% 0.8%

Printed: 11/29/2021

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5 of 10



M U N I C I P A L    F I N A N C I A L    P R O F I L E S
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 2020 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2020 Households: 280 Median Household Income (2016) : 
*4

MSO Office: Northeast Last Updated: July 28, 2021 2020 Population: 603 2021 Annual Repayment Limit:

Prepared By: 2021 MFCI Index: *8 6.9 Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:

68,779                     

4,691,191                 

667,920                   

V U L N E R A B I L I T Y    M E A S U R E S

2020 AVERAGES FOR:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

North - Population 

<= 1000
PROVINCE

Own Source Revenue as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) 73.0% 71.3% 69.8% 64.5% 48.2% 63.6% 73.2% -25.3% -7.5% -2.2% -2.3%

Own Source Revenue per Household 6,750$                    8,461$                    3,313$                    3,508$                    9,079$                    3,926$                    3,634$                    158.8% 5.9% -60.8% 25.3%

Avg Municipal Property Taxes Per Avg Residential Household 1,741$                    1,824$                    1,890$                    1,942$                    2,016$                    1,722$                    2,477$                    3.8% 2.7% 3.7% 4.8%

as a % of Median Household Income (Tax Effort) 3.0% 3.1% 3.2% 3.3% 3.3% 3.1% 4.3%

S U P P L E M E N T A R Y    I N D I C A T O R S    O F    S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y ,    F L E X I B I L I T Y    A N D    V U L N E R A B I L I T Y

The following is a summary, adapted from the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) 4:

l        A government (including a municipality) may choose to report supplementary information on financial condition, to expand on and help explain the government's financial statements.

l        Supplementary assessment of a government's financial condition needs to consider, at a minimum, the elements of sustainability, flexibility and vulnerability.

l        Vulnerability in this context may be seen as the degree to which a municipality is dependent on sources of funding outside its control or influence or is exposed to risks that could impair

          its ability to meet its existing financial obligations both in respect of its service commitments to the public and financial commitments to creditors, employees and others.

l        Vulnerability is an important element of financial condition because it provides insights into a municipality's reliance on funding sources outside its direct control or influence and its exposure to risks.

         A municipality whose vulnerability is relatively low has greater control over its financial condition. 

l     For each element of financial condition, the report on indicators of financial condition should include municipality-specific indicators and municipality-related indicators.  

        It may be useful to also include economy-wide information when discussing financial condition.

ADDITIONAL NOTES ON WHAT FINANCIAL MEASURES MAY INDICATE:

Own Source Revenue as a % of Total Revenues (Less TCAs)

Indicates the extent to which a municipality has a high proportion of revenues for its own sources, reducing its impact to a change in transfers from other levels of government.

Own Source Revenue per Household

Indicates the demand for resources and the municipality's ability and willingness to provide resources.

Average Municipal Property Taxes per Average Residential Household

Indicates the level of taxes on residential households for municipal purposes.

Average Municipal Property Taxes per Average Residential Household as a % of Average Household Income

Indicates the portion of a ratepayer's income used to pay municipal property taxes.

Printed: 11/29/2021

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6 of 10



M U N I C I P A L    F I N A N C I A L    P R O F I L E S
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 2020 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2020 Households: 280 Median Household Income (2016) : 
*4

MSO Office: Northeast Last Updated: July 28, 2021 2020 Population: 603 2021 Annual Repayment Limit:

Prepared By: 2021 MFCI Index: *8 6.9 Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:

68,779                     

4,691,191                 

667,920                   

*****************************************************************************************************************************************************

The data and information contained in this document is for informational purposes only.  Any use of the data and information in this document should be done by qualified individuals. 

 This information is not intended to be used on its own and should be used in conjunction with other financial information and resources available.

*****************************************************************************************************************************************************

N O T E S

1*     2016 assessment use phase-in assessment based on 2012 property values. 2017 , 2018 , 2019 and 2020 assessment uses phase-in assessment based on 2016 property values.

2*     Average tax rates are calculated where necessary when amalgamations occur.

3*     Household and Population data are as reported by the municipality on Schedule 02 of the FIR. 

4*     Median Household Income - Source: Statistics Canada - 2016 Census - File: 98-402-X2016006-t1-CSD-ENG.

5*     Total Revenues include revenues from other municipalities.

6*     The Cumulative Annual Growth Rate has been measured over a three year period.  Infrastructure Ontario uses a five year period.

7*     Total Municipal Expenses exclude amounts for other municipalities

8*     MFCI index - Source: Ministry of Finance.  This index is available for northern and rural municipalities only.

N U M B E R    O F   M U N I C I P A L I T I E S    I N    C O M P A R I S O N    G R O U P S

North - Population 

<= 1000
Province

2016 71 444

2017 71 444

2018 71 444

2019 71 441

2020 64 389

Printed: 11/29/2021

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7 of 10



M U N I C I P A L    F I N A N C I A L    P R O F I L E S
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 2020 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2020 Households: 280 Median Household Income (2016) : 
*4

MSO Office: Northeast Last Updated: July 28, 2021 2020 Population: 603 2021 Annual Repayment Limit:

Prepared By: 2021 MFCI Index: *8 6.9 Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:

68,779                     

4,691,191                 

667,920                   

C A L C U L A T I O N S

S T A T I S T I C A L    I N F O R M A T I O N

Population 
*3 SLC 02 0041 01

Households 
*3 SLC 02 0040 01

Municipal Expenses *7 SLC 40 9910 11 - SLC 12 9910 03 - SLC 12 9910 07

Own Source Revenues SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 0699 01 - SLC 10 0899 01 - SLC 10 1098 01 - SLC 10 1099 01 - SLC 10 1811 01 - SLC 10 1812 01 - SLC 10 1813 01

- SLC 10 1814 01 - SLC 10 1830 01 - SLC 10 1831 01 - SLC 12 1850 04

Own Source Revenue per Household Own Source Revenues / SLC 02 0040 01

Own Source Revenue as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) Own Source Revenues / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 1831 01)

Total Revenues SLC 10 9910 01

Annual Repayment Limit The annual repayment limit is calculated annually as per Ontario regulation 403/02.  To view the full calculation of the annual repayment limit, please go to the FIR website.

https://efis.fma.csc.gov.on.ca/fir/ViewARL.htm

ARLs for all municipalities (except the City of Toronto) are posted here as they are made available.

Own Purpose Taxation SLC 10 0299 01

Direct Water Billings as % of Gross Water Expenditures (SLC 12 0831 04 + SLC 12 0832 04) / (SLC 40 0831 11 + SLC 40 0832 11)

Taxable Res. Assessment as a % of Total Taxable Assessment SLC 26 0010 17 / SLC 26 9199 17

D I S C O U N T E D    W E I G H T E D    A S S E S S M E N T  
*1 

  (Source: Financial Information Return)

Taxable SLC 26 9199 17

PIL SLC 26 9299 17

Total SLC 26 9199 17 + SLC 26 9299 17

R E S I D E N T I A L    T A X E S

# of Residential Households Residential CVA and corresponding household counts are provided by OPTA (excludes the City of Toronto).  Residential assessment includes:

Avg Municipal Property Taxes Per Avg Residential Household Single Family, 2 - 6 Units, Farm Residential and Recreational (where included).  Note:  does not include vacant land.

Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Residential Household

Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Residential Household If labeled (Excl. RDUs) Recreational units are excluded.

as a % of Median Household Income (Tax Effort)

An average household assessment is calculated by taking the sum of the CVA for these residential groups divided by the corresponding households.

# of Residential Households Excluding Recreational Properties (Excl. RDUs)

Avg Municipal Property Taxes Per Avg Residential Household (Excl. RDUs) An estimated tax rate for each tier (i.e. lower tier, upper tier and school) is applied to the average household assessment to calculate the averages taxes per household by tier.

Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Residential Household (Excl. RDUs) (the estimated tax rates are provided by OPTA).

Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Residential Household (Excl. RDUs)

as a % of Median Household Income (Tax Effort)

Printed: 11/29/2021

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8 of 10

https://efis.fma.csc.gov.on.ca/fir/ViewARL.htm


M U N I C I P A L    F I N A N C I A L    P R O F I L E S
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 2020 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2020 Households: 280 Median Household Income (2016) : 
*4

MSO Office: Northeast Last Updated: July 28, 2021 2020 Population: 603 2021 Annual Repayment Limit:

Prepared By: 2021 MFCI Index: *8 6.9 Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:

68,779                     

4,691,191                 

667,920                   

R E S I D E N T I A L    T A X     R A T E S 
*2

   (Source: Financial Information Return)

Lower / Single-Tier General Rate SLC 22 0010 12 / SLC 22 0010 16

Upper-Tier General Rate SLC 22 0010 13 / SLC 22 0010 16

Education Rate SLC 22 0010 14 / SLC 22 0010 16

T A X E S    R E C E I V A B L E

Total Taxes Receivable less Allowance for Uncollectibles SLC 70 0699 01

Total Taxes Rec. less Allowance for Uncollectibles as % of Total Taxes Levied SLC 70 0699 01 / (SLC 26 9199 03 - SLC 72 2899 09)

Current Year Taxes Receivable as % of Total Taxes Receivable SLC 70 0610 01 / (SLC 70 0690 01 + SLC 70 0699 01)

Working Fund Reserves & Contingency Funds as % of Current Yr Taxes Rec. (SLC 60 5010 02 + SLC 60 5020 03) / SLC 70 0610 01

Previous and Prior Years Taxes Receivable as % of Total Taxes Receivable (SLC 70 0620 01 + SLC 70 0630 01) / (SLC 70 0699 01 + SLC 70 0690 01)

G R A N T S

Total Unconditional Grants SLC 10 0699 01

Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund SLC 10 0620 02

As % of Municipal Expenses SLC 10 0620 01 / (SLC 40 9910 11 - SLC 12 9910 03 - SLC 12 9910 07)

Other SLC 10 0699 01 - SLC 10 0620 01

Total Ontario Conditional Grants SLC 10 0810 01 + SLC 10 0815 01

As a % of Municipal Expenses (SLC 10 0810 01 + SLC 10 0815 01) /  (SLC 40 9910 11 - SLC 12 9910 03 - SLC 12 9910 07)

Total Ontario Conditional and Unconditional Grants

As a % of Municipal Expenses (SLC 10 0699 01 + SLC 10 0810 01 + SLC 10 0815 01) /  (SLC 40 9910 11 - SLC 12 9910 03 - SLC 12 9910 07)

T O T A L    D E B T    B U R D E N

Total Debt Burden SLC 74 9910 01

Per Household SLC 74 9910 01 / SLC 02 0040 01

Debt Servicing Cost SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02

Per Household (SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02) / SLC 02 0040 01

As a % of Municipal Expenses (SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02) /  (SLC 40 9910 11 - SLC 12 9910 03 - SLC 12 9910 07)

As a % of Own Purpose Taxation (SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02) /  SLC 10 0299 01

As a % of Own Source Revenue (SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02) / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 0699 01 - SLC 10 0899 01 - SLC 10 1098 01 - SLC 10 1099 01 - SLC 10 1811 01 - SLC 10 1812 01 - SLC 10 1813 01

- SLC 10 1814 01 - SLC 10 1830 01 - SLC 10 1831 01 - SLC 12 1850 04)

As a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) (SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02) /  (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 1831 01)

Debt Service Coverage Ratio (Target: Ratio >= 2) (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 40 9910 11 + SLC 40 9910 02 + SLC 40 9910 16) / (SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02)

Printed: 11/29/2021

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

9 of 10



M U N I C I P A L    F I N A N C I A L    P R O F I L E S
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 2020 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2020 Households: 280 Median Household Income (2016) : 
*4

MSO Office: Northeast Last Updated: July 28, 2021 2020 Population: 603 2021 Annual Repayment Limit:

Prepared By: 2021 MFCI Index: *8 6.9 Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:

68,779                     

4,691,191                 

667,920                   

L I A B I L I T I E S    (Including Post-Employment Benefits)

Temp. Loans for Current Purposes as % of Municipal Expenses SLC 70 2010 01 / (SLC 40 9910 11 - SLC 12 9910 03 - SLC 12 9910 07)

Post-Employment Benefits SLC 70 2899 01

Total Reserves and Reserve Funds for Post-Employment Benefits SLC 60 5060 02 + SLC 60 5060 03 + SLC 60 5070 02 + SLC 60 5070 03 + SLC 60 5080 02 + SLC 60 5080 03 + SLC 60 5090 02 + SLC 60 5090 03

R E S E R V E S    A N D    R E S E R V E    F U N D S

Total Reserves SLC 60 2099 03

Total Discretionary Reserve Funds SLC 60 2099 02

Total Reserves and Discretionary Reserve Funds SLC 60 2099 02 + SLC 60 2099 03

Per Household (SLC 60 2099 02 + SLC 60 2099 03) / SLC 02 0040 01

As a % of Total Taxes Receivable (SLC 60 2099 02 + SLC 60 2099 03) / (SLC 70 0699 01 + SLC 70 0690 01)

As a % of Municipal Expenses (SLC 60 2099 02 + SLC 60 2099 03) / (SLC 40 9910 11 - SLC 12 9910 03 - SLC 12 9910 07)

As a % of Own Purpose Taxation (SLC 60 2099 02 + SLC 60 2099 03) / SLC 20 0299 01

F I N A N C I A L    A S S E T S

Net Financial Assets or Net Debt as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) SLC 70 9945 01 / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 1831 01)

Net Financial Assets or Net Debt as % of Own Source Revenues

Net Working Capital as a % of Municipal Expenses (SLC 70 0299 02 + SLC 70 0499 01 + SLC 70 0699 01 + SLC 70 0830 01 + SLC 70 0835 01 + SLC 70 6250 01 + SLC 70 6260 01 + SLC 70 2010 01 + SLC 70 2299 01)

/ (SLC 40 9910 11 - SLC 12 9910 03 - SLC 12 9910 07)

Net Book Value of Capital Assets as a % of Cost of Capital Assets (SLC 70 6210 01 - SLC 51 2005 11 - SLC 51 2205 11) / (SLC 51 9910 06 - SLC 51 2005 11 - SLC 51 2205 11)

Asset Sustainability Ratio (Target: > 90%) SLC 51 9910 03 / SLC 51 9910 08

Closing Amortization Balance as a % of Total Cost of Capital Assets (Asset Consumption Ratio) SLC 51 9910 10 / SLC 51 9910 06

S U R P L U S  /  D E F I C I T

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs) SLC 10 2099 01 - SLC 10 1831 01

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs)  Adjusted for Ontario Budget Reg. 284/09)

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs)  as a % of Own Source Revenues

 - SLC 10 1830 01 - SLC 10 1831 01 - SLC 12 1850 04)

Current Ratio (Target: >= 100%) (SLC 70 9930 01 - SLC 70 0829 01 - SLC 70 0845 01 - SLC 70 0898 01) / (SLC 70 2099 01 + SLC 70 2299 01)

O T H E R    I N D I C A T O R S

Rates Coverage Ratio (Target: >=40%) (SLC 10 0299 01 + SLC 10 1299 01 + SLC 10 1880 01 + SLC 10 1885 01) / SLC 40 9910 01

Cash Ratio (Total Cash and Cash Equivalents as a % of Current Liabilities) SLC 70 0299 01 / (SLC 70 2099 01 + SLC 70 2299 01)

Operating Balance as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs)
*5  (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 40 9910 07) / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 1831 01)

Cumulative Annual Growth Rate 
*6 ((SLC 10 9910 01 (CY) / SLC 10 9910 01 (CY - 3) ^ (1/3) - 1) - ((SLC 40 9910 07 (CY) / SLC 40 9910 07 (CY -3) ^ (1/3) - 1)

Interest Payments as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) SLC 74 2099 02 / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 1831 01)

(SLC 10 2099 01 - SLC 10 1831 01) / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 0699 01 - SLC 10 0899 01 - 

SLC 10 1098 01 - SLC 10 1099 01 - SLC 10 1811 01 - SLC 10 1812 01 - SLC 10 1813 01- SLC 10 1814 01

SLC 70 9945 01 / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 0699 01 - SLC 10 0899 01 - SLC 10 1098 01 - SLC 10 1099 01 - SLC 10 1811 01 - SLC 10 1812 01 - SLC 10 1813 01- SLC 10 1814 01 - SLC 10 1830 01 - 

SLC 10 1831 01 - SLC 12 1850 04)

SLC 10 2099 01 - SLC 10 1831 01 + SLC 40 9910 16 + (SLC 70 2799 01 (CY) - SLC 70 2799 01 (PY)) + (SLC 70 2899 01 (CY) - SLC 70 2899 01 (PY)) - SLC 74 3099 01    

(CY = CURRENT YEAR,  PY - PREVIOUS YEAR)

Printed: 11/29/2021

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

10 of 10



F I N A N C I A L    I N D I C A T O R    R E V I E W
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

Date Prepared: 29-Nov-21 2020 Households: 280                      Median Household Income: 68,779                         

MSO Office: Northeast 2020 Population 603                      Taxable Residential Assessment as a

Prepared By: Paul Prosperi 2021 MFCI Index 6.9 % of Total Taxable Assessment: 95.5%

Tier ST Own Purpose Taxation: 1,879,388                    

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y   I N D I C A T O R S

Indicator Actuals Level of Risk

Median Average

2016 11.3% 13.2% 19.7% MODERATE

2017 10.6% 13.0% 22.0% MODERATE

2018 10.9% 13.3% 17.1% MODERATE

2019 13.4% 11.6% 17.6% MODERATE

2020 11.6% 11.9% 13.9% MODERATE

2016 80.2% 52.9% 48.5% LOW

2017 98.8% 50.2% 50.6% LOW

2018 103.4% 54.6% 51.8% LOW

2019 129.5% 63.5% 68.6% LOW

2020 141.5% 86.0% 84.0% LOW

2016 31.3% 39.0% 43.9% LOW

2017 48.4% 42.2% 46.8% LOW

2018 43.0% 42.9% 49.7% LOW

2019 65.8% 54.0% 59.6% LOW

2020 71.6% 62.1% 68.7% LOW

2016 8.08:1 3.02:1 4.8:1 LOW

2017 12.67:1 3.23:1 4.77:1 LOW

2018 4.64:1 4.03:1 4.83:1 LOW

2019 15.67:1 4.12:1 6.13:1 LOW

2020 5.26:1 5.72:1 6.96:1 LOW

F L E X I B I L I T Y   I N D I C A T O R S

2016 0.7% 1.4% 2.6% LOW

2017 0.6% 1.6% 2.8% LOW

2018 0.5% 1.4% 2.7% LOW

2019 0.5% 1.7% 2.2% LOW

2020 0.3% 1.4% 2.3% LOW

2016 36.7% 51.5% 51.1% LOW

2017 39.2% 51.1% 51.7% LOW

2018 40.2% 52.2% 51.7% LOW

2019 42.0% 50.8% 50.8% LOW

2020 39.0% 52.8% 52.0% LOW

2016 13.5% 4.9% 11.8% LOW

2017 15.4% 7.4% 16.0% LOW

2018 17.6% 10.2% 23.5% LOW

2019 28.4% 27.6% 50.9% LOW

2020 85.1% 9.8% 26.8% LOW

Net Financial Assets or Net Debt as % of Own Source Revenues

Low:  > -50%

Mod:  -50% to -100%

High: < -100%

Ranges
 North - Population <= 

1000 

Total Taxes Receivable less Allowance for Uncollectibles as a % of 

Total Taxes Levied

Low:  < 10%

Mod:  10% to 15%

High: > 15%

Total Reserves and Discretionary Reserve

Funds as a % of Municipal Expenses

Low:  > 20%

Mod:  10% to 20%

High: < 10%

Cash Ratio (Total Cash and Cash Equivalents as a % of Current 

Liabilities)

Low:  > 0.5:1

Mod:  0.5:1 to 0.25:1

High: < 0.25:1

Debt Servicing Cost as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs)

Low: < 5%

Mod: 5% to 10%

High: >10%

Closing Amortization Balance as a % of Total Cost of Capital Assets 

(Asset Consumption Ratio)

Low: < 50%

Mod: 50% to 75%

High: > 75%

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) as a % of Own Source Revenues Low: > -1%

Mod: -1% to -30%

High: < -30%

************************************************************************************************************************************************

The data and information contained in this document is for informational purposes only.  It is not an opinion about a municipality and is not intended to be used on its own - it should be used in 

conjunction with other financial information and resources available.  It may be used, for example, to support a variety of strategic and policy discussions.

************************************************************************************************************************************************

Printed: 11/29/2021 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 1 of 3



F I N A N C I A L    I N D I C A T O R    R E V I E W
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

N O T E S

Supplementary Indicators of Sustainability and Flexibility

The following is a summary, adapted from the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) 4.

l  A government (including a municipality) may choose to report supplementary information on financial condition, to expand on and help

          explain the government's financial statements.

l  Supplementary assessment of a government's financial condition needs to consider the elements of sustainability and flexibility.

l  Sustainability in this context may be seen as the degree to which a municipality can maintain its existing financial obligations both in

          respect of its service commitments to the public and financial commitments to creditors, employees and others without inappropriately

          increasing the debt or tax burden relative to the economy within which it operates.

l  Sustainability is an important element to include in an assessment of financial condition because it may help to describe a government's

          ability to manage its financial and service commitments and debt burden. It may also help to describe the impact that the level of debt

          could have on service provision.

l  Flexibility is the degree to which a government can change its debt or tax level on the economy within which it operates to meet

          its existing financial obligations both in respect of its service commitments to the public and financial commitments to creditors,

          employees and others.

l  Flexibility provides insights into how a government manages its finances. Increasing taxation or user fees may reduce a municipality's

          flexibility to respond when adverse circumstances develop if the municipality approaches the limit that citizens and businesses are

          willing to bear.

          A municipality may temporarily use current borrowing, subject to the requirements set out in the Municipal Act to meet expenses 

         and certain other amounts required in the year, until taxes are collected and other revenues are received. Municipal current borrowing 

         cannot be carried over the long term or converted to long term borrowing except in very limited circumstances. 

l  For each element of financial condition, the report on indicators of financial condition should include municipality-specific indicators

          and municipality-related indicators.  It may be useful to also include economy-wide information when discussing financial condition.

Reserves and Reserve Funds as a % of Municipal Expenses - Indicates how much money is set aside for future needs and contingencies.

Financial Information Returns ("FIRs") are a standard set of year-end reports submitted by municipalities to the Province which capture certain financial 

information. On an annual basis, Ministry staff prepare certain financial indicators for each municipality, based on the information contained in the FIRs.  It is 

important to remember that these financial indicators provide a snapshot at a particular moment in time and should not be considered in isolation, but supported 

with other relevant information sources. In keeping with our Financial Information Return review process and follow-up, Ministry staff may routinely contact and 

discuss this information with municipal officials.

Additional Notes on what Financial Indicators may indicate:

Total Taxes Receivable less Allowance for Uncollectibles as a % of Total Taxes Levied - Shows how much of the taxes billed are not collected.

Net Financial Assets or Net Debt as % of Own Source Revenues - Indicates how much property tax and user fee revenue is servicing debt.

Cash Ratio (Total Cash and Cash Equivalents as a % of Current Liabilities) - Indicates how much cash and liquid investments could be available to cover current 

obligations.

Debt Servicing Cost as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) - Indicates how much of each dollar raised in revenue is spent on paying down existing debt.

Closing Amortization Balance as a % or Total Cost of Capital Assets (Asset Consumption Ratio) -  Indicates how much of the assets’ life expectancy has been 

consumed.

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs) as a % of Own Source Revenues -  Indicates the municipality's ability to cover its operational costs and have 

funds available for other purposes (e.g. reserves, debt repayment, etc.)

The Northern and Rural Municipal Fiscal Circumstances Index (MFCI) is used by the Ministry of Finance to calculate the "Northern and Rural Fiscal 

Circumstances Grant" aimed at northern as well as single and lower-tier rural municipalities.  The index measures a municipality’s fiscal circumstances. The MFCI is determined 

by six indicators: Weighted Assessment per Household, Median Household Income, Average Annual Change in Assessment (New Construction), Employment Rate, Ratio of 

Working Age to Dependent Population, and Per Cent of Population Above Low-Income Threshold.   A lower MFCI corresponds to relatively positive fiscal circumstances, whereas 

a higher MFCI corresponds to more challenging fiscal circumstances. (Note: the MFCI index is only available for northern and rural municipalities)

Printed: 11/29/2021 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 2 of 3



F I N A N C I A L    I N D I C A T O R    R E V I E W
(Based on 2020 Financial Information Return)

Billings Tp

C A L C U L A T I O N S

Total Taxes Rec. less Allowance for Uncollectibles as % of Total Taxes Levied SLC 70 0699 01 / (SLC 26 9199 03 - SLC 72 2899 09)

Net Financial Assets or Net Debt as % of Own Source Revenues

Total Reserves and Reserve Funds as a % of Municipal Expenses (SLC 60 2099 02+SLC 60 2099 03)/(SLC 40 9910 11-SLC 12 9910 03-SLC 12 9910 07)

Cash Ratio (Total Cash and Cash Equivalents as a % of Current Liabilities) SLC 70 0299 01 / (SLC 70 2099 01 + SLC 70 2299 01)

Debt Servicing Cost as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) (SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02) /  (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 1831 01)

Closing Amortization Balance as a % or Total Cost of Capital Assets (Asset Consumption Ratio) SLC 51 9910 10 / SLC 51 9910 06

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs) as a % of Own Source Revenues

(SLC 10 2099 01 - SLC 10 1831 01) / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 0699 01 - 

SLC 10 0899 01 - SLC 10 1098 01 - SLC 10 1099 01 - SLC 10 1811 01 - SLC 10 1812 01 - 

SLC 10 1813 01- SLC 10 1814 01 - SLC 10 1830 01 - SLC 10 1831 01 - SLC 12 1850 04)

SLC 70 9945 01 / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 0699 01 - SLC 10 0899 01 - 

SLC 10 1098 01 - SLC 10 1099 01 - SLC 10 1811 01 - SLC 10 1812 01 - SLC 10 1813 01- 

SLC 10 1814 01 - SLC 10 1830 01 - SLC 10 1831 01 - SLC 12 1850 04)

Printed: 11/29/2021 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 3 of 3







The Regional  
Municipality  
of Durham 

Corporate Services 
Department  
Legislative Services 

605 Rossland Rd. E. 
Level 1 
PO Box 623 
Whitby, ON   L1N 6A3 
Canada 

905-668-7711 
1-800-372-1102 
Fax: 905-668-9963 

durham.ca 

Don Beaton, BCom, M.P.A. 
Commissioner of Corporate 
Services 

November 24, 2021 

The Honourable Doug Ford 
Premier of Ontario 
Room 281 
Legislative Building, Queen’s Park
Toronto, ON   M7A 1A1 

Dear Premier Ford: 

RE: Bus Stop Dead End Roads, Our File: T02 

Council of the Region of Durham, at its meeting held on November 24, 
2021, adopted the following resolution: 

“Whereas Dead-End Road delegations have been received from 
parents in attached correspondence, 
website www.durhamdeadendroadkids.ca and 
video www.youtube.com/watch?v=__pCVNLsUKk&t=18s noting 
approximately 386 Durham Region kids and families remain in crisis 
walking kilometres daily to wait on highspeed roadway shoulders with 
winter dark coming;   

And whereas the Ontario Ministry of Transportation has responded 
and now amended their Policy to allow and provide guidelines for 
reversing a school bus on a dead end 
road https://www.ontario.ca/document/official-ministry-transportation-
mto-bus-handbook/special-safety-precautions-school-bus-
drivers which is in keeping with the previous historic practice of using 
smaller buses, doing 3-point turns and using a spotter in rural areas;   

And whereas to date 10 municipalities across Ontario have passed a 
resolution endorsing Scugog’s bus stops on dead end roads 
Resolutions CR-2021-086 (April 26, 2021) and CR-2021-175 (June 28, 
2021), given family safety challenges exist on dead-end roads 
throughout the province;  

And whereas Report PWIS-2021-022, Williams Point Road and 
Beacock Road School Bus Turnarounds, be received noting municipal 
cost for construction of school bus turnarounds is prohibitive with 178 
dead end roads now not accessed by Durham District School Board 
alone not including hundreds of roads around province, and any funds 
invested in turnarounds would not be consistent with asset 
management priorities promoted by the Province of Ontario;  

If you require this information in an accessible format, please contact 1-800-372-1102 extension 2097. 

https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.durhamdeadendroadkids.ca%2F&data=04%7C01%7CCheryl.Bandel%40Durham.ca%7Cbd9ad8d34ca24917b9e708d9ae844755%7C52d7c9c2d54941b69b1f9da198dc3f16%7C0%7C0%7C637732705412094577%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=py3Ng%2FdKvSguOWMGKarS7Nqmq0yNjVByLmSF%2BQz9TMw%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.youtube.com%2Fwatch%3Fv%3D__pCVNLsUKk%26t%3D18s&data=04%7C01%7CCheryl.Bandel%40Durham.ca%7Cbd9ad8d34ca24917b9e708d9ae844755%7C52d7c9c2d54941b69b1f9da198dc3f16%7C0%7C0%7C637732705412094577%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=LmremqHkv3HbHql8b%2Bj8onRXXC9XmgqK35d47mVFuhA%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ontario.ca%2Fdocument%2Fofficial-ministry-transportation-mto-bus-handbook%2Fspecial-safety-precautions-school-bus-drivers&data=04%7C01%7CCheryl.Bandel%40Durham.ca%7Cbd9ad8d34ca24917b9e708d9ae844755%7C52d7c9c2d54941b69b1f9da198dc3f16%7C0%7C0%7C637732705412104571%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=itjYtWW5nIco8vfP9xZ3IgUs9Gn6jt72LW3oWB8aGGU%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ontario.ca%2Fdocument%2Fofficial-ministry-transportation-mto-bus-handbook%2Fspecial-safety-precautions-school-bus-drivers&data=04%7C01%7CCheryl.Bandel%40Durham.ca%7Cbd9ad8d34ca24917b9e708d9ae844755%7C52d7c9c2d54941b69b1f9da198dc3f16%7C0%7C0%7C637732705412104571%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=itjYtWW5nIco8vfP9xZ3IgUs9Gn6jt72LW3oWB8aGGU%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ontario.ca%2Fdocument%2Fofficial-ministry-transportation-mto-bus-handbook%2Fspecial-safety-precautions-school-bus-drivers&data=04%7C01%7CCheryl.Bandel%40Durham.ca%7Cbd9ad8d34ca24917b9e708d9ae844755%7C52d7c9c2d54941b69b1f9da198dc3f16%7C0%7C0%7C637732705412104571%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=itjYtWW5nIco8vfP9xZ3IgUs9Gn6jt72LW3oWB8aGGU%3D&reserved=0


 Page 2 of 3 
 

And whereas to date Durham Student Transportation Services have 
not re-considered the previous motions or adjusted their policies, citing 
Ontario Ministry of Transportation policy changes are “guidelines” 
only, https://www.durhamregion.com/news-story/10445254-mto-
tweaks-unlikely-to-reverse-scugog-route-changes-dsts/ are not 
“direction to school boards” https://www.durhamregion.com/news-
story/10445254-mto-tweaks-unlikely-to-reverse-scugog-route-
changes-dsts/ , maintaining far-distanced highspeed roadside 
common stops are safer;   

Now therefore be it resolved: 

That Council request the Ministry of Education and the Province of 
Ontario to amend policies requiring Student Transportation Services 
and School Boards around the Province work with parents to facilitate 
the use of smaller buses, spotters, and 3-point turns or backing up 
where necessary, to provide safer service to dead-end and private 
road children and prevent the need for additional turnarounds to be 
constructed on municipal roads; and   

That a copy of this motion and the staff report from the Township of 
Scugog be forwarded to Premier Doug Ford, Honorable Stephen 
Lecce (Minister of Education), Honorable Caroline Mulroney (Minister 
of Transport), Durham Student Transportation Services, all school 
boards serving Durham Region, Haliburton-Kawartha Lakes-Brock 
MPP Laurie Scott, all Durham MPPs, all Ontario Municipalities, Rural 
Ontario Municipal Association (ROMA), Ontario Good Roads 
Association (OGRA), and Association of Municipalities of Ontario 
(AMO).” 

Please find enclosed a copy of Report #PWIS-2021-022, from the 
Township of Scugog, for your information. 

Ralph Walton 
Ralph Walton, 
Regional Clerk/Director of Legislative Services 

RW/ks 

Attachment 

c: The Honourable Stephen Lecce, Minister of Education 
 The Honourable Caroline Mulroney, Minister of Transport 
 Nadiya Viytiv, Durham Student Transportation Services 

https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.durhamregion.com%2Fnews-story%2F10445254-mto-tweaks-unlikely-to-reverse-scugog-route-changes-dsts%2F&data=04%7C01%7CCheryl.Bandel%40Durham.ca%7Cbd9ad8d34ca24917b9e708d9ae844755%7C52d7c9c2d54941b69b1f9da198dc3f16%7C0%7C0%7C637732705412104571%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=ysyetGx0akyH0vf1uXyIEDGcMAiwlJU3p18zLQEZQvg%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.durhamregion.com%2Fnews-story%2F10445254-mto-tweaks-unlikely-to-reverse-scugog-route-changes-dsts%2F&data=04%7C01%7CCheryl.Bandel%40Durham.ca%7Cbd9ad8d34ca24917b9e708d9ae844755%7C52d7c9c2d54941b69b1f9da198dc3f16%7C0%7C0%7C637732705412104571%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=ysyetGx0akyH0vf1uXyIEDGcMAiwlJU3p18zLQEZQvg%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.durhamregion.com%2Fnews-story%2F10445254-mto-tweaks-unlikely-to-reverse-scugog-route-changes-dsts%2F&data=04%7C01%7CCheryl.Bandel%40Durham.ca%7Cbd9ad8d34ca24917b9e708d9ae844755%7C52d7c9c2d54941b69b1f9da198dc3f16%7C0%7C0%7C637732705412114566%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=siyd3%2B5BMoGTEU%2FB2jnZlKQFKWzA76VOMJd4VGdvIW0%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.durhamregion.com%2Fnews-story%2F10445254-mto-tweaks-unlikely-to-reverse-scugog-route-changes-dsts%2F&data=04%7C01%7CCheryl.Bandel%40Durham.ca%7Cbd9ad8d34ca24917b9e708d9ae844755%7C52d7c9c2d54941b69b1f9da198dc3f16%7C0%7C0%7C637732705412114566%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=siyd3%2B5BMoGTEU%2FB2jnZlKQFKWzA76VOMJd4VGdvIW0%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.durhamregion.com%2Fnews-story%2F10445254-mto-tweaks-unlikely-to-reverse-scugog-route-changes-dsts%2F&data=04%7C01%7CCheryl.Bandel%40Durham.ca%7Cbd9ad8d34ca24917b9e708d9ae844755%7C52d7c9c2d54941b69b1f9da198dc3f16%7C0%7C0%7C637732705412114566%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=siyd3%2B5BMoGTEU%2FB2jnZlKQFKWzA76VOMJd4VGdvIW0%3D&reserved=0


 Page 3 of 3 
 
 Durham Catholic District School Board 
 Durham District School Board 
 Kawartha Pine Ridge District School Board 
 Peterborough, Victoria, Northumberland and Clarington Catholic 

District School Board 
 Conseil Scolaire Catholique MonAvenir 
 Conseil Scolaire Viamonde 
 Rod Phillips, MPP (Ajax)  
 Lindsey Park, MPP (Durham) 
 Laurie Scott, MPP (Haliburton/Kawartha Lakes/Brock) 
 David Piccini, MPP (Northumberland/Peterborough South) 
 Jennifer French, MPP (Oshawa) 
 Peter Bethlenfalvy, MPP (Pickering/Uxbridge)
 Lorne Coe, MPP (Whitby) 
 All Ontario Municipalities  
 Rural Ontario Municipal Association (ROMA) 
 Ontario Good Roads Association (OGRA) 
 Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) 
 S. Siopis, Commissioner of Works 



Township of Billings
Accounts for Payment from Dec 3 to Dec 17, 2021

 Cheque No. Cheque Date  Payee  Amount

Dec 8 2021 Payroll 16,105.36 

7052 Dec 15 2021 Minister of Finance - MTO 6,185.50 

7053 Dec 16 2021 A.J. Stone Co. Ltd. 18,978.55 

7054 Dec 16 2021 ACE Accent 904.00 

7055 Allen's Auto Parts 692.32 

7056 Becks, Floyd 56.44 

7057 Bridal Variety 121.00 

7058 CedarSigns 4,559.36 

7059 Chambers, Jim 109.78 

7060 Cheryl McCulligh 26.50 

7061 Connell, Martin 202.72 

7062 CSD Grand Nord 769.17 

7063 Cyr, Chris 26.50 

7064 Federation of Canadian Municipalities 297.27 

7065 Henderson Electric 183.29 

7066 J. Applessed 249.56 

7067 Laurentian Business Products 99.23 

7068 Library Services Centre 45.98 

7069 Manmitoulin Centennial Manor 9,844.72 

7070 Manitoulin District Mutual Aid 200.00 

7071 Manitoulin Tree Service 4,181.00 

7072 McDougall Energy 3,840.24 

7073 Minister of Finance - Policing 17,747.00 

7074 Municipality of Gordon & Barrie Island 5,011.36 

7075 Northern Air 3,107.00 

7076 Ontario Good Roads 648.81 

7077 Rainbow District School Brd 73,481.65 

7078 The Manitoulin Expositor 256.16 

7079 Tiana Mills 26.50 

7080 Town of Gore Bay 4,000.00 

7081 Wally's Septic Service 3,898.50 

7082 William Hore 80.72 

7083 Zachary Dallaire 123.42 

DS Dec 10 2021 GFL Environmental 6,272.32 

DS Dec 3 2021 Canada Life 1,353.48 

DS Dec 13 2021 CRA - Payroll Remittance 10,098.88 

DS Dec 13 2021 BMO Master Card 972.16 

DS Dec 10 2021 OCWA 9,486.58 

TOTAL 204,243.03 

PREAUTHORISED PAYMENTS


